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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EREHKEE

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of the directors (the
"Directors”) of Greater China Financial Holdings Limited (the
“Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”), | would
like to present the financial results of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023 (“FY2023").

For the year of 2023, the economy in the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC") has experienced unprecedented turmoil
and volatility, presenting us with a unique set of obstacles
and uncertainties. The global economic landscape has been
significantly impacted by a variety of factors, including
geopolitical tensions, regulatory changes and rapid technological
advancements.

The operating environment is challenging. The loan financing
operations in the PRC continue to face significant challenges,
signaling a difficult post-COVID economy. Despite initial
recovery efforts, the sector has struggled to regain stability. One
major obstacle is the lingering impact of the pandemic on the
borrowers’ financial position and creditworthiness resulting in
reduced revenue and hence limited repayment capabilities. As
a result, the operations are confronted with a surge in default
in repayments and a much higher credit risks. As such, the
Company has to make the difficult decision to suspend the
extension of new loans and financial referral services to new
borrowers, leading to a significant drop in the revenue and
operations.

The Board is closely monitoring the situation and taking necessary
measures to mitigate the impact of these losses. Despite the
effort of the management, it is expected that such difficult period
may continue but the Company is committed to taking proactive
approaches to improve its financial position and diversify its
existing operations with the aim to improve the financial position
of the Group as a whole.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to thank the shareholders
of the Company (the “Shareholders”), business partners and
clients for their continued support and | would also like to
express my gratitude to our management team and staff for their
contribution to the Group.

Liu Kequan
Chairman
Hong Kong
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECT

The Group is principally engaged in investment holding,
industrial property development, general trading of consumable
goods and loan financing operations including the provision of
loan financing, financial guarantee services, loan referral and
consultancy services. The segment revenue and results of the
Group for FY2023 are stated in the table below:

BERBNWmR DM
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For the year ended
31 December

BE+-A=+—HLFE

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Segment Revenue from: REUATEEBEZD WA :
Industrial property development TERMEER 16,580 17,308
General trading —RE 5 - -
Loan financing EXEE 27,939 174,865
Others HAh 4,891 9,778
49,410 201,951
Segment (loss) profit from: REUTEREBEZDHE (ER)EF
Industrial property development TERAYMFERRE (3.758) 1,254
General trading —RE 5 (1,904) (22,260)
Loan financing EXmE (411,003) (137,169)
Others Hity (2,083) (2,887)
(418,748) (161,062)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

MEEJEH—J- &73 *ﬁ'

Industrial Property Development

Revenue from the segment mainly represents warehouse storage
income generated from warehouse operation. The Group's
warehouse is located in Taicang, Jiangsu Province, the PRC. It is
divided into six units and the total area is approximately 48,600
square meters. Revenue from the warehouse operation recorded
a decrease of HK$728,000 from approximately HK$17,308,000
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (“FY2022") to
approximately HK$16,580,000 for FY2023, resulting in a
segment loss of approximately HK$3,758,000 for FY2023
(FY2022: segment profit of approximately HK$1,254,000). The
decrease in revenue and the segment loss for FY2023 was mainly
a result of the drop in exchange rate between Renminbi and
Hong Kong dollars and the deferred payment of the property
tax paid for FY2022. The average occupancy rate of the Group's
warehouse during FY2023 was 100% and was primarily used
as storage of small electric and non-electric power tools. The
Group's warehouse operation maintained high percentage of
occupancy rate during FY2023 due to the advantageous location
of its warehouse and long term relationship with the customers.
The Group's management anticipates that the Group's warehouse
occupancy can maintain at a rate of over 95% for the year of
2024.

In the year ahead, the management will actively look into
possible strategy to further increase the income generated from
this segment including offering of value-added service such as
repackaging of material, etc. to the existing customers.

General Trading

The Group confronted difficulties in the operation of liquor
trading and no sales revenue was generated during FY2023. The
segment recorded a loss of approximately HK$1,904,000 for
FY2023 (FY2022: approximately HK$22,260,000) due to the legal
and professional fee incurred for recovery of the outstanding
deposit.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Loan Financing

The Group’s loan financing services comprise the provision
of loan financing, financial guarantees, loan referral and
consultancy services in Hong Kong, Beijing and Ningbo. Revenue
from the segment for FY2023 was approximately HK$27,939,000
(FY2022: approximately HK$174,865,000), resulted in a segment
loss of approximately HK$411,003,000 (FY2022: approximately
HK$137,169,000). The segment loss was mainly the result of
impairment loss on loans and interest receivables recognized
during FY2023.

In 2023, China mitigated the impact of the epidemic and began
to restore economic order. Despite signs of economic recovery
in China over the past year, the overall economy still faced a
number of risks and challenges, including increased employment
pressures, insufficient effective demand, heightened real estate
credit risks, and mounting difficulties in local government
debt management. These issues have significantly affected the
Group's loan financing operations in FY2023 and hence revenue
generated from the loan financing operations in Beijing and
Ningbo decreased dramatically.

Loan Financing Business in Beijing

During the past year, in order to improve the Group’s financial
position on a going concern basis, one of the key actions of the
Group was to consider the potential disposal of the financial
guarantee business in Beijing, which currently operates at a net
liabilities position.

The decision to explore this option stemmed from a
comprehensive assessment of the Group’s overall business
portfolio and the need to allocate resources in a manner that
maximizes profitability and sustainability. This strategic move
will allow the Group to streamline its operations, focus on
its core strengths, and allocate resources to areas that offer
stronger growth prospects. The Group is committed to diligently
evaluating options for the disposal of the financial guarantees
business in Beijing or any other possible options to improve its
performance. Updates on the progress of this potential disposal
will be provided as it materializes.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

MEEJEH—J- &73 *ﬁ'

Loan Financing Business in Ningbo

Due to the continual losses in loan financing business in Ningbo
and the challenging business environment in the PRC, the
Group conducted careful evaluation and consideration, and
made strategic adjustments to its operation and staff structure
in Ningbo for FY2023. The management decided to slow down
the loan referral business in order to minimize further losses
stemming from the default rate. By temporarily suspending
the loan referral business, the Group aims to mitigate the risks
associated with defaults and focus on implementing necessary
measures to address the underlying issues. This temporary
suspension will allow the Group to reassess its strategies, refine
its risk management framework, and explore alternative business
models that align with the changing market dynamics. The
Group's priority remains the long-term viability and stability of its
operations, and the Group is committed to taking proactive steps
to minimize further loss and ensure a solid foundation for future
growth.

As part of the Group's comprehensive restructuring plan for the
loan referral business, the Group is actively seeking potential
investors to inject capital and support its operations. Recognizing
the need for financial stability and strategic partnerships, the
Group is exploring opportunities to engage with investors who
share the same vision and can contribute to the growth and
profitability of the business. These potential investors will bring
not only financial resources but also industry expertise and
networks that can enhance the Group’s competitive position in
the market. The Group is committed to conducting thorough due
diligence and identifying suitable investors who align with the
Group's values and long-term objectives.

Loan Financing Business in Hong Kong

The Group's loan financing business in Hong Kong mainly
involves the provision of mortgage loans. The property mortgage
interest rate in Hong Kong has remained at a high level in
the past year, which has suppressed consumer demand and
investment motivation, and caused a downward trend in the
Hong Kong property market. There was no new loan drawdown
during FY2023, and no outstanding loan as at 31 December
2023. The Group has decided not to continue the loan financing
business in Hong Kong due to the unfavorable economic
outlook.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Others

Others segment represents the operation of provision of asset
management services, provision of insurance brokerage and
agency services in Hong Kong and advertising services in the
PRC. In order to simplify the Group's structure and divest
loss-making businesses, the Group disposed of the securities
brokerage business in December 2023. Revenue from the
segment for FY2023 was approximately HK$4,891,000
(FY2022: approximately HK$9,778,000), resulted in a segment
loss of approximately HK$2,083,000 (FY2022: approximately
HK$2,887,000). In the future, the Group will continue to
implement strict cost control measures to increase the return on
assets of the others segment.

SIGNIFICANT IMPAIRMENT

During FY2023, an impairment loss, net of reversal of
approximately HK$406,222,000 (FY 2022: approximately
HK$239,236,000) was resulted in the loan financing operations

BERBNWmR DM

Hit

HUoHEREAKEREEETERS
RERBELCEREBIRBARNRFHEEE
ERB - AU AEEEE R RBE B
ZIKEIEA_?__EJr BHEEBEFELE
% o —ZHFCREBZOBHOBALNE
4,891 ooo;%ﬁ(—f— — BF 1 499,778,000
BIT)  BEZ 5 P& 18 492,083,000 7T (=
T B #92,887,000/ 7T) o KK A&
B % 4 4B T e RS WO R AN I FE B - 3 DN EL A
DEEEERIR -

BEARE
RoT-=@F AEEOERREEHEE

B B 18 (F0BR # [B]) 49406,222,000%8 7T (=
T = —BF 4 1 £9239,236,000/8 7T ) c AP R4

of the Group. The breakdown of the impairment loss recognized — ERERHBEEIEEME 0T
during the year as indicated is set out below:
For the year ended
31 December
BE+-—A=+—HLEE
2023 2022
—EC-=F —EF-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Impairment loss (reversal of T3 B IEER 2R EEE
impairment loss) recognized on: (REEERE) :
— Trade and other receivables — JrE UG BR SR R B Ath i M 3R 52,188 99,771
— Loans and interest receivables - RWEFRKFE 302,743 1,449
— Other deposits - Hiniz® 4,136 20,533
— Loans to and interest receivables from - E?ﬂ?—lﬁiﬁ s e 75 % JE W
a non-controlling interest A 41,105 117,501
— Loans to and interest receivables from - ER T A& 5 REKEF S
an associate (436) (18)
— Amounts due from associates — JEYHE & R R EIR 6,486 =
406,222 239,236
AFHESBERERAT | S _=FF®
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWR D

The impairment loss is mainly due to the impairment on the loans
and other receivables, trade and other receivables and the loans
to and interest receivables from a non-controlling interest, which
are all related to the loan financing segment.

For the impairment in the loan financing segment, the
management of the Company is responsible for developing
and maintaining the processes for measuring expected credit
loss under the impairment requirements of HKFRS 9. Valuation
on all significant impairment loss have been performed by
an independent professional valuer which adopted by the
management of the Company in accordance with HKFRS 9 issued
by the HKICPA. The valuation method using the risk parameter
modelling approach that incorporates key parameters, including
probability on default (“PD"), loss given default (“LGD") and
exposure on default (“EAD").

For the loans and other receivables in the loan financing segment
in Beijing, both PD and LGD are 100% as the loans have been
overdue and no renewal or extension of the loan nor repayment
is noted and thus a significant amount of impairment is resulted.
Similarly, for the tobacco loan receivables, default payment
remains and no improvement noted even after the post-COVID
period, as a result, a range of 60% — 100% of PD and LGD are
applied, resulting to the amount of impairment noted.

The Group considers there is a significant financial difficulty
in relation to the non-controlling interest. Following the court
decision in 2022 in which the non-controlling interest had
become an enforceable person in a litigation for an amount
of approximately RMB200 million and the assets of which
were subjected to judicial auction due to a dispute amongst its
shareholders in which the Group had no involvement. As such,
a loss rate of 100% was assigned to the loan to and interest
receivables from non-controlling interest as it is unlikely to be
able to repay the amount following the enforcement by the
court.

Rl (B 5 18 3 22 e 7 B W B SR % LA WO
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2R s N EUCEL A S RORUE - BRTR A 2
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MBRR]) REHREBAYE ([E LR R A
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Valuation of impairment loss on goodwill have been performed
by an independent professional valuer which adopted by the
management of the Company in accordance with HKAS 36
Impairment of Assets issued by the HKICPA. The valuation
method of discounted cash flow was adopted for the calculation
of the value-in-use of the cash-generating unit (“"CGU") that
incorporates key parameters, including discount rate per annum,
budgeted revenue and budgeted gross margins and terminal
growth rate.

The impairment in CGU from approximately HK$110 million in
December 2022 to HK$nil in December 2023 contributed by
several factors:

A. Forecast & Terminal Value

(1) Decrease in average revenue in 2023 as the actual
performance did not meet the expectation during
the year, the Directors had adjusted targeted revenue
downwards;

(2) Earning before interest and tax margin decreased from
17% in December 2022 to 0% in December 2023. The
loss rate applied for each transaction decreased from
4.3% in December 2022 to 4.1% in December 2023;
and

(3) Decrease in present value of terminal value from
approximately HK$217 million to HK$nil.

B. Change in working capital to sales ratio

(1) Decrease in assumption of working capital to sales ratio
of 13.5% from 105% to 91.5%, therefore less cashflow
required on each sales.

C. Exchange rate adopted for conversion from RMB to
HKD

(1) Decrease in exchange rate adopted in valuation of 3%
from 1.13 to 1.10.

There have been no significant changes in the methods from
those previously adopted.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWR D

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Administrative and Other Operating Expenses

Administrative expenses include office utilities and administration,
legal and professional fee, employee expenses, depreciation
of right-of-use assets and property, plant and equipment and
amortisation. Other operating expenses mainly consist of
operating expenses of industrial property development and loan
financing. Administrative and other operating expenses amounted
to approximately HK$69,187,000 during FY2023, representing
a decrease of approximately 20.5% or HK$17,792,000 as
compared to FY2022, mainly due to the streamlining of the
Group's loan financing operations in the PRC and the Group’s
persistent efforts in optimizing and reforming business processes
in order to reduce costs and improve operational efficiency. The
Company's management will consistently implement stringent
cost control measures to maintain administrative and other
operating expenses at a reasonable level.

Finance Costs

The finance costs of the Group for FY2023 mainly consisted
of effective interest expenses on convertible bonds issued
for the acquisition of Xin Yunlian Investment Limited and its
subsidiaries and associates in 2020, and interests on bank loans
and others loans. Finance costs increased from approximately
HK$35,816,000 for FY2022 to approximately HK$37,234,000
for FY2023, representing an increase of approximately 4.0% or
HK$1,418,000, which was caused by the additional interests on
loan borrowings for FY2023.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group continued to adopt the policy of prudence in
managing its working capital. During FY2023, the operations of
the Group were primarily financed by internally generated cash
flow from operating activities and external financing. As at 31
December 2023, the shareholder’s deficit attributable to owners
of the Company amounted to approximately HK$634,624,000
(31 December 2022: approximately HK$166,349,000), and
net current liabilities of the Group amounted to approximately
HK$550,952,000 (31 December 2022: approximately
HK$86,815,000). As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s cash and
cash equivalents amounted to approximately HK$31,985,000 (31
December 2022: approximately HK$26,280,000), which were
principally denominated in Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi.
Current ratio as at 31 December 2023 was 0.21 (31 December
2022: 0.86).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As at 31 December 2023, the Group's total borrowings
amounted to approximately HK$287,702,000 (31 December
2022: approximately HK$279,085,000) of which approximately
HK$123,763,000 is repayable within 1 year, approximately
HK$131,150,000 is repayable between 1 to 2 years,
approximately HK$32,789,000 is repayable over 5 years. As at 31
December 2023, the Group's borrowings denominated in Hong
Kong dollars and Renminbi were approximately HK$34,400,000
and HK$253,302,000, respectively, and bear fixed interest rates
from 3.65% to 12.00%. The gearing ratio of the Group as at
31 December 2023 and 2022 (defined as total borrowings over
the Group's total equity) are not applicable due to the capital
deficiency of the Group.

There was no capital commitment in respect of the acquisition
and construction of property, plant and equipment as at 31
December 2023 (31 December 2022: nil).

The Group does not anticipate any material foreign exchange
exposure since its cash, borrowings, revenue and expenses are
mainly in Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi. Therefore, the Group
did not use any financial instruments for hedging purposes
during FY2023.

Fund Investments

The Group's investment portfolio is classified as financial assets
at fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI")
according to HKFRS 9. The relevant carrying amounts of
the financial assets at FVTOCI as at 31 December 2023 was
approximately HK$516,000 (31 December 2022: approximately
HK$4,938,000). The Group’s investment portfolio includes listed
equity in Hong Kong.

Contingent Liabilities

The Group had no significant contingent liabilities as at 31
December 2023 (31 December 2022: nil) other than the financial
guarantees issued as disclosed below.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWR D

Guarantee Issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that oblige the issuer (i.e.
the guarantor) to make specified payments to reimburse the
beneficiary of the guarantee (the “holder”) for any losses
incurred by the holder due to the failure of a specified debtor to
make payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt
instrument. For FY2023, the Group’s total maximum amount of
financial guarantees issued was approximately RMB457,113,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$502,961,000) (31 December
2022: approximately RMB1,004,020,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$1,135,245,000)).

Capital Structure

As at 31 December 2023, the total number of issued ordinary
shares of the Company with a par value of HK$0.001 each
(the “Share(s)”) was 7,775,857,621 (31 December 2022:
7,775,857,621).

Charges on Assets

The Group's warehouse located in Taicang, the PRC with the
following carrying amount and the bank deposit had been
pledged to secure general banking facilities granted to the
Group:
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Right-of-use assets EREEE 18,774 20,007
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73,723 84,464

Save for the above, the Group did not charge other assets to
secure its borrowings as at 31 December 2023 and 31 December
2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Foreign currency exposure

As confirmed by the Directors, the Group’s present operations
are mainly carried out in the PRC and Hong Kong, and all of
the Group’s receipts and payments in relation to the operations
are denominated in Renminbi or Hong Kong dollars. The Group
does not anticipate any material foreign exchange exposure
and therefore no derivative financial instruments were used to
hedge its foreign currency risks as at 31 December 2023 and
31 December 2022. The management will continue to monitor
its foreign exchange exposure and take appropriate measures if
needed.

Significant investments, material acquisitions and disposals

Save as disclosed in this report, the Group did not hold any
significant investments and did not conduct any material
acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures
during FY2023 and FY2022.

Future plans for material investments or capital assets

As at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022, the Group
did not have immediate plans for material investments or capital
assets acquisition.

Employees and Remuneration Policies

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had 82 employees (31
December 2022: 122 employees). Remuneration is determined
by reference to their respective qualifications and experiences
and according to the prevailing industry practice. In addition to
salary payments, the Group’s staff benefits include contribution
of mandatory provident fund, a discretionary bonus program
and a share option scheme. As required by the regulations in the
PRC, the Group makes contributions to mandatory social security
funds for the benefit of the Group’s employees in the PRC,
including pension insurance, medical insurance, unemployment
insurance, personal injury insurance, maternity insurance and
housing funds.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

MEEJEH—J- &73 *ﬁ'

DIVIDEND

The Board did not recommend the payment of any final dividend
for FY2023 (FY2022: nil).

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

As at the date of this report, no significant event that may affect
the Group has occurred subsequent to 31 December 2023.

DETAILS OF AUDIT QUALIFICATION AND
RESPONSE FROM THE COMPANY

Details of the Audit Qualification

The Group reported a loss attributable to the owners of
the Company of HK$472,487,000 for FY2023. The Group's
net current liabilities and net liabilities of approximately
HK$550,952,000 and HK$651,767,000, respectively as at 31
December 2023, and the Group’s cash and cash equivalents
amounted to approximately HK$31,985,000, while the
Group recorded outstanding borrowing of approximately
HK$123,763,000 which are repayable within the next twelve
months. These conditions indicate that material uncertainties
exist that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. In this regard, the auditor of the
Company (the “Auditor”) issued a disclaimer of opinion on the
consolidated financial statement of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2023 on material uncertainties on the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern (the "“Audit Qualification”).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Actual or potential impact of the Audit Qualification on the
Group’s financial position

The Audit Qualification does not itself show any actual impact
on the Group's financial position. As set out in note 3 to the
consolidated financial statements, the consolidated financial
statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis
except for certain financial instruments that are measured at fair
values at the end of each reporting period. Should the Group
fail to achieve the intended effects resulting from the plans and
measures as mentioned in note 3 to this report, it might not be
able to operate as a going concern, and adjustments would have
to be made to write down the carrying values of the Group’s
assets to their net recoverable amounts, and to provide for any
further liabilities that may arise and to reclassify non-current
assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and current
liabilities respectively. The effects of these adjustments have not
been reflected in the consolidated financial statements.

Management’s position

In view of the Audit Qualification, the management of the
Group (including the Directors) (collectively, the “Management”)
has given consideration related to the Group’s current liquidity,
performance and available sources of financing in assessing
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Taking into
account the successful and continued implementation of various
measures such as successful negotiations with certain financial
institutions and identifying various options for financing the
Group’s working capital, and successful negotiations with a
number of financial institutions for renewal and extension of
bank borrowings and credit facilities, the Management believes
that the Group should have sufficient working capital for a
period of not less than 12 months from 31 December 2023, and
hence it was appropriate to prepare the Group’s consolidated
financial statements on a going concern basis.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWR D

There was no disagreement between the Management and
the Auditor regarding the Audit Qualification, considering that
the consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
a going concern basis, the validity of which depends on the
outcome of the measures under Management’s assumptions,
which are subject to certain uncertainties, including the Group’s
ability to generate operating cash flows and to obtain additional
sources of financing. While the Company is of the view that it
has already provided all available information and documents to
demonstrate that the Group will have sufficient working capital
for the 12 months after the year ended 31 December 2023,
the Company also acknowledges the uncertainties raised by the
Auditor specified above in that such uncertainties cannot be
satisfied with the mere provision of documents and information.

Audit Committee’s views towards the Audit Qualification

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”)
has reviewed and agreed with the Management’s position
concerning the action plan of the Group to address the Audit
Qualification disclosed above. The Audit Committee has also
discussed with the Management and the Auditor to understand
the reason for the Audit Qualification and the views of the
Board and the Auditor. The Audit Committee concurs with the
Management’s position and views with respect to the Audit
Qualification and the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern and the actions to be implemented by the Management.

Proposed plans to address the Audit Qualification

The Board is satisfied that the Group will have sufficient financial
resources to meet its financial obligations as they fall due in the
foreseeable future, after taking into consideration of points (i) to
(v) as set out in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements
contained in this report. The Management recognises that
relevant evidence is required to resolve the Auditor’s concern
on the going concern issue. As such, the Management has
been actively negotiated with potential party to dispose of the
subsidiaries engaged in the provision of financial guarantee
business in the PRC (the “FG business”). Upon successful disposal
of the FG business, the liabilities of the Group will be significantly
reduced. At the same time, the Management continued to
contact with various financial institutions to obtain credit facilities
in order to strengthen the overall financial position of the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In view of the foregoing, and assuming all of the Company’s
plans or actions can be implemented as planned, especially
disposal of the FG business, and no unforeseen circumstances or
conditions arise, subject to the satisfactory completion of review
of the Management’s assessment of the Group’s going concern,
and the Auditor being satisfied with the documents, information
and evidence to be provided by the Company going forward,
the Directors are of the view that the Group will have sufficient
working capital to meet its financial obligations as and when
they fall due in the next twelve months from the year ended
31 December 2023 and the Company is hopeful that the Audit
Qualification may be removed in connection with the audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ending 31 December 2024.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (the
“2024 AGM") is scheduled to be held on Tuesday, 18 June 2024.
For determining the entitlement of Shareholders to attend and
vote at the 2024 AGM, the register of members of the Company
will be closed from Thursday, 13 June 2024 to Tuesday, 18 June
2024, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer
of shares of the Company will be registered. In order to be
eligible to attend and vote at the 2024 AGM, all transfer forms
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
with the Company's Hong Kong branch share registrar, Tricor
Tengis Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt
Road, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on
Wednesday, 12 June 2024.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
ESERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Liu Kequan, aged 51, was appointed as a non-executive
Director on 1 June 2016. He was re-designated as an executive
Director (the "ED"), chief executive officer of the Company (the
“CEQ") and the chairman of the Board (the “Chairman”) on
30 June 2016. Mr. Liu ceased to act as the CEO on 8 June 2018
and remains as the Chairman and continue to serve as an ED.
He is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr.
Liu was previously the chief executive officer of £/ F T & &
B 15 B R A 7 (Yunnan Ziyuan Group Co., Ltd.), a conglomerate
specialising in investment, real estate development, tourism
development and bio-pharmaceutical biotechnology industry
and has extensive management experience. He graduated from
Shanghai Jiao Tong University with a major in Applied Chemistry
in July 1994. Mr. Liu also obtained an Executive Master of
Business Administration degree from Tsinghua University in July
2005.

Mr. Yang Dayong, aged 48, was appointed as an ED and CEO
on 8 June 2018. He is also a director of a subsidiary of the
Company. Mr. Yang is the founder of it R & KR t 17 g & & 1%
AR 7A] (Beijing Anjia Shihang Financing Guarantee Co., Ltd.).
He has more than 20 years of experience in the field of fintech
investment, risk management and merger and acquisition.
Mr. Yang graduated from Peking University with a degree in
Economics. He received a Master’s degree in Economics from
Tsinghua University and a Doctoral degree in Economics from
Renmin University of China.

Mr. Chen Zheng, aged 64, was appointed as an ED on 8
December 2021. He is also a director of certain subsidiaries and
associates of the Company. Mr. Chen is an engineer and senior
economist and has extensive experience in investing business
and corporate management. He is currently a non-executive
director of Global Digital Creations Holdings Limited (stock code:
8271), a company listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), and an independent non-
executive director of Jiu Rong Holdings Limited (stock code:
2358), a company listed on Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
Mr. Chen holds a Bachelor’s degree in Chemical Engineering and
a Master's degree in Business Administration.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Zhang Peidong, aged 56, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 30 June 2016. He was re-designated
as an ED on 5 July 2016 and was subsequently re-designated
as a non-executive Director on 8 December 2021. Mr. Zhang is
currently the managing director of Yongsheng (HK) International
Co., Limited which was previously owned by a Hong Kong listed
company. He has over 20 years of experience in investment,
corporate management and international trade industry. Mr.
Zhang graduated from Jilin University of Technology (now known
as Jilin University) with a major in Metallic Materials Engineering.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Kwan Kei Chor, aged 57, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 4 May 2015. He is a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Kwan
has over 10 years of experience in corporate accounting and
worked in a number of listed companies. He holds a Master’s
degree in Accounting from Curtin University of Technology (now
known as Curtin University).

Dr. Lyu Ziang, aged 51, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 5 July 2016. He is currently the deputy
technical head of R&D division of - /8B EBEBESER
7~ Al (Shanghai Kuajingtong International Trade Co., Ltd.).
Dr. Lyu has years of experience in identification and control
of trade and financial risks. He worked at managerial level of
certain technology companies. Dr. Lyu graduated from Tsinghua
University with a degree in Thermo-Dynamic Engineering and
Control in July 1994 and also received a Master’s degree in
Computer Software and Theory as well as a Doctoral degree
in Computer Technology Application from Beijing Jiaotong
University in May 2003 and July 2012 respectively.

Mr. Zhou Liangyu, aged 50, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 30 June 2016. He is currently the
managing director of JRIIBALREME FBR A A (H&H
Microelectronics Co., Ltd.), a company specialising in ODM
service and overall supply chain management service in
electronics industry. Mr. Zhou has over 20 years of experience in
investment, corporate management and technology industry. He
graduated from BRPEE FHMEFIZET (Shaanxi Province Foreign
Training College) with a major in Foreign Trade English.
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The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of
corporate governance with a view to assuring the conduct of
management of the Company as well as protecting the interests
of all Shareholders. The Company has always recognised the
importance of the transparency and accountability towards the
Shareholders. It is the belief of the Board that Shareholders can
maximise their benefits from good corporate governance.

CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES

The Company has applied the principles and complied with
the code provisions (the “Code Provision(s)”) as set out in the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code"”) contained in Part
2 of Appendix C1 of the Rules (the “Listing Rules”) Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange as amended from
time to time.

THE BOARD
Corporate Culture

The Board establishes and sets the tone of the Group’s
corporate culture, which is built upon the fundamental values
of integrity, honesty, good faith, trust, and commitment. These
values are embedded in the Group's vision, business strategies
and operations. The Board evaluates the Company’s business
strategies from time to time to ensure the implementation of
a strong corporate culture and to foster an environment that
promotes ethical conduct, transparency and collaboration
throughout the Group. By maintaining a strong and values-
driven corporate culture, the Company aims to establish a solid
foundation for sustainable growth and long-term value creation
for stakeholders.

During FY2023, the Board reviewed its business strategies and
considered that they align with the corporate culture and values
of the Group

The Board currently comprises three executive Directors, being
Mr. Liu Kequan (Chairman), Mr. Yang Dayong (Chief Executive
Officer) and Mr. Chen Zheng, one non-executive Director, being
Mr. Zhang Peidong, and three independent non-executive
Directors (the “INEDs"”), being Mr. Kwan Kei Chor, Dr. Lyu Ziang
and Mr. Zhou Liangyu.
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TEERRSE
Four board meetings and one general meeting were held during FR BRTNAEEFSSENL — ABREKX
the year. The individual attendance record is as follows: g ERKEMHFRERINT :
Board General
Meetings Meeting
Attended/ Attended/
Eligible to Eligible to
Directors attend attend
BHE BHE/
BERLEE SGERBUE
EEg IR=R
= SRXE RERE
Executive Directors: HITESE -
Mr. Liu Kequan (Chairman) R REE (FE) 4/4 11
Mr. Yang Dayong (Chief Executive Officer) — #5 KB & (77H4E#) 4/4 11
Mr. Chen Zheng BRAE % & 4/4 11
Non-executive Director: FFEHITESE
Mr. Zhang Peidong oM R S A 4/4 1/1
Independent non-executive Directors: HUHMTESE
Mr. Kwan Kei Chor AEREEE 4/4 11
Dr. Lyu Ziang BFHEL 4/4 1/1
Mr. Zhou Liangyu BRFRE 4/4 171

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of
the Company and oversees the Group’s businesses, strategic
decisions and performances, but the day-to-day management is
delegated to the three executive Directors, Mr. Liu Kequan, Mr.
Yang Dayong and Mr. Chen Zheng, who also assume the roles of
senior management of the Company.

The list of Directors and their roles and functions is posted on the
website of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Board has met with the requirements of Rule 3.10(1) and
3.10A of the Listing Rules, relating to the appointment of at least
three INEDs representing at least one-third of the Board.

Mr. Kwan Kei Chor, an INED, possesses appropriate professional
qualifications in accounting or related financial management
expertise states under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.
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The Company has received an annual confirmation of
independence from each of the INEDs. The Company is of
the view that all the INEDs meet the guidelines for assessing
independence in accordance with the prevailing Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules.

There is no relationship (including financial, business, family or
other material relationship) among any members of the Board
and the senior management.

Directors are given timely access to relevant information prior
to each board meeting. Directors are given the opportunity to
include matters in the agenda for regular board meetings. At the
same time, Directors are entitled to have access to board papers
and related materials to allow them to make informed decisions
on matters arising from board meetings.

Minutes of board meetings and meetings of other committees
are kept by the company secretary of the Company and are open
for inspection by Directors.

The Board has established mechanisms in place to ensure
independent views and input are available to the Board. INEDs
are encouraged to express their independent views on matter
relating to the Group and its operations, in addition to informal
communication between the Chairman and the INEDs, meetings
have been scheduled with the INEDs, in absence of other
directors, at least annually. Moreover, independent professional
advices may be sought, where necessary, at the Company's
expense which not only help the Directors to perform their
duties but also help the Board to obtain independent views. The
independence of all INEDs are reviewed, assessed and confirmed
by the nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination
Committee”) on an annual basis to ensure INEDs are still
independent. The Board has reviewed the implementation
and effectiveness of such mechanisms and considered it is still
effective.
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DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

The Company is responsible for arranging and funding suitable
training for the Directors. Individual Director is encouraged to
attend courses relating to the roles, functions and duties of a
listed company director or further enhancement of professional
development by way of attending training courses or via online
aids or reading relevant materials. The company secretary of
the Company continuously updates all Directors on the latest
development of the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory
requirements to ensure compliance and upkeep of good
corporate governance practices. During the year under review,
the current Directors, namely, Mr. Liu Kequan, Mr. Yang Dayong,
Mr. Chen Zheng, Mr. Zhang Peidong, Mr. Kwan Kei Chor, Dr.
Lyu Ziang and Mr. Zhou Liangyu had participated in appropriate
continuous professional development activities by attending
training courses or by reading materials.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

The Company has distinguished the roles of the Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer of the Company in accordance with
Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code. The Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer of the Company are Mr. Liu Kequan and Mr.
Yang Dayong, respectively.

The Board will regularly review the effectiveness of the
segregation of roles to ensure its appropriateness under the
Group’s prevailing circumstances.

The major duties of the Chairman are to provide leadership to
the Board and spearhead overall corporate development and
strategic planning whilst the Chief Executive Officer is responsible
for implementing the decisions and strategy approved by the
Board and managing day-to-day operations of the Group with
the supports of the EDs.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Each of the non-executive Directors is appointed for a term
of three years and is subject to retirement by rotation and re-
election at the annual general meeting of the Company in
accordance with the bye-laws of the Company (the “Bye-laws”).

The INEDs are persons of high caliber with academic and
professional qualifications in accounting, financial, management
and various business fields which provide the Group with a
wide range of valuable expertise. With their experience gained
from senior positions held in other organisations, they provide
strong support towards the effective discharge of the duties and
responsibilities of the Board.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Board has established an audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”) with written terms of reference in compliance with
the Listing Rules and Code Provisions of the CG Code. The duties
of the Audit Committee are to review and monitor the financial
reporting and risk management and internal control systems of
the Company. The Audit Committee currently comprises three
INEDs, namely, Mr. Kwan Kei Chor (Chairman), Dr. Lyu Ziang and
Mr. Zhou Liangyu.

During FY2023, the Audit Committee has reviewed with the
management and the Auditor the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Company and discussed the auditing,
risk management, internal control and financial reporting matters
including the review of the audited financial statements of the
Group for FY2022 and the unaudited interim financial statements
of the Group for the six months ended 30 June 2023.

In addition, the Audit Committee has reviewed the consolidated
financial statements for FY2023 and the related results
announcement and auditor’s report, and made recommendation
to the Board that the same be approved. There was no
disagreement between the Audit Committee and the Board
on the selection and appointment of the Company's external
auditors.
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Three Audit Committee meetings were convened during the year.
The individual attendance records are as follows:

TEERRE

ER BRABSRERESR RS- AIRE
B R I T

Number of
Directors attendance
= HERE
Mr. Kwan Kei Chor (Chairman) AR E (/) 3/3
Dr. Lyu Ziang BFHiELT 3/3
Mr. Zhou Liangyu ARFRE 3/3
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE HNE B

The Board has established a remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) with written terms of reference in
compliance with the Listing Rules and Code Provisions of the CG
Code. The responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee are to
advise and recommend the Board on the remuneration policy and
framework of the Company’s Directors and senior management,
review matter relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of the
Listing Rules, as well as review and determine the remuneration
of individual executive Directors and senior management with
reference to the Company’'s objectives from time to time. The
Remuneration Committee currently comprises two INEDs, namely,
Dr. Lyu Ziang (Chairman) and Mr. Kwan Kei Chor and one non-
executive Director, namely, Mr. Zhang Peidong.

During FY2023, the Remuneration Committee has reviewed
the remuneration policy and framework of the Company’s
Directors and senior management, assessed the performance of
executive Directors and determined the remuneration packages
of individual executive Directors and senior management with
reference to the Company’s objectives. No material matter was
reviewed or approved by the Remuneration Committee relating
to the share option scheme of the Company during the year
ended 31 December 2023.

One Remuneration Committee meeting was convened during the
year. The individual attendance records are as follows:
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Dr. Lyu Ziang (Chairman) ATaiELE(£E) 1/1

Mr. Kwan Kei Chor RIS & 11

Mr. Zhang Peidong SR R ST A 1/1
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ANNUAL REMUNERATION PAID TO THE
MEMBERS OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Yaras

E;/{—II_JH '_El_‘

The annual remuneration of the members of the senior ATE_=UF HBEEES D CEREEEK
management by band for FY2023 is as follows: BZFEMELT

Number of
Remuneration bands (HK$) Individual
MEEE (Bx) AE
40,000 - 1,000,000 40,000% 1,000,000 1
1,000,001 - 2,500,000 1,000,00122,500,000 1
2,500,001 — 4,000,000 2,500,00124,000,000 1

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Board has established a Nomination Committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with the Listing Rules and
Code Provisions of the CG Code. The duties of the Nomination
Committee are (a) to review the structure, size and composition
(including skills, knowledge, experience and diversity) of the
Board and make recommendations on any proposed changes to
the Board to complement the Company's corporate strategy, with
due regard to the diversity of the Board; (b) to identify individuals
suitably qualified to become Board members and select or make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals
nominated for directorships; (c) to assess the independence of the
INEDs and to review their annual confirmation on independence;
(d) to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment
or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for
directors; and (e) before appointments are made by the Board,
to evaluate the balance of skills, knowledge and experience
on the Board, and, in the light of this evaluation to prepare a
description of the roles and capabilities required for a particular
appointment. The Nomination Committee currently comprises
one executive Director, namely, Mr. Liu Kequan (Chairman) and
two INEDs, namely, Dr. Lyu Ziang and Mr. Zhou Liangyu.

During FY2023, the Nomination Committee has reviewed the
size, structure, composition as well as diversity of the Board,
assessed the independence of INEDs and considered the re-
election of the Directors. The Nomination Committee has also
reviewed the board diversity policy to ensure its effectiveness and
considered the Group's measurable objectives for implementing
the board diversity policy during the year under review.
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Nomination Policy

The Nomination Committee follows its established nomination
policy in the selection of candidates for Director appointments.
The Bye-laws set out the process for the appointment of Board
members. In the event that the vacancy to be filled is a casual
vacancy, or an additional Director is to be appointed, the Board
will make the appointment of the Director in accordance with
the Bye-laws. In the event that the vacancy has arisen as a result
of normal retirement or rotation, the Board shall present the
candidates to the Shareholders for election in accordance with
the Bye-laws. The Board shall avail sufficient information to
enable the Shareholders to make an informed choice. When a
vacancy arises on the Board (through resignation, rotation etc) or
in the event that an additional Director is to be appointed, the
Nomination Committee shall consider the Board’s needs in terms
of skills, competencies and other diversity considerations with
due regard to any on-going major projects and develop a profile
of the required candidate. The Nomination Committee shall invite
Board members to submit to it profiles of interested potential
Board members. The Nomination Committee shall consider the
profiles received and select candidates whom it shall interview
to assess suitability for the position. In selecting the potential
candidates, the Nomination Committee shall consider, in addition
to the requirements in the Bye-laws, the mandatory regulatory
requirements. The candidate is required to expressly disclose the
nature and extent of other activities or appointments which may
give rise to conflict of interests, and hence his/her independence.
The Nomination Committee shall make its recommendation on
the candidate to the Board, and ultimately to the Shareholders if
required.

The Company values, promotes, and observes the Board diversity
policy in the composition of its Board of Directors. The Company
implements the policy as a part of the recruitment and selection
process in appointment of a member of the Board. The Company
is initiating the use of a matrix to facilitate a review of the skills,
competencies, experience and other attributes of the Board
members to establish a baseline. Selection of a candidate is
generally made based on a range of diversity objectives against
the baseline in the Board diversity policy. Particular regard will
be paid to the benefits of balance of skills, knowledge and
experience, and perspective differentiations introduced to
the Board from the candidates, including varied educational
background, and extensive expertise, knowledge and experience
in technology, investment, trade and financial risks identification
and control, international trade, corporate management to
professional qualification in accounting and other professional
fields.
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One Nomination Committee meeting was convened during the
year. The individual attendance records are as follows:

FA BER - RIELRZEG®&H-
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Number of
Directors attendance
= R E
Mr. Liu Kequan (Chairman) BlmRESE (F/E) 171
Dr. Lyu Ziang BFHiELT 1/1
Mr. Zhou Liangyu ARFRE 11

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board as a whole performs the corporate governance duties
set out in Code Provision A.2.1 which include:

(i) developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and
practice on corporate governance;

(i) reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

(iii) reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

(iv) developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct
and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and

(v) reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

During FY2023, the company secretary of the Company is Ms.
Chan Siu Mun who had taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the “Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers” (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as the Company’s
code of conduct regarding securities transactions by the Directors.
Having made specific enquiry, all Directors have confirmed that
they have complied with the required standards as set out in the
Model Code throughout FY2023.
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RISK. MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal
control systems to safeguard the Shareholders’ interests and
the Company’s assets and reviewing their effectiveness at
least annually. Review of the Group’s internal controls include
major financial, operational and compliance controls, as well
as risk management functions. The risk management and
internal control system are designed to manage, not eliminate,
the risk of failure to achieve business objective, and can only
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

The key elements of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group are to ensure their effectiveness, including
to provide a clear policies and procedure, as well as a reporting
mechanism to facilitate the Group to manage its risks across
business operations.

The Group's risk management policy includes the following
elements:

e Identify of significant risks in the Group’s operation
environment and evaluate the impacts of thereof;

e Develop necessary measures to manage those risks; and
e Monitor and review the effectiveness of such measures.

Risks that affect the achievement of the Group's objectives are
identified, evaluated and prioritized by department managers.
Management will assess the nature and impact of those risks, risk
register are then established. The Audit Committee is responsible
to manage the risk management process. Risks which cannot be
accepted by the Group are transferred, eliminated or controlled
through risk mitigation measures. Each risk mitigation measure
has a risk owner who is a department manager or designated
person who will be assigned to ensure accountability. Risks
owners are also responsible for monitoring the status of the risk
mitigation measures for risks under their areas of responsibility.

In light of the size of the Group and cost effectiveness
consideration, the Group has engaged an independent
professional advisor to assist the Board and the Audit Committee
in ongoing monitoring of internal control systems of the
Group, assessing the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems and in performing the internal audit
functions for the Group. The review covers major activities
of the Group in rotation basis and also the risk management
functions. Deficiencies (if any) are identified and improvement
recommendations as well as remedial actions are proposed.
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The Audit Committee and the Board receives the risk
management report and internal control report by the
independent professional advisor annually. The Board, through
the Audit Committee, had performed annual review on the
effectiveness of the Group's risk management and internal
control systems, covering all material controls including financial,
operational and compliance controls, and considers them to
effective and adequate for FY2023.

Regarding the procedure and internal controls for the handling
and dissemination of inside information, the Group is aware of
its obligations under the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the
"SFO") and the Listing Rules. The handling and dissemination of
inside information are regulated to ensure the information is kept
strictly confidential before disclosure is appropriately approved.
Only personnel at appropriate level can get reach of inside
information. The Group will immediately disclose the information
to the public if it believes that the confidentiality may have been
breached.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

HLM CPA Limited ("HLM") resigned as Auditor and the Company
has appointed Confucius International CPA Limited (“Confucius”)
as the Auditor, both with effect from 16 October 2023.

For FY2023, the fees in respect of the audit and non-audit
services provided to the Group amounted to HK$1,400,000 and
HK$350,000 respectively. The non-audit services mainly consist
of other reporting services in relation to interim report for the six
months ended 30 June 2023.
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FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors acknowledged their responsibilities for the
preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the
statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards.

The statement by the Company’s Auditor about their reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements for FY2023 is set out
in the “Independent Auditor's Report” of this report.

AUDIT QUALIFICATION AND RESPONSE FROM
THE COMPANY

Details of the Audit Qualification and response from the
Company are set out in section “Management Discussion and
Analysis” on pages 16 to 19 and note 3 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board recognizes that an increasing diversity at the Board
level is inductive to the attainment of the Company’s strategic
objectives and the Company’s sustainable development. All
Directors share their competence to bring sustainable growth to
the Company. The Board had adopted a board diversity policy
(the "Board Diversity Policy”). Under the Board Diversity Policy,
selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
areas, including but not limited to age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of service. In identifying suitable candidates for
appointments to the Board, the Nomination Committee will
take into consideration the Company’s business models and
specific needs. Selection of candidates will be based on a range
of diversity criteria and perspectives. The Nomination Committee
will consider the balance of skills, experience, independence and
knowledge of the Board and the diversity representation of the
Board, how the Board works together as a unit, and other factors
relevant to its effectiveness.

There is currently all male Directors on the Board. The Company
will continue to identify female candidates to join the Board
in accordance with the above selection criteria and through
various channels, including the promotion of existing talent as
successors to the Board. In order to achieve gender diversity on
the Board, the Board will appoint at least one female Director no
later than 31 December 2024 and targets to maintain its female
membership at no less than 10% for the next three years.
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For FY2023, the Group's workforce generally follows a
diversity philosophy that includes gender diversity. The
gender composition of the Group's workforce is set out in the
Employment and Labour Practices section of the Environmental,
Social and Governance Report to be published by the Company
in accordance with the Listing Rules. As at the date of this
report, over 20% of the Group's employees (including senior
management) are female. The Company plans to maintain the
same level of female representation over the next two years
or increase female representation where appropriate. With the
objective of further optimising the gender diversity in mind, the
Group will continue to take gender diversity into account in its
ongoing recruitment process, in particular when recruiting staff
at mid to senior level, so that there will be a pipeline of female
senior management and potential successors to the Board in due
time to ensure gender diversity of the Board and the workforce.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Procedures for convening a special general meeting

Shareholders are given the opportunity to participate and vote in
Shareholder’s meetings. According to the Bye-laws, any one or
more Shareholders holding at the date of the deposit of a written
requisition in aggregate not less than one-tenth of such of the
paid up capital of the Company as at the date of the deposit
have the right to require a special general meeting to be called
by the Board. Such requisition must state the objects of the
meeting and must be signed by the requisitionists and deposited
at Company’s head office in Hong Kong.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at shareholders’
meeting

Pursuant to the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, either any
number of the registered Shareholders holding not less than one-
twentieth of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the
voting right at general meetings of the Company, or not less than
100 of such registered Shareholders, can request the Company
in writing to (a) give to Shareholders entitled to receive notice of
the next annual general meeting notice of any resolution which
may properly be moved and is intended to be moved at that
meeting; and (b) circulate to Shareholders entitled to have notice
of any general meeting any statement of not more than 1,000
words with respect to the matter referred to in any proposed
resolution or the business to be dealt with at that meeting. The
requisition signed by all the requisitionists must be deposited
at the registered office of the Company with a sum reasonably
sufficient to meet the Company’s relevant expenses and not
less than 6 weeks before the meeting in case of a requisition
requiring notice of a resolution or not less than one week before
the meeting in the case of any other requisition.
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Pursuant to the Bye-laws, no person, other than a retiring
Director, shall, unless recommended by the Directors for election,
be eligible for election to the office of Director at any general
meeting, unless notice in writing by some Shareholders (not
being the person to be proposed) entitled to attend and vote
at the meeting for which such notice is given of his intention
to propose that person for election as a Director and notice in
writing by that person of his willingness to be elected shall have
been given to the Company provided that the minimum length of
the period, during which such notice(s) are given, shall be at least
seven days and that the period for lodgment of such notice(s)
shall commence no earlier than the day after the dispatch of the
notice of the general meeting appointed for such election and
end no later than seven days prior to the date of such general
meeting. The written notice must state that person'’s biographical
details as required by Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules.

Procedures for directing shareholders’ enquiries

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their
shareholdings to the Company’s branch share registrar and
transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis Limited, at 17/F, Far
East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong or Tel: (852)
2980 1333.

Other Shareholders’ enquiries should be directed in writing to the
company secretary of the Company at 28/F,, Lee Garden Two, 28
Yun Ping Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong.

Shareholders may also make enquiries with Board at the general
meetings of the Company.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company has established a Shareholders’ communication
policy and reviews it on a regular basis to ensure its effectiveness.
The Board recognises the importance of good communication
with Shareholders. Information in relation to the Group is
disseminated to Shareholders in a timely manner through a
number of formal channels, which include interim and annual
reports, announcements and circulars. The Company’s published
documents together with the latest corporate information and
news are also made available on the website of the Company.
The Company’s annual general meeting provides a good
opportunity for the Directors to meet and communicate with
Shareholders. All Directors make their best efforts to attend the
Annual General Meeting in order to answer questions from the
Company’s Shareholders.
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Shareholders are provided with contact details of the Company,
such as telephone number, fax number and postal address,
which could be found on Company’s website, in order to enable
them to make any query that they may have with respect to
the Company. They can also send their enquiries to the Board
through these means.

The Board reviews the effectiveness of the above channels of
communication between the Company and its Shareholders on
an annual basis. Based on the review undertaken, the Board
is satisfied with the implementation and effectiveness of the
Company'’s activities in communicating with Shareholders and
investors during the FY2023.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENT

During FY2023, there had not been any changes in the
Company’s constitutional documents. The Company's Bye-laws
are available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board does not have a policy to pay any fixed dividend or
a pre-determined future dividend distribution policy. The Board
has absolute discretion to recommend any dividend declaration.
Dividend will depend on the Group’s financial conditions,
results of operations, cash availability, statutory and regulatory
restrictions in relation thereto, future prospects, and any other
factors that the directors may consider relevant. In any event, the
Company will not be in a position to pay or declare dividends
until such time as it has profits available for that purpose as
determined in accordance with the applicable law.
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The Directors present the annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements for FY2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The Company acts as an investment holding company and
provide corporate management services to its subsidiaries. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 42 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Detailed review and the future development of the Group's
business are set out in the Chairman’s Statement and the
Management Discussion and Analysis sections of this report.
Those sections form part of this “Directors’ Report”.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for FY2023 are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on pages 71 and 72.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board resolved not to recommend the payment of a final
dividend for FY2023 (2022: nil).

There is no arrangement that any Shareholder has waived or
agreed to waive any dividend.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 244 of
this report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group during the year are set out in note 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company during the year are
set out in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DEBENTURES

The Group did not issue any debenture during FY2023.

RESERVES

Movements in reserves of the Group and the Company during
the year are set out in note 45 to the consolidated financial
statements.

As at 31 December 2023, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution to the Shareholders amounted to HK$nil (2022: nil).

PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF THE
LISTED SECURITIES

During the year, there were no purchase, sale or redemption of
the Company'’s listed securities by the Company or any of its
subsidiaries.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s largest customer
and the five largest customers accounted for approximately
11.07% and 31.01% of the Group’s total revenue for the
year respectively. The aggregate purchases attributable to the
Group’s largest supplier and the five largest suppliers accounted
for approximately 59.22% and 97.58% of the Group's total
purchases for the year respectively.

None of the Directors, their associates, or any Shareholder (which
to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the
Company’s share capital) has any interest in any of the Group’s
five largest suppliers or customers.

RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTION

Details of the related party transactions of the Group for FY2023
are disclosed in note 41 to the consolidated financial statements.

The related party transactions as set out in note 41 to the
consolidated financial statements did not constitute connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Company
has complied with the disclosure requirements prescribed in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules with respect to the connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions entered into
by the Group during FY2023.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report
were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Liu Kequan (Chairman)
Mr. Yang Dayong (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Chen Zheng

Non-executive Director:
Mr. Zhang Peidong
Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Kwan Kei Chor
Dr. Lyu Ziang
Mr. Zhou Liangyu

Pursuant to bye-law 91 of the Bye-laws, any Director appointed
by the Board under that Bye-laws shall hold office only until the
next following annual general meeting and shall then be eligible
for re-election.

Pursuant to bye-law 99(B) of the Bye-laws, Mr. Yang Dayong (“Mr.
Yang”), Mr. Kwan Kei Chor (“Mr. Kwan") and Mr. Zhou Liangyu
("Mr. Zhou") will retire from office as Directors at the 2024 AGM
and Mr. Kwan and Mr. Zhou, being eligible, will offer themselves
for re-election. Mr. Yang will not offer himself for re-election due
to his other business commitments.

The Company confirms that it has received an annual
confirmation from each of the INEDs regarding his independence
and the Company still considers all the existing INEDs to be
independent with reference to the factors set out in Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Directors proposed for re-election at the 2024 AGM has
a service contract which is not determinable by the Company
within one year without payment of compensation (other than
statutory compensation).
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DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2023, the interests of the Directors and
chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company or any associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which (a) were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
the interests and short positions which they are taken or deemed
to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) were recorded
in the register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO;
or (c) were otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:

Long positions in shares and underlying shares of the
Company
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Total number

Approximate

Number of Number of  of shares and percentage
issued shares underlying underlying of the issued
Director Nature of Interests held shares held shares voting shares
HE#T
BREHE
e 81T FiistaE ki KRB ROBL
B BEtE RO#E RO#E BB B
Liu Kequan (“Mr. Liu") Corporate and personal interests 1,552,750,000 - 1,552,750,000 19.97%
(Note 1)
By ([2%4E]) EE REAER (PF&ET)
Chen Zheng (“Mr. Chen”)  Corporate interest 800,000,000 200,000,000  1,000,000,000 12.86%
(Note 2) (Note 2)
BRAE (TRR5E4]) EEER (BzE2) (PaE2)
Yang Dayong (“Mr. Yang”)  Corporate and 614,826,000 - 614,826,000 91%
family interests (Note 3)
BRE(HEE]) EB R R R (P5E3)
Lyu Ziang ("Dr. Lyu") Personal interests 6,000,000 7,700,000 13,700,000 0.18%
(Note 4) (Note 4)
afa([aEL]) (N $23 (Prat4) (Pi5E4)
RPESHERERAA | —T_=FFK



42

DIRECTORS' REPORT
EEERE

Notes:

1.

The interests include (i) 1,447,750,000 Shares held by Eastern
Spring Global Limited and (i) 105,000,000 Shares held by Mr. Liu.
Mr. Liu is a director and the beneficial owner of the entire issued
share capital of Eastern Spring Global Limited.

The interests include (i) 800,000,000 Shares and (ii) 200,000,000
underlying Shares in respect of the convertible notes in the principal
amount of HK$200 million issued by the Company with an initial
conversion price at HK$1 per Share that were held by Skill Rich
Limited. Mr. Chen is a director and the beneficial owner of the
entire issued share capital of Skill Rich Limited.

The interests include (i) 612,810,000 Shares held by Eternally Sunny
Limited and (i) 2,016,000 Shares held by Ms. Liang Miaoxin, being
the spouse of Mr. Yang. Mr. Yang is a director and the beneficial
owner of the entire issued share capital of Eternally Sunny Limited.

The interests include (i) 6,000,000 Shares and (ii) 7,700,000
underlying Shares in respect of the share options granted with
exercise price at HK$0.2 per share.

Long positions in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company'’s associated corporations

i &

1.

ZERZERENRZRRIKBRARAFAED
1,447,750,000f B 9 R (iNBI L A E B
105,000,000 f% 19 - BI5E £ AR RIRERBR A
ANEERE2MBEBRITRANERIEEB A -

% &% B FE() 800,000,0008% A% 1 K.(ii)H
DHRERRABEARABRITHNAESES
200,000,000/ T ) ia 2 E AE 1B TTH Al
BT Z 4% B 3% K #9200,000,0000% 48 B A% 17 © BR
EERBNBBRATNEEREZHEBEITRA
MEZSEAAC

ZEHTBEREOEEBERAAFTAEN
612,810,000/ %10 M(NG L EZ BB R 5
T H 2,016,000 KD 15 ERERE
RARMNEZEREPERITRANEREE A -
% 55 K %5 B HE() 6,000,0000% A% 17 ()% E 2

BB #E PT#7,700,0000% B BARR 7 - TR B AT
f%0.2/8 7T

REQXFAEBEIEROREBRRO 2HFR

Approximate

percentage
Number of to issued
shares/amount voting shares/
of registered registered
Director Name of associated corporation Nature of interest  Class capital capital
HERT
BREERS
RGHE,/ /EMERZ
B REEE AR EatE 55l AMERTHE I ER
Mr. Liu Intraday Financial Information Service ~ Corporate interests ~ Ordinary 55 shares 55%
Limited (Note 5)
s EXEREERBARAT AEfER (Ma5) EER 558K
aBCD Enterprise Limited Corporate interests ~ Ordinary 3 shares 100%
(Note 5)
EERER (MaE5) TER 3R
Dingtai Runhe Investment Consulting ~ Corporate interests Registered capital RMB31,000,000 100%

(Shanghai) Co., Ltd. (Note 5)
SEENREZH(LB)ARRT  EE#ER (M5S5)

EAE-EN
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Note:

5. 65.80% of the issued share capital of Long Tu Limited (“Long Tu")
is owned by Mr. Liu. Long Tu is the legal and beneficial owner of 55
shares of Intraday Financial Information Service Limited (“Intraday”),
which is 55% of its issued share capital, whilst the remaining 45
shares, which represents 45% of the issued share capital of Intraday,
is owned by the Company. Intraday is the legal and beneficial owner
of 3 shares of aBCD Enterprise Limited (“aBCD"), which is 100%
of its issued share capital. aBCD is the holder of RMB31,000,000
of the registered capital of Dingtai Runhe Investment Consulting
(Shanghai) Co., Ltd., which is its entire equity interest.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of the
Directors, chief executive or their associates had any interests and
short position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of
the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which (a) were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including the interests
and short positions which they were taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) were recorded in the
register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO; or (c)
were otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than the share option scheme as disclosed in note 37 to
the consolidated financial statements and the section “Directors’
and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in Shares and
Underlying Shares”, at no time during the year was the Company
or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable
the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate. The effect of such arrangements would enable the
Director involved to be the Shareholder.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS

No transactions, arrangement and contracts of significance (i)
between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and a controlling
Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries; or (ii) in which the Directors
or an entity connected with the Directors had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or
at any time during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING
BUSINESS

During FY2023 and up to the date of this report, none of the
Directors are considered to have interests in a business which
competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with
the businesses of the Group, as defined in the Listing Rules.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2023, so far as is known to the Directors and
chief executive of the Company, the persons/companies, other
than a Director or chief executive of the Company, who had
interests or short positions in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and
3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the
SFO were as follows:

Long position in shares and underlying shares of the
Company

ESENBFRBTOEDR

R-ZZE_=—MFEREEAREAH UEES
RIE BN B R & BN EE N XBER
FRALBRBFNEFTHEEED (EX
R EMAA) -

T BRI KRR

SL T I AN
I NOR B

RZB_=F+_A=+—RH BEERAER
AIEETHRABMA RARA RN RAEREA
AP BEERIEE S M B RO EXVEBE2 M 5
37 BF AR /R [R) AN ) Ko Bt S P 2 BB - Bk R
SRR AN R RIRIR E 75 M B 1R D1 5 3361R AT
E2ERMOBEEIRAENAL RA(EF
HARBEBITHRABRINIT

REQXARGREBRRO 2HR

No. of Approximate
shares or percentage to

44

underlying issued
Name Nature of interest shares held voting share
HE BT
FERHN BEREERSG
EB R EEME HER 5B CESIER
Eastern Spring Global Limited Beneficial owner 1,447,750,000 18.62%
RRIRIRER QA EnERAA
Skill Rich Limited (”Skill Rich™) Beneficial owner 1,000,000,000 12.86%
(Note 1)
NBBRRAR ([HH#E]) EmEA A (BHsE1)
Eternally Sunny Limited Beneficial owner 612,810,000 7.88%
EF5H R A A EmEA A
Ms. Liang Miaoxin Beneficial owner and family interests 614,826,000 7.91%
(Note 2)
REBLL EnlEA AR IE#ER (Kt3E2)
Chu Lam Yiu Beneficial owner and Corporate interest 691,000,000 8.89%
(Note 3)
R EmlEAAREE#R (Mt3E3)
Wardour International Limited Beneficial owner 125,184,000 1.61%

("Wardour")
Wardour International Limited
(['Wardour J)

BEamBEA A
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Notes:

1. These interests include 800,000,000 Shares and 200,000,000
underlying Shares in respect of the convertible notes in the principal
amount of HK$200 million issued by the Company with an initial
conversion price at HK$1 per Share.

2. These interests include (i) 2,016,000 Shares held by Ms. Liang
Miaoxin and (ii) 612,810,000 Shares held by Mr. Yang. Ms. Liang
Miaoxin is the spouse of Mr. Yang. By virtue of the SFO, Ms. Liang is
deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Mr. Yang.

3. These interests include (i) 565,816,000 Shares held by Ms. Chu Lam
Yiu and (ii) 125,184,000 Shares held by Wardour. Ms. Chu Lam Yiu
owned the entire issued share capital of Wardour and was therefore
deemed to have an interest in the Shares in which Wardour was
interested.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, so far as is
known to the Directors and chief executive of the Company,
no other parties (other than a Director or chief executive of the
Company) who had interests or short positions in the shares
and underlying shares of the Company which would fall to
be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under
the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under section 336 of the SFO.

ACQUISITION OF XIN YUNLIAN GROUP

References are made to the Company’s announcements dated 16
November 2019, 29 June 2020, 22 July 2020 and 31 July 2020,
and the circular dated 30 June 2020 in relation to the acquisition
(the "Acquisition”) of the entire issued share capital and the
assignment of the shareholder’s loan of Xin Yunlian Investment
Limited and its subsidiaries and associates (the “Xin Yunlian
Group”).

Pursuant to the acquisition agreement dated 16 November 2019
as amended by the supplemental agreement dated 29 June 2020
(the "Acquisition Agreement”) in relation to the Acquisition,
the consideration for the Acquisition was HK$360 million and
settled by the Company as to HK$200 million by the issue of the
convertible notes (the “Convertible Notes”) and as to HK$160
million by the issue of 800,000,000 new Shares (the “New
Shares”). The Acquisition was completed on 31 July 2020 (the
“Issue Date”).
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Convertible Notes

On the Issue Date, the Company issued the Convertible Notes in
the principal amount of HK$200 million which will mature on the
fifth anniversary of the Issue Date (the “Maturity Date”). Subject
to the fulfillment of certain profit guarantee arrangement, from
the third anniversary of the Issue Date up to the day immediately
before the fifth anniversary of the Issue Date, up to 30% of the
principal amount of each Convertible Note can be converted.
On the Maturity Date, the outstanding principal amount of each
convertible note can be converted in full. The conversion price
of the Convertible Notes shall be HK$1.0 per conversion Share,
subject to adjustment pursuant to the terms and conditions of
the Convertible Notes. Based on the initial conversion price of
HK$1.0 per conversion Share, 200 million new Shares will be
allotted and issued upon exercise of the Convertible Notes in full,
representing approximately 2.57% of the issued share capital of
the Company as at the date of this report.

The interest rate is nil for the period commencing upon the Issue
Date and expiring on the first anniversary of the Issue Date. The
interest rate is 1% per annum for the period commencing from
the first anniversary of the Issue Date and expiring on the second
anniversary of the Issue Date. The interest rate is 4% per annum
for the period commencing from the second anniversary of the
Issue Date and expiring on the third anniversary of the Issue Date.
The interest rate is 6% per annum for the period commencing
from the third anniversary of the Issue Date and expiring on the
Maturity Date. The interest accrued on the Convertible Notes will
be payable on the Maturity Date.

As at 31 December 2023, no Convertible Note was converted
during the year and no new Share was allotted and issued by the
Company pursuant thereto.

Details of the Convertible Notes are set out in note 34 to the
consolidated financial statements.

R RE

RETBHH AXRQ2ABITERAESEA
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HE R ERAMEBFBE ([EIHB])IH-F
ETaMRBLHEER BETHBRBFSE
—HARFHEEZEEETHHBHFRAEA
FHA—HHME RZJERERATBKRER
ZAREEZ30% cREIER  AIREERE R
AMBRERRMAI N2 ASE A BREE
EIHEREASRBIRRMI.0E L ATREA
B EEAIERRAGEH T ARAE - RIETH
BB EEREKRKG1.08 T REBETFED
A% 22 4% 5 18 Bid 25 K 3% 17200,000,0000% #7 i%
B HERAREBPRARFBEBEITRALY
2.57% o

BRBETHRERTHAHEAE —EBEFH
ZHE MERT-HRETHHREAE —E
BEFBEERTAREFSE —EBRF B 28R
FMER1% - BN T AL E —ERF
HEZTHBRESSE =EEF B ZHHE - F5
RGA% HRNBITHHEAFE=ZEBFAE
A 2B FHEG6% A RREEN
FEAH M BB EI B Ao

RIZE_=F+"_A=+—H FAHEEKR
IR IR - AR B IRR B UL AL 3 M B AT AR

{/\ 5

AR EBNFRHRNIGE B RERME
34

Greater China Financial Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2023



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EESHRSE

Details of movement of the Convertible Notes during FY2023 are R T - =& aJRREEMNEEFB W
as follows: T
Number
of share Balance
Balance as at Granted Exercised allotted and as at
1 January during during Conversion issued upon 31 December
Holder 2023 the year the year price conversion 2023
R-ZB=Z=%§ R@®E R-B-=F
—A—H EaKk#T t=A=t-AH
BEA iES RERE T RERTE BRE ROHE iE
Vendor of the Acquisition Agreement  HK$200,000,000 = = HK$1.0 - HK$200,000,000
WRHANE T 200,000,000/ 7T 1.087T 200,000,000/ 7T
The New Shares BB
Pursuant to the Acquisition Agreement, part of the consideration AR 4% U B& 3% - 2F 9 X {E160,000,0007% 7T #
shall be satisfied by the Company as to HK$160 million by the B A2 & JA ?;z ?é‘ 171 B ®ARO. 2/9\§7E§§?ﬁ R
issue of the New Shares at the issue price of HK$0.2 per Share, MZARGEE FRMNMER_ZT_ZTF+ A
which were issued by the Company upon completion of the =+—BWEEBETKEEIT - FRHIEE
Acquisition on 31 July 2020. The New Shares are subject to a  EifR®| B8 TAHREEEZITA PR E
lock-up for a period commencing on the Issue Date and ending —EEAFHF—HB k-
on the day immediately before the first anniversary of the Issue
Date.
Consideration Shares KRERHB

Pursuant to the consultancy agreement dated 16 November
2019 as amended by a supplemental agreement dated 29 June
2020 (the “Consultancy Agreement”), the consultant, being
an individual providing consultancy service to the Group (the
“Consultant”) agreed to provide consultancy service to the
Company in relation to the Acquisition Agreement and the
transactions contemplated thereunder. The consultancy fee shall
be HK$10 million which shall be settled by the Company by way
of issuing 50,000,000 consideration shares (the “Consideration
Shares”) at the issue price of HK$0.2 per Share which were
issued by the Company upon completion of the Acquisition on
31 July 2020.
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Profit Guarantee in respect of the Acquisition Agreement

In respect of the Acquisition Agreement, the vendor undertook
that the audited consolidated net profit of Xin Yunlian Group
for the five years ending 31 December 2024 in aggregate shall
be not less than RMB153 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$167.5 million) (the “Guaranteed Profit”). The vendor
represents that the aggregate consolidated net profit of /T %7
EBH TR AR AR (Zhejiang Xin Yunlian Digital Technology
Company Limited*) and #7)L %1 Z 8t = £ A R 2 & (Zhejiang
Xin Yunlian Cloud Technology Company Limited*) for the five
years ending 31 December 2024 is expected to be not less than
RMB300 million (equivalent to approximately HK$328.4 million).
If the actual audited consolidated net profit of Xin Yunlian Group
for the five years ending 31 December 2024 in aggregate (the
“Actual Profit”) falls short of the Guaranteed Profit, the vendor
will make up the shortfall to be determined in the manner set
out in the paragraph headed “(2) Profit guarantee” in the circular
of the Company dated 30 June 2020.

Profit Guarantee in respect of the Consultancy Agreement

In respect of the Consultancy Agreement, the Consultant
undertook that if the Actual Profit falls short of the Guaranteed
Profit, the Consultant will irrevocably assigns the Company to sell
the Consideration Shares, and the sale proceeds will be applied
to compensate the Company for the shortfall.

The Company will publish further announcements in a timely
manner to inform Shareholders of the fulfillment of the profit
guarantee and where applicable, the Company’s action upon
non-fulfillment failure of the profit guarantee.

Incentive payment

To incentivize the vendor to contribute in the development of Xin
Yunlian Group after completion of the Acquisition, the Company
agreed to issue to the vendor convertible notes to settle the
incentive payment or to pay the vendor in cash at the request
of the vendor in the event that the Actual Profit exceeds the
Guaranteed Profit, details of which are set out in the paragraph
headed “Incentive Payment” in the circular of the Company
dated 30 June 2020.

For details of the Acquisition, please refer to the Company’s
announcements dated 16 November 2019, 29 June 2020, 22 July
2020 and 31 July 2020, and the circular dated 30 June 2020.

* for identification purposes only
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 10 June 2021, the Shareholders approved the adoption of
a new share option scheme (the “2021 Share Option Scheme”)
and the termination of a share option scheme adopted in 2011
(the “2011 Share Option Scheme”) to the effect that no further
share options of the Company (the “Share Options”) shall be
offered under the 2011 Share Option Scheme but the Share
Options which had been granted during the life of the 2011
Share Option Scheme should continue to be valid and exercisable
pursuant to the terms of the 2011 Share Option Scheme.

The 2021 Share Option Scheme is designed to (i) motivate the
eligible participants to optimize their performance efficiency for
the benefit of the Group, and (ii) attract and retain or otherwise
maintain an on-going business relationship with the eligible
participants whose contributions are or will be beneficial to the
long-term growth of the Group.

The eligible participants are any full-time or part-time employees,
executives, officers or directors (including non-executive
directors and INEDs) of the Group and any suppliers, customers,
consultants, agents and advisors who, in the sole opinion of the
Board will contribute or have contributed to the Group.

The maximum number of Shares in respect of which options may
be granted under the Share Option Scheme and under any other
share option schemes of the Company must not in aggregate
exceed 10% of the total number of Shares in issue on the date of
adoption of the 2021 Share Option Scheme, being 777,585,762
Shares, representing 10% of the total number of Shares in issue
as at the date of this annual report.

The total number of Shares issued and which may fall to be
issued upon exercise of the share options and the share options
granted under any other share option scheme of the Group
(including both exercised or outstanding share options) to each
grantee in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the
issued share capital of the Company for the time being.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
2021 Share Option Scheme at any time during a period to be
determined and notified by the Board to each grantee, save that
such period shall end in any event not later than ten years from
the date of grant of the option and subject to the provisions for
early termination thereof.
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There is no minimum period required under the 2021 Share
Option Scheme for holding of the share options before it can
be exercised, unless otherwise determined by the Directors and
stated in the offer of the grant of share options to a grantee.
An option may be accepted by a participant within 30 days from
the date of the offer of grant of the option by payment from the
participant and receipt by the Company of HK$1.00 prior to or
on the last date of the said 30 days period.

The exercise price will be a price to be determined by the Board,
but must be at least the higher of (i) the closing price of the
shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotation sheet on
the date of grant; (ii) the average closing price of the shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii)
the nominal value of a Share.

The 2021 Share Option Scheme will expire on 10 June 2031. As
at the date of this annual report, the remaining life of the 2021
Share Option Scheme is approximately seven years and three
months.

As at the date of this report, the total number of Shares
available for issue under the 2011 Share Option Scheme and
2021 Share Option Scheme is 1,070,585,762, which comprises
(i) 293,000,000 Shares to be issued upon the exercise of the
outstanding share options under the 2011 Share Option Scheme;
and (ii) a maximum number of 777,585,762 share options
available for grant under the 2021 Share Option Scheme,
representing approximately 13.77% of the issued share capital
(i.e. 7,775,857,621 Shares).

Details of the 2011 Share Option Scheme and 2021 Share Option
Scheme are set out in note 37 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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Details of movements in the share options under the 2011 Share R _-_ZT-_=8F —T——FEREFEIET

Option Scheme during FY2023 were as follows: ZERENSEFFOT
Closing
Price of share Weighted
immediately average
Balance as Balance before  closing price
at Granted  Exercised  Cancelled Lapsed as at thedate of  immediate
1 January during during during during 31 December  Exercise Period Exercise grantof  before the
Category Date of grant 2023  theperiod  the period  the period  the period 2023  of Share Options Price share options exercise dates
HKS HKS HK$
RZB=Zf REREE RETR
RZBZZF +=A BRERH R LI
-A-H =t+-A BEA® mEFH
ER REAH g% HaRY  BRTR BRaE# O BRAX &5 BRENTES ke W E WnE
A BT A
Employees 30 December 2020 135,300,000 - - - - 135,300,000 Any time within 30/12/2021 to 0.200 0.200 -
291212025
B8 ZZZTEFAZTH —E--F+ZA=1+A%
“E-RETZAZTAR
el i
Consultants
]
Wang Linlin 30 December 2020 50,000,000 - - - - 50,000,000 Any time within 30/12/2021 to 0.200 0.200 -
291212025
T “ECRE+CAZTA “BC-f+-A=tRE
“ECRETZACTRA
Eilpls
Zhang Zhiwei 30 December 2020 50,000,000 - - - - 50,000,000 Any time within 30/12/2021 to 0.200 0.200 -
291212025
REE ZZCTEFAZTH —E--F+ZA=1+RZ
“E-RETZAZTAR
el i
LiJie 30 December 2020 50,000,000 - - - - 50,000,000 Any time within 30/12/2021 to 0.200 0.200 -
291212025
A ZECRESA=TH ZE-E+CA=THE
“ECRETZACTRA
Eilpls
Director
s
Dr. Lyu Ziang 30 December 2020 7,700,000 - - - - 7,700,000 Any time within 30/12/2021 to 0.200 0.200 -
291212025
BTREL ZE-ZF+-A=tA —E--F+ZfA=1+RZ
“E-RETZAZTAR
el i
Total 293,000,000 - - - - 293,000,000
ac
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As at 31 December 2023, a total of 293,000,000 share options
granted under the 2011 Share Option Scheme were outstanding.
Amongst which 150,000,000 share options were granted to
three consultants (the “Consultants”) on 30 December 2020
with 50,000,000 share options each. Such share options shall
be exercisable from 30 December 2021 to 29 December 2025
(both days inclusive) (the “Exercise Period”). The number of share
options that each Consultant can exercise each year during the
Exercise Period shall not exceed one third of the share options
granted to such Consultant, except that the maximum number of
share options that each Consultant can exercise during the last
year of the Exercise Period shall be all remaining share options
granted to such Consultant that have not been exercised. To the
best knowledge of the Company, each of the three Consultants
is an independent third party and they all have extensive
experience in the micro-finance and tobacco and logistic
industries. The grant of the share options to the Consultants is
primarily to motivate them to optimize their future performance
and efficiency to the Group following the acquisition of Xin
Yunlian Group in July 2020. The Consultants would be providing
their expertise to the Group in the area of supply-chain financing
in the PRC and the tobacco and logistic markets in the PRC.

No share options has been granted under 2021 Share Option
Scheme since its adoption. The number of options available for
grant under the 2021 Share Option Scheme as at 1 January 2023
and 31 December 2023 was 777,585,762 and 777,585,762,
respectively.

EQUITY LINKED AGREEMENT

Save for the Acquisition Agreement, the Consultancy Agreement
and the Company’s share option schemes as disclosed above, the
Company had not entered into other equity-linked agreement
during the year ended 31 December 2023.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy regarding the employees of the Group is
set up by the Board and is based on their merit, qualifications
and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are decided by the Remuneration
Committee, having regard to the Company’s operating results,
individual performance and comparable market statistics.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive
to the Directors and eligible employees, details of the share
option scheme is set out in note 37 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

Details of the Group's retirement benefit scheme are set out
in note 38 to the consolidated financial statement. As at 31
December 2023, no forfeited contributions were available to
reduce the existing level of contributions payable by the Group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the Bye-laws, every Director shall be entitled to be
indemnified by the Company out of the assets of the Company
against all costs, charges, losses, expenses and liabilities which he
may sustain or incur or about the execution and discharge of his
duties or in relation thereto. Directors’ liability insurance policies
containing permitted indemnity provisions have been taken out
and maintained in force during the financial year and as at the
date of approval of this report to provide appropriate cover for
the Directors and directors of the subsidiaries of the Group in
respect of the relevant liabilities and costs associated with legal
proceedings against them.

RPESRMERERAF
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COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During FY2023, as far as the Company is aware, there was no
material breach of or non-compliance with applicable laws and
regulations by the Group that has a significant impact on the
business and operations of the Group.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group provides a harmonious and professional working
environment to employees and ensures they all are reasonable
remunerated. The Company regular reviews and updates its
policies on remuneration and benefits, training, occupational
health and safety.

The Group also recognises that it is important to maintain good
relationship with business partners and customers to achieve
its long-term goals. During the year, there was no material and
significant dispute between the Group and its business partners.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to protecting the environment and
adheres to the principle of recycling and reducing. Double-
sided printing and copying, using recycled paper and reducing
energy consumption by switching off idle lightings and electrical
appliance are being implemented in the offices.

The Group will review its environmental protection practices from
time to time and will consider further eco-friendly measures and
practices in the operation.

Details of the Group's environmental policy and performance
will be set out the Environmental, Social and Governance Report
to be published by the Company in accordance with the Listing
Rules.

KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group has reviewed the possible risks and uncertainties
which may affect its businesses, financial condition, operations
and prospects. The followings are the key risks and uncertainties
identified by the Group. There may be other risks and
uncertainties in addition to those shown below which are not
known to the Group or which may not be material now but
could turn out to be material in the future.
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Risk Mitigation
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Investment risk

RERRE

The Group from time to time needs to
expand by acquiring new line of business.
Some of the mergers and acquisitions
concerns are the overvalue of the
target company, insufficient operational
experience, no in-house expertise,
under-estimation of time and resources
required to run the business, or the target
company fails to perform, etc.

REBTRKTFEZEWBHIEBRUBRE
Be—LHBERERE: BRAFME
BE £ERRTE RZAIMHEE
B BERTEERBMFNRRMNEIR
HEBERAREBOE -

In the event that the Group fails to conduct
comprehensive due diligence on the
target company or closely monitor the
share price of the invested stock and
bonds, the Group’s financial condition
and operating results would be materially
and adversely affected.

WMAREREHBERAAIFRZEANER
AERETNERFEREREREFHR
B AIRNEE BN R EEER
REBRNMTE-

RPESRMERERAF

Before investing in a new project or
acquiring a new business, the Board
performs a full management assessment
and due diligence on the new project/
new business, its business models,
financial performance, market trend,
growth opportunities, and business
valuations, etc.

EREMNEBIWBHNER A EFE
HWEIEE HER - AEBERX  MBE
BomEBE EREEREKMEES
HETTENEREEETAMNEBRAS -

The Group also engages external
consultants/experts/valuers/advisors/
professionals to support technical
evaluations or provide independent
assessment.

AREBENZLIINBER ERMEERM,
BN BEANT IR E IR
EAVAR R

The management continuously monitors the
operational and financial performance
of the acquired business. Any material
discrepancy identified will be investigated
and informed to the Board immediately.
Moreover, the management conducts
independent assessment on the adequacy
of all the critical internal control points
and risk areas of the acquired business
to ensure that all the controls and risk
mitigations are in place.

ERERBERRBEBNEERMBE
WMo MBEREFMEARNEZR B ZAIHETT
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Loan guarantee risk

EXRERAR

One of the Company’s businesses is engaged
in the provision of credit-based financing
guarantee. The business depends on their
partners to perform credit check.

RRRMHEP—EEBRIEREEREE
Re-ZEBIRNHEAERERITEE
Lo

The Group’s monitoring of the partners’
credit check is utmost important. If the
partners do not execute the credit check
properly, it could lead to loan default.

AEBERZECERHEERENRI
FHER - WMZFAERHNGERS
AEZEWIT BIFREERERELD -

Greater China Financial Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2023

The Group has strengthened the key
aspects of the lending policy and
procedures to ensure that a thorough
and comprehensive credit checks
are performed before granting of
the guarantee. Also, the Group has
performed regular monitoring of the
financial position of the borrowers,
frequent checks on the counterparties/
partners on their work in credit checking,
monitoring of credit performance of the
borrowers, and reporting of loan status
as required by the policy and procedures
established by the Group.

AEBE D IAMEBRE L2 Fe RS mE -
BRRLERMETHE 2HNEE
BEEWIN AEBEERERMERA
MR EEBEEUF AEBH
MEEFEEITIE BEEERANGEESR
I LA R 32 A 52 [ ) 5 B B3R M AR 7 AR
HEETGRMR

Furthermore, the Group detects leading
indicators of problems, and any sign of
material issue will be reported to the
management immediately for actions.
The Group continuously monitors the
Group's credit risk management strategy
and credit checking policy on those
counterparties/partners. The strategies
and credit checking policy are reviewed
and updated on a regular basis. Also,
a standardized follow-up and recovery
procedures for bad loans have been
established.

BN AEBERBAITHEEERBE 1E
FREARENT RGN R EIEREE
AR RRITE - REEFEERA
EEHZEHTF SEBHETHEE
REREEERBREEEERR -ZER
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Operational Risk
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Risk Description
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Risk Mitigation
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Loan, prepayment, The Group currently has prepayment for The Group has established a clear and

deposit, and trade
receivable risk

EX -BAARE-RE
& P U BR X L B

the consumable goods trading, deposit
paid to financing guarantee platform
and bank for loan guarantee. There is
a risk of prepayment, deposit and loan
receivable recoverability that could lead to
write-off and affect the Group’s financial
performance.

comprehensive credit policy and
procedures that outline the criteria
for granting credit, credit limits, and
the evaluation of creditworthiness.
It continues to implement a prudent
strategy with stringent internal loan
management system in the loan financing

AEBREBEEMESINENRE T
BEERFEMZRSURN FIRITER
ERERNES BFEBAMNRE & improve the recovery rate.
REWEFMAIBIK MR ATeEEs AEECHEEMmMEEMNEEBRERE
WiH R BN EER IR - FrE2ffiRTEENRE EER

REARATGH ERERREXZBHEF
BEMBEFRHETHRRAOAIER
ERHE UYHRELZERKEES-
LABRR = Bl X o

operation, and allocate more resources
in collecting the debt with the aim to

The Group continuously monitors the
deposit paid and receivables on a regular
basis. Any sign of issues will be reported
to management for actions.

AEERETHERENIEE REWKIE -
i 38 {F {] R RE R R 1) B 3R B RS AR
HiTE -
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Cybersecurity and
leakage of sensitive
information

MEREERBBER
BE

The Group is involved in loan financing,
loan referral and consultancy, provision
of credit-based financing guarantee
business, asset management and
insurance brokerage. Some of these
businesses rely on IT technologies to keep
track of customer information, transaction
records, personal and financial data of
customers, etc. All of these records are
highly confidential.

AEEREERRE EREN KEH 7
HEREENREEREB BEER
MR - B R T D KEBEER
MRBETFEE XFHTHE TFH
BARMBERE - MBEZSLHEYS
ERE -

Also, some of the customers pay for the
services through third-party online
payment service providers. For such
transactions, secure transmission of
confidential information, such as
customers’ debit and credit card numbers
and expiry dates, personal information
and billing addresses, over the public
networks is essential.

N MR BEFGBBE =T ERZNTAR
BEAXNREE -REZERXHME &
REAHLBPEEREHNOIREER (VEP
MHEERRERARRGLIHEE -BEA
BRI REREMIN N2 THER-

Any leakage of these information will have
serious consequences to the Group and
the customers. Any significant breach
of security of the Group's technology
platform could lead to the lawsuits
brought by the customers and sanctions
by government authorities in the
jurisdictions in which it operates, resulting
in significant harm to the Group’s
business operation, reputation and
financial position.

ZEEHNEMRBEOSUAEERER
ERBERR - MASERMNFENE
EREMEMBRERIE AR ERNEL R
FORBR A M AL EERDEE R R
FHRBELGIR RMEERELAEE
MEBLE BELRIMBIRR -
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The Group has implemented measures
to protect the Group's proprietary
information database from internet
hacking and other unauthorized access to
the customers’ confidential information.

REBERBERNREAEENEEE
HEREEX @R BTRERY IEMA
AR EESHEFNREER -

The Group continuously monitors and
upgrades its software and systems to the
latest cyber-attack prevention version.
Systems vulnerability and penetration
testing are carried out regularly to
ensure that the data are protected from
unauthorized access. Also, the Group
has developed a companywide cyber risk
policy and emergency procedures in case
of security breach.

REBFEETERGMARG WA
RME TR R E BFTHI AAE AR o
JEHRETT R AURRA A2 E R & - AREIR
FEXIRE RXARACEENEE -
BEoh - ARE B2 HIE R F EHE )48 48
R RMNE D RAESET -

Furthermore, the technical team regularly
receives updates and training relating
to cyber risk and business continuity,
and all critical data are backed up on a
regular basis and all backups are stored in
secured and safe places.
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Risk of improper

dealing
FEXHWEAR

Employee fraud, partner fraud, money

laundering and market manipulation
could have a negative impact on the
Group. According to the Code of Conduct
for Persons Licensed by or Registered with
the Securities and Futures Commission,
employees have the obligation to disclose
and identify all the securities, futures
contracts or leveraged foreign exchange
contracts of their own dealings and
report to their senior management.

B EMGF  SERHEGE RBERTISHRA

FTRARYAKREENRARTE R
B(EFLRBEEHERZEEHRA
HEMARSTER)  BEFAEITHE
VHANEEBEXZFNAAEES HES
MBERAINNESY IS REERE

W& e

Failure to detect employee’s trading

malpractice and to prevent conflicts of
interests between a firm’s clients and its
employees, it may jeopardize the interests
of the employers and clients as a result.

HAREEREENTEXZLBERAE

FREESREBREMNGEER AESRE
BEREPRF L -
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The Group has established the Anti-

Money Laundering (“AML") guideline
and procedures for complying with the
regulatory requirements of Securities
and Futures Commission (“SFC") and
Insurance Authority (“IA”). The Group
has carried out full assessment and due
diligence on new customers and existing
customers, and keeps monitoring if there
are any suspicious transactions. Also, the
internal control system has been set-up,
such as dual authorization and reviews, in
order to lower the risk of fraud.

AEECHENAEFMNPEEBHERER

Eeg((BREg)ERBREEER (IR
ERDEERENRLE (TRXE])
el MEF AEECHHEFPLRA
EPETEZAENGERERBE YHE
ERRAFEEMARZ S RINER
TAMESHE (NEERENESL)
PABR AR FF LB -

Furthermore, the employees are required to

attend AML training in order to update
and refresh the latest development of
the relevant legislation and regulatory
requirements. They are required to
declare if they have any existing trading
accounts opened in other securities
trading firm and all stocks held prior to
their employment.

SN - 1 B 3578 2 00 IR 28 85 45 )| LA JE BRI
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Non-compliance
with the SFO,
Listing Rules and
PRC regulatory
authorities

TREeEEFRBER
Bl EHR AR E
EERBHRE
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As a listed company in Hong Kong, the

Group has to comply with the rules and
regulations established by the regulatory
bodies such as the Hong Kong Exchanges
and Clearing Limited (“HKEx") and the
Securities and Futures Commission. The
rules and regulations that the Group
has to follow include the Listing Rules,
Companies Ordinance, Securities &
Futures Ordinance, and accounting
standards (e.g. Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards), etc.

ER—MBEELTAR AEELRET

EERB(WBEBRGREEMBRA
A([BRMDEBSFEPEEHER
ZREE)FIENRAN AR - NREEBA
BTHRAERBREETRA QA
)z R ARG Rt ER (0
TRV HRELER)Fo

Starting from 1 January 2022, the new CG

Code and related Listing Rules of the
HKEx have come into effect. The new
CG Code and related Listing Rules are
to enhance the listed issuers’ corporate
governance standards and reporting.

R _F AR BRI (R
FEORSTRI) MAERE LT AR R A e H
(XRERTRD MEBETRAEHE
fnsg FiEIT ANBREGIRERRE -

The management of the Group reviews

the new disclosure requirements, Listing
Rules, and accounting standards, etc.
Any material changes that could impact
the Group will be reported to senior
management or the Board for actions.
Also, the Group has engaged external
professional parties (e.g. auditors and
lawyers) to provide advice on the new
disclosure requirements.

AEBEEESEMMOBEER - LH

MAINEFERE - MBEEMAAIETE
AEBNEAEL LRI REERE
FEFEURRNITES I AEH
ERRIMNPEE AL (AN EEm K 2A0)
TR EERKEHER -

Furthermore, the Group regularly assesses

the financial exposure on those business
lines that could be affected by regulatory
changes. Regular training has been
provided to the staff on new regulatory
and compliance requirements.
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Non-compliance with
governmental
policies

THEBFBE

It is important for the Group to have
control measures to fulfil the compliance
requirements. As these rules and
regulations are subject to regular updates
from time to time, changes in regulations
could make the Group’s current business
models unprofitable or unsustainable.
This is evidenced by the PRC regulatory
authorities that has tightened up the
regulations in consumer guarantee
lending platforms.

HAEEMS  REUEHIEEARE SR
EXRTHEBEBE-HRZEHRAK JX%ET
RIELEHEN BRERNESE
%ﬁ$EIEWM¥ﬂETﬁ£EﬂX
PAFHBER ERTEHEERBRE
HHEEREREETENEESIE
BH -

Failure to comply with these rules within
the designated timeframe may lead to
fines and legal penalties, and could lead
to damages to the Group’s reputation in
extreme cases.

MERTEREAREETZFRA A
mgﬁg R WWIETT

RREAEENBEENES-

The Group's businesses in asset
management, insurance brokerage, loan
guarantee and loan consultancy services
are greatly influenced by governmental
policies (including macro policies,
monetary policies and financial policies).

REENEEETE RREL ERERKE
EFFEARBEBERKIZEE EXBUN
BR(BREZBERR EBRRLETR®
E&ﬁ)E/ 486 o

Failure to comply with the governmental

policies may expose the Group to the risk
of legal or regulatory sanctions, material

The management of the Group are kept
informed of the regulatory/policy updates
by receiving notification emails from
different institutions and regulatory
bodies from time to time. Management
and department head also attend external
training/workshop/forum on relevant
matters, such as corporate governance,
connected parties, government polices
etc. to keep abreast of the changes in the
applicable laws and regulations.

$EIEEFTM&%TH%%&Wﬁj
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financial loss, or loss of reputation. ¥TR HMEAL BNBRKRSEHEBE
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Compliance Risk
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Risk Description
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Risk Mitigation
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Licensing &
regulatory risk
e AR % B AL B

The Group’s businesses such as loan
guarantee, asset management, loan
financing, loan referral and consultancy
services are highly regulated businesses.
They need licenses and continuous
compliance of the rules and regulations.
There is a risk of non-compliance
of licensing and other regulatory
requirements by the Group.

REENER (FINERER EEERE-
EXRmE  EREN MFEARYE) BXE
BREENRB ZFXBHFERRN
REBTERNA AEEFENE
ST 45 R N HoAth B2 B AR E B ELBR o

As a licensed and regulated corporation,
some licenses, such as the Type 9 Asset
Management License, the Money Lenders
License and the license as Insurance
Intermediaries are mandatory for the
operation of the Group’s business. Failure
to renew or obtain all relevant licenses
would impact the business operations
and the Group may be subject to fines.

ERFMXRE LR FAEEREHEK
VRARAE TR (MEBERTEEE
BER MEABRRERERP N AFE
R) - IRBEEENESMAEABRER
REENEBLERXBTELAILE
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Licenses and regulatory team is supported
by external consultants such as lawyers,
accountants and compliance consultants
to monitor the licenses and regulatory
requirements that could affect the Group'’s
guarantee and lending businesses.

R IR % B B B B i | S PR R (a0 22 R -
SETHD N A REARM) B BRI R R
EREERRIMEEXEBNERKES
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The Group has developed procedures in
internal control and monitoring process
to regularly review the operations to
ensure the licensing compliance and
to keep abreast of the new regulatory
requirements. The compliance
consultants are responsible for reviewing
the compliance report of the Group
before the submission to the regulation
regulatory bodies.

AEECHEANNEZEREREF ©H
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
were entered into or existed during the year.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

As at the date of this report, there are no important events
affecting the Group after FY2023.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
Shareholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Principal corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company are set out in the Corporate Governance Report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this report, based on information that is publicly
available to the Company and within knowledge of the Directors,
the Company has maintained a sufficient public float under the
Listing Rules.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to Shareholders by reason of their holding of the
Company securities.

RPESRMERERAF
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AUDITOR

HLM has resigned as the Auditor with effect from 16 October
2023 due to the restructuring between HLM and Confucius.
The Board with the recommendation of the Audit Committee
appointed Confucius as the Auditor with effect from 16 October
2023 to fill the casual vacancy following the resignation of HLM
and to hold office until the conclusion of the next annual general
meeting of the Company. The consolidated financial statements
for FY2023 have been audited by Confucius, who will retire and,
being eligible, offer itself for re-appointment at the 2024 AGM.

There was no disagreement between the Board and the Audit
Committee on the selection and appointment of the Auditor
during FY2023.

Save as disclosed above, there has been no change in the Auditor
during the past three years.

On behalf of the Board

Liu Kequan
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT

SAN-CHINVA

38 3 B BT R S

RREBRTFTERNFEH ARSI

Confucius International CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants

TO THE MEMBERS OF
GREATER CHINA FINANCIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
RPESBMERERAF

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Greater China Financial Holdings Limited (“the Company”) and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out
on pages 71 to 243, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 December 2023, the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
cash flow statement for the year then ended and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
material accounting policy information and other explanatory
information.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group. Because of the significance of the
matters described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section
of our report, we have not been able to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion
on these consolidated financial statements. In all other respects,
in our opinion the consolidated financial statements have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements
of the Companies Ordinance.

EBBIETBEISIHRAE RELS01-08F
Rooms 1501-08, 15th Floor, Tai Yau Building,
181 Johnston Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong

E 35 Tel: (852) 3103 6980

fEHE Fax: (852) 3104 0170
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OPINION

Material uncertainties relating to going concern

As described in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group reported a loss attributable to the owners of the
Company of HK$472,487,000 for the year ended 31 December
2023. The Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets
by HK$550,952,000 and its total liabilities exceeded its total
assets by HK$651,767,000 as at 31 December 2023. As at the
same date, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents amounted
to HK$31,985,000, while the Group recorded outstanding
borrowing of approximately HK$123,763,000 which are due for
repayment within the next twelve months.

As disclosed in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group has provided guarantees to some of its customers’
lenders in relation to these customers’ facilities and loans
amounting to approximately RMB457,113,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$502,961,000). As at 31 December 2023,
certain guarantee projects of approximately RMB393,677,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$433,162,000) out of the
abovementioned guarantees were defaulted.

These conditions indicate the existence of material uncertainties
which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT

The directors of the Company have carried out a detailed review
of the cash flow forecast of the Group for the next twelve
months from the date of this report and have been undertaking
a number of measures to improve the Group's liquidity and
financial position which are set out in note 3 to the consolidated
financial statements. The consolidated financial statements have
been prepared on a going concern basis, on the assumption
that there is no indication of the lenders have any current
intention to exercise their right to demand immediate repayment
thereon. The validity of which depends on the outcome of these
measures, which are subject to multiple uncertainties, including
(i) whether the Group is able to obtain additional sources of
financing when needed; (ii) the successful negotiations between
the lenders, borrowers and the guarantor, the subsidiary of the
Group, for the renewal of or extension for repayment of the
default borrowings in the guarantee projects; and (iii) whether
the Group can successfully improve its operation to generate
sufficient operating cash inflow.

Should the Group be unable to operate as a going concern,
adjustments would have to be made to write down the carrying
values of the Group's assets to their recoverable amounts, to
provide for any further liabilities which might arise, and to
reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current
assets and current liabilities, respectively. The effects of these
adjustments have not been reflected in these consolidated
financial statements.

We consider that the going concern basis of preparation of
the consolidated financial statements has been adequately
disclosed in the consolidated financial statements. Up to the
date of our report, we have not been provided with sufficient
appropriate audit evidence to conclude on the appropriateness of
management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting in
the preparation of the consolidated financial statements because
of no extension agreement has been reached between the
borrowers and their lenders regarding the outstanding default
borrowings which the Group act as the guarantor and the lack
of sufficient appropriate evidence in relation to its plans and
measures for future actions in its going concern assessment.
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In view of the extent of the uncertainty relating to the successful
outcome of loan extension negotiations and sufficient basis
that the improvement of future operating results and cash
flows would be realised, we were unable to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence in relation to the adoption of the
going concern basis in preparing the consolidated financial
statements.

Any adjustments found to be required may have consequential
significant effects on the consolidated net liabilities of the Group
as at 31 December 2023 and the consolidated loss and total
comprehensive expense and cash flows of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2023, and the related elements and
disclosures thereof in the consolidated financial statements.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging
their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s
consolidated financial statements in accordance with Hong
Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the HKICPA and to issue
an auditor’s report. This report is made solely to you, as a body,
in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act
1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents
of this report. However, because of the matters described in
the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, it is
not possible to form an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code"”) together with any ethical requirements that are
relevant to our audit of the consolidation financial statements in
Bermuda, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with these requirements and the Code.

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to
you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda
Companies Act, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.
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OTHER MATTER

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2022 were audited by another auditor
who expressed disclaimer of opinion on those statements on 28
March 2023.

Confucius International CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

YIP YUEN NGA

Practising Certificate Number: P05908
Hong Kong

28 March 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZEZE-ZT-_=F+-A=+—HIEFE

GRelESEREMEE KRR

2023 2022
—BE-= =
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
P 5 THET FHETT
Revenue WA 5
Contracts with customers RKEBEFEH 42,930 188,856
Interest under effective interest method & BB F A E 2 7 & 6,480 13,095
Total revenue B 49,410 201,951
Cost of sales HEMA (12,465) (107,680)
Gross profit EH 36,945 94,271
Other income, gains and losses H WA -~ e R EE 7 63,984 75,491
Administrative and other operating ITERERAEME LR
expenses (69,187) (86,979)
Share-based payments expenses ARR 9 2 A ;RIB R 32 (603) (1,787)
Provision for financial guarantees BEEREE 30 (50,177) (70,516)
Impairment loss, net of reversal BB EE - RO 8 (406,222) (239,236)
Impairment loss on goodwill e ZREBE 19 (110,070) (117,963)
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets & E 2 B(EEE 18 - (426)
Finance costs B RN 9 (37,234) (35,816)
Loss before taxation PR AT BT 1R (572,564) (382,961)
Income tax expense PSR X 10 (42,661) (14,964)
Loss for the year FREE 12 (615,225) (397,925)
Other comprehensive income Hth 2wz (%)
(expense), net of tax HBRBE
Item that will not be reclassified RGBT EE D EE B A
subsequently to profit or loss: HAE -
Change in fair value of financial BRAVEFAHEMEERRZ
assets at fair value through TRMEEAFEES
other comprehensive income (4,422) 6,124
Items that may be reclassified HE A BEEF DI E B 1Y
subsequently to profit or loss: HH
Exchange differences on translation PR #6055 i N SE TS T S AR A
of foreign operations [ X =58 2,778 (12,640)
Reserves released upon deregistration BUSH BT B D A AR bR 1
of subsidiaries 10 =
Other comprehensive expense FRAEMZEMAX
for the year (1,634) (6,516)
Total comprehensive expense FRE2EAXAH
for the year (616,859) (404,441)
APESRMIZEREBRAT | —T_=—FFH
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
meBRakEtEEkER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE-ZT-_=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

72

2023 2022
—E-=F —F-—
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
(=2 FET FHET
Loss for the year attributable to: UTATEEFEFAEE:
Owners of the Company ZA/NEIE Z N (472,487) (326,213)
Non-controlling interests FEVE AR M (142,738) (71,712)
(615,225) (397,925)
Total comprehensive expense LMTATEEERZEBEX
for the year attributable to: e
Owners of the Company RARHEE A (468,878) (316,336)
Non-controlling interests SEEIRHE A (147,981) (88,105)
(616,859) (404,441)
HK cents HK cents
A4 AL
Loss per share BREE 15
Basic R (6.08) (4.20)
Diluted e (6.08) (4.20)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
R E BB R

At 31 December 2023 R-ZT-_=F+_-_A=+—H

2023 2022
—=E-= —F -
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FTHET FHTT
Non-current assets RBEE
Property, plant and equipment M- BB R EAE 16 51,739 61,921
Right-of-use assets TRAEEE 17 18,774 22,816
Goodwill EkS 18 - 110,070
Intangible assets mEEE 19 - -
Interests in associates iR NIl 21 - =
Financial assets at fair value through ERFEFAEMEZEKES
other comprehensive income TREE 22 516 4,938
Financial assets at fair value through BERAFEFABRNEHEE
profit or loss 23 189,924 188,021
Deferred tax assets EETIBE E 33 - 37,264
Pledged bank deposits EEARITFER 27 5,502 5,653
Other receivables H A fE YRR 25 2,607 =
Deposits Ze 26 - 853
269,062 431,536
Current assets REBEE
Loans and interest receivables FEWE 3k & F B 24 36,291 337,380
Trade and other receivables JRE LS AR K N L A B W 5K IR 25 61,975 104,612
Prepayments and deposits ENRERZES 26 8,040 11,907
Loans to and interest receivables from B F —IEIFIEREZS K&
a non-controlling interest R —TEE R ER 2 FE 4 - 36,148
Loans to and interest receivables from BT — & Q7 & EIK
an associate —MEBE AR ZHE 41 - 497
Financial assets at fair value through BEATFEFABENEREE
profit or loss 23 3,378 6,905
Restricted bank deposits PR HIER1TIF K 27 6,396 14,202
Cash and cash equivalents RehBE2EED 28 31,985 26,280
148,065 537,931
Assets classified as held for sale DERFIEHENEE 35 - 5,781
148,065 543,712
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade payables, other payables, JE A BR 3K~ L A B A~ FRIE K2
deposits received and accruals EEtE R 29 103,000 99,934
Contract liabilities BRNEE 434 1,032
Lease liabilities HEAE 32 918 6,776
Liabilities from financial guarantees BMEEZRAE 30 437,869 402,219
Amount due to non-controlling interests & {<f 3F 1% i 4 25 X 18 41 11,167 9,497
Borrowings B 31 123,763 93,622
Tax payables JE - 75t 18 21,866 16,305
699,017 629,385
Liabilities associated with assets HAOMARBELENEE
classified as held for sale BN BE 35 = 1,142
699,017 630,527
APESRMIZEREBRAT | —T_=—FFH
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

= A AN
ey BAR R TR
At 31 December 2023 R-ZE-_=F+-A=+—H
2023 2022
—_E_= —F-—
Notes HKS$'000 HK$'000
B RE FET FETT
Net current liabilities REBEEREE (550,952) (86,815)
Total assets less current liabilities WEERRBERE (281,890) 344,721
Non-current liabilities kFBEE
Lease liabilities HEAE 32 — 4,777
Borrowings BE 31 163,939 185,463
Convertible notes Al AR R 34 205,938 189,992
369,877 380,232
Net liabilities B8EFHE (651,767) (35,511)
Capital and reserve BEXR#EE
Share capital AR A 36 7,776 7,776
Reserves {1 (642,400) (174,125)
Deficit attributable to owners of RRNBER AL EA
the Company (634,624) (166,349)
Non-controlling interests FEIE R M (17,143) 130,838
Total deficit & Al 4B 5t (651,767) (35,511)

12 M BE 15 SRR Y R R 5% 5 B 15 SRR 0 A AR

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial
statements. e

ENENER23AZEEMBRRIKES

ER_TE_MEF=A=-FN\BHE REERE
TYARRTALTRERESE:

The consolidated financial statements on pages 71 to 243 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on
28 March 2024 and are signed on its behalf by:

Mr. Liu Kequan Mr. Yang Dayong

B RREE BABRE
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
EF EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

—=—

For the year ended 31 December 2023 EHZE_—Z

Attributable to owners of the Company

REEREER

=F+-A=T—RHILFE

KRR AER
Convertible
Share notes Non-
Share Share option equity  Translation  Revaluation  Statutory Accumulated controlling
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Sub-total interests Total
TAREE
R&  RGEE BRERE  BERE  ENRG  EMRE  iERE  2HER Mt FERER a3t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERL TERL TEL T TER Tibn TEn THL Tin FiEn TEL
At 1 January 2022 W-E--#-f-H 1,776 2,119,704 4,526 53,452 (15,310) (149,754) 10,390 (1,882,584) 148,200 218,943 367,143
Loss for the year FREE - - - - - - - (326,213) (326,213) M) (397,925)
Other comprehensive expense E2ERY
- Change in fair value of financial ~~ ~RAFEFALM2E
assets at fair value through b eHEENTE
other comprehensive income 28 - - - - - 6,124 - - 6,124 - 6,124
- Exchange differences on translation  ~ R EHENEH
of foreign operations EEMERER - - - - 3753 - - - 3753 (16,393) (12,640)
Total comprehensive expense FNRERXEE
for the year - - - - 3753 6,124 - (326,213) (316,336) (88,105) (404,441)
Recognition of equity-settled BRI REEERAZM
share-based payment expenses FERT - - 1,787 - - - - - 1,787 - 1,787
Disposal of investment in equity HERATET ALY
instruments at fair value through ~~~ 2AREZRATA
other comprehensive income RE - - - - - 86,060 = (86,060) = = =
Profit appropriations to BREETHRE G
statutory reserve - - - - - - 3122 (3.122) - - -
At 31 December 2022 and RZIBZZ%+2A
1 January 2023 =t-ARk=%3==%
-A-A 1,776 2,119,704 6,313 53,452 (11,557) (57,570) 13,512 (2,297,979) (166,349) 130,838 (35,511)
Loss for the year ERNER S S S S S S S @n48n @4 o (142,738 (615229
Other comprehensive expense E2ERX
- Change in fairvalue of financial ~ ~ X AFEFAZMEE
assets at fair value through b eHEELTE
other comprehensive income % - - - - - (4,422) - - (4,422) - (4.422)
~ Exchange differences on translation  ~EEE I EKM
of foreign operations EEMERZR - - = = 8,031 = = = 8,031 (5,253) 2,778
- Release of translation reserve upon  —BUHE R BA A%
deregistration of subsidiaries BRERGRE - - - - - - - - - 10 10
Total comprehensive expense ENZERXER
for the year - = - - 8,031 (8422 - Wnas) WessTy (47981 (6168%9)
Recognition of equity-settled EANRELEERA ST
share-based payment expenses FERY - - 603 - - - - - 603 - 603
At 31 December 2023 RZBZ=£+2A
=+-H 1,776 2,119,704 6,916 53452 (3,526) (61,992) 13512 (2,770,466) (634,624) (17,143) (651,767)

RAESHMERBRIF | — T _=FF%

75



76

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
mERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE-ZT-_=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

2023 2022
—=E-= —F- -
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
{hg=a FET FHIT
Operating activities RETH
Loss before taxation Br i A& 18 (572,564) (382,961)
Adjustments for: M TFNIEEEL ZFAE
Depreciation of property, plant and M- BREREEITE
equipment 16 8,546 9,368
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE 17 1,634 2,916
Fair value change on financial assets BAFEGFABED
at fair value through profit or loss TEMEEZAFEE 7 1,624 (34,388)
Interest income B WA 7 (12,230) (32,247)
Investment income wEBA 7 - (41)
Realised loss on financial assets at BN ERFABES
fair value through profit or loss PREECZEERERE 7 - 421
Share-based payment expenses AR 9 2 A ;RIB i 2 603 1,787
Provision for financial guarantees BMEEREE 30 50,177 70,516
Impairment loss, net of reversal BEEE - MERED 8 406,222 239,236
Impairment loss on goodwill R EEE 18 110,070 117,963
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets & F3 1 & & B EE 18 17 - 426
Finance costs B ISR AR 9 37,234 35,816
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEWB AR Z W 39 (145) -
Net gain on disposal of property, HEME BEREZHZ
plant and equipment e 58 7 (221) -
Loss on write-off of property, WESEME - BB R ERE 2
plant and equipment E1E 7 — 10
Gain on substantial modification of TREEEXNER WA
financial asset 7, 25(g) (40,781) -
Loss on lease modification MEB 2 BB 7 - 217
Gain on lease termination IEMEE 2 W= 7 (4,725) -~
Gain on loan modification L EACH A ¢ 7 (146) (3,735)
Net foreign exchange (gain) loss bE X (e ) BB #5 7 (2) 6
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
mERETRER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZEZE-ZT-_=F+-A=+—HIEFE

2023 2022
—BE-= —F-—
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
(=2 THET FHETT
Operating cash flows before movements &EE & EBHNK LR &
in working capital =3 (14,704) 25,310
Decrease (increase) in trade and JFEE Wi B 35 B L At B MR IR
other receivables B () 18,244 (136,318)
Increase in loans to and interest JE U S R % H) B3 N
receivables - (13,729)
(Increase) decrease in prepayments and B FUB Rizd (300) R 2
deposits (1,072) 52,501
Increase in loans to and interest ERT—IEEERER R
receivables from a non-controlling JE W B 25 N
interest - (2,869)
(Increase) decrease in loans to and BERF—REBEATINR
interest receivables from an associate FEWEL RIS (35 00) Rk 4 (5,603) 703
Increase in cash held on behalf of clients KEF#HHE 2R &M - (228)
Decrease in restricted bank deposits PR I 8R 17 77 B0 7,475 21,654
Decrease in trade payables, other JE AT BR TR~ LAl JRE 5RO
payables, deposits received and B IE S R ERT B R
accruals (1,204) (12,326)
(Decrease) increase in contract liabilities & #1B& & (g4 )% (552) 901
Increase in amount due to JE < SE 428 R HE 2 R TE A5 AN
non-controlling interests 1,993 -
Decrease in liabilities from BB EREER D
financial guarantees (3.713) -
Increase in assets held for sales RIEEEEEL N 685 —
Cash generated from (used in) operations &2 EE B (FTA)Z2RE 1,549 (64,401)
Interest paid ENFE (8,924) (13,907)
Income tax paid ERAEH (1.410) (1,717)
Net cash used in operating activities R& FEFTA RS FE (8,785) (80,025)
Investing activities REZED
Interest received RSN 107 708
Purchase of property, plant and BEWHE WEKEE
equipment 16 (6) (19)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME BEREZHE
plant and equipment Fri§ s 18 230 2
Proceeds from disposal of financial HERAFEFAEBERZ
assets at fair value through EREEFSHRIEA
profit or loss - 4,445
Proceeds from disposal of financial HERAFEFAEMER
assets at fair value through WamzemEEMSHIA
other comprehensive income - 4,691
Proceeds from sales and HE REBRILEMSKIA
redemption of investments - 41
Net cash inflow arising on HEMBARIEAZER®
disposal of subsidiaries MAFEE 39 531 -
Placement of pledged bank deposit FEABEHBRITER - (5,832)
Net cash generated from RETBMBREFHE
investing activities 862 4,036
APESREREBRAR | —T_=FFR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
mERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE T - =F+_A=+—HItFE

78

2023 2022
—BE-= —F=-=
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 THET FHET
Financing activities REEE
Proceeds from borrowings BEFSIA 123,009 138,479
Repayment of borrowings BEEE (107,485) (81,275)
Repayment for lease liabilities BEHERRE (4,306) (7,579)
Net cash generated from RMETEAERSFHE
financing activities 46 11,218 49,625
Net increase (decrease) in cashand BERBRSEEWIEM (L)
cash equivalents FE 3,295 (26,364)
Cash and cash equivalents at R—B—BzEEERS
1 January ZEY 30,148 47,936
Effect of foreign exchange EXSHNTE
rate changes (1,458) 8,576
Cash and cash equivalents at R+T=-—A=+—H2ZzHRER
31 December REEEY 31,985 30,148
Analysis of the balances of cashand BRERBEESEEYER DT
cash equivalents:
Cash and cash equivalents ReMBSEFED 28 31,985 26,280
Bank balance in assets classified DR 1’Eﬁ ENEERZ
as held for sale RITHE 35 - 3,868
31,985 30,148
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZEZE-ZT-_=F+-A=+—HIEFE

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted
company with limited liability and its shares are listed on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The address of the
Company'’s registered office is Victoria Place, 5th Floor, 31
Victoria Street, Hamilton HM10, Bermuda, and its principal
place of business in Hong Kong is Suites 3612-16, Tower
Two, Times Square, 1 Matheson Street, Causeway Bay, Hong
Kong.

The Group is principally engaged in investment holding,
industrial property development, general trading of
consumable goods, insurance brokerage and loan financing
operation including loan financing, financial guarantee
services, loan referral and consultancy services.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is also the functional currency
of the Company. In addition, the functional currencies of
certain group entities that operate outside Hong Kong are
determined based on the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the group entities operate.

1.
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Victoria Place, 5th Floor, 31 Victoria Street,
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE T - =F+_A=+—HItFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
new and amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
for the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the
Group's annual period beginning on 1 January 2023 for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

HKFRS 17 (including Insurance Contracts
the October 2020
and February 2022
Amendments to
HKFRS 17)

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction
Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform — Pillar
Two Model Rules
Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies
and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

The application of the new and amendments to HKFRSs in
the current year has had no material impact on the Group's
consolidated financial positions and performance for the
current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in
these consolidated financial statements.

Greater China Financial Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZEZE-ZT-_=F+-A=+—HIEFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not
yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in Sale and
Leaseback’

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)’

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants'
Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements’
and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

' Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2025.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application
of all other new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no
material impact on the consolidated financial statements in
the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE T - =F+_A=+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”) and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
("CO").

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for certain financial
instruments that are measured at fair values at the end of
each reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies
set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on
such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions
that are within the scope of HKFRS 2, leasing transactions
that are account for in accordance with HKFRS 16, and
measurements that have some similarities to fair value but
are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 or
value in use in HKAS 36.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZEZE-ZT-_=F+-A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair value
and a valuation technique that unobservable input is to
be used to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the
valuation technique is calibrated so that at initial recognition
the results of the valuation technique equal the transaction
price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are
described as follows:

e Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

e Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

e Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

Going concern basis

The Group reported a loss attributable to the owners of
the Company of HK$472,487,000 for the year ended 31
December 2023. The Group’s current liabilities exceeded its
current assets by HK$550,952,000 and its total liabilities
exceeded its total assets by HK$651,767,000 as at 31
December 2023. As at the same date, the Group’s cash and
cash equivalents amounted to HK$31,985,000, while the
Group recorded outstanding borrowing of approximately
HK$123,763,000 which are due for repayment within the
next twelve months.

The Group has provided guarantees to some of its customers’
lenders in relation to these customers’ facilities and loans
amounting to approximately RMB457,113,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$502,961,000). As at 31 December 2023,
certain guarantee projects of approximately RMB393,677,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$433,162,000) out of the
abovementioned guarantees were defaulted.

3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE T - =F+_A=+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Going concern basis (Continued)

The courts of the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC")
have ordered to freeze certain of the Group's bank accounts
of approximately HK$6,018,000.

These conditions indicate the existence of material
uncertainties which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

In view of such circumstances, the directors of the Company
have given careful consideration to the future liquidity
and performance of the Group and its available sources of
financing in assessing whether the Group will have sufficient
financial resources to continue as a going concern. Certain
measures have been taken to improve the liquidity pressure
and to improve its financial position, but are not limited to,
the following:

(i) The Group is actively negotiating with potential party to
dispose of the subsidiaries engaged in the provision of
financial guarantee business in the PRC as the business
incurred significant portion of the overall liabilities of the
Group;

(i) The Group is taking measures to tighten cost control with
an aim to attain positive cash flow from operations;

(iii) The Group has been actively negotiating with a number
of financial institutions for granting of bank borrowings
and credit facilities;

(iv) The Group is currently taking active actions in following
up the repayment of overdue receivables including but
not limited to taking legal action;

(v) The Group has been actively negotiating with certain
financial institutions and identifying various options for
financing the Group’s working capital as well as the
commitments in the foreseeable future; and

(vi) The Group is considering corporate restructure proposals
to reduce the liabilities and commitment within the
Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZEZE-ZT-_=F+-A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Going concern basis (Continued)

The directors have reviewed the Group’s cash flow projections
prepared by management. The cash flow projections cover
a period of not less than twelve months from 31 December
2023. They are of the opinion that, taking into account
the above-mentioned plans and measures, the Group will
have sufficient working capital to finance its operations and
to meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due
within twelve months from 31 December 2023. Accordingly,
the directors are satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare the
consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis.

Notwithstanding the above, material uncertainties exist as
to whether management of the Company will be able to
achieve its plans and measures as described above. Whether
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern would
depend upon the Group's ability to generate adequate
financing and operating cash flows through the following:

(i) Successfully obtaining additional new sources of
financing when needed;

(i) Whether the Group can successfully improve its operation
to generate sufficient operating cash inflow; and

(iii) Successful negotiations between the customers’ lenders,
borrowers and the guarantor, the subsidiary of the
Group, for the renewal of or extension for repayment of
the defaulted borrowings in the guarantee projects.

Should the Group be unable to operate as a going concern,
adjustments would have to be made to write down the
carrying values of the Group's assets to their recoverable
amounts, to provide for any further liabilities which might
arise, and to reclassify non-current assets and non-current
liabilities as current assets and current liabilities, respectively.
The effects of these adjustments have not been reflected in
these consolidated financial statements.

3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Rk i

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE T - =F+_A=+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Material accounting policies
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company, its subsidiaries and
entities (including structured entities) controlled by the
Company. Control is achieved when the Company:

e has power over the investee;

e is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

e has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

When the Group is an investor of a fund in which the Group
also acts as a fund manager, the Group will determine
whether it is a principal or an agent for the purpose of
assessing whether the Group controls the relevant fund.

An agent is a party primarily engaged to act on behalf and
for the benefit of another party or parties (the principal(s))
and therefore does not control the investee when it exercises
its decision-making authority. In determining whether the
Group is an agent to the fund, the Group would assess:

e the scope of its decision-making authority over the
investee;

e the rights held by other parties;

e the remuneration to which it is entitled in accordance
with the remuneration agreements; and

e the decision maker's exposure to variability of returns
from other interests that it holds in the investee.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZEZE-ZT-_=F+-A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Material accounting policies (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries
upon liquidation.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Material accounting policies (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Group's interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not
result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are
accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts
of the Group’s relevant components of equity and the
non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes
in their relative interests in the subsidiaries, including
reattribution of relevant reserves between the Group and the
non-controlling interests according to the Group's and the
non-controlling interests’ proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the
non-controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of
the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in
equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if
any) are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit
or loss and is calculated as the difference between (i) the
aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and
the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the carrying
amounts of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of
the subsidiary attributable to the owners of the Company.
All amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as
if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities of the subsidiary, that is reclassified to profit or loss
or transferred to another category of equity as specified/
permitted by applicable HKFRSs. The fair value of any
investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date
when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition for subsequent accounting under HKAS 39
or, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an
investment in an associate or a joint venture.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZE T - =F+_-_A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Material accounting policies (Continued)
Business combinations or asset acquisitions

Optional concentration test

The Group can elect to apply an optional concentration
test, on a transaction-by-transaction basis, that permits a
simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of activities
and assets is not a business. The concentration test is met if
substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets acquired
is concentrated in a single identifiable asset or group of
similar identifiable assets. The gross assets under assessment
exclude cash and cash equivalents, deferred tax assets, and
goodwill resulting from the effects of deferred tax liabilities.
If the concentration test is met, the set of activities and assets
is determined not to be a business and no further assessment
is needed.

Asset acquisitions

When the Group acquires a group of assets and liabilities
that do not constitute a business, the Group identifies and
recognises the individual identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed by allocating the purchase price first to
investment properties which are subsequently measured
under fair value model and financial assets/financial liabilities
at the respective fair values, the remaining balance of the
purchase price is then allocated to the other identifiable
assets and liabilities on the basis of their relative fair values at
the date of purchase. Such a transaction does not give rise to
goodwill or bargain purchase gain.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Material accounting policies (Continued)
Business combinations or asset acquisitions (Continued)

Business combinations

A business is an integrated set of activities and assets which
includes an input and a substantive process that together
significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs. The
acquired processes are considered substantive if they are
critical to the ability to continue producing outputs, including
an organised workforce with the necessary skills, knowledge,
or experience to perform the related processes or they
significantly contribute to the ability to continue producing
outputs and are considered unique or scarce or cannot be
replaced without significant cost, effort, or delay in the ability
to continue producing outputs.

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair value of
the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in
profit or loss as incurred.

The identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
must meet the definitions of an asset and a liability in
the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting (the
“Conceptual Framework") except for transactions and events
within the scope of HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities
and Contingent Assets or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 Levies, in which
the Group applies HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 instead of
the Conceptual Framework to identify the liabilities it has
assumed in a business combination. Contingent assets are
not recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZEZE-ZT-_=F+-A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Material accounting policies (Continued)

Business combinations or asset acquisitions (Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value,
except that:

deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised
and measured in accordance with HKAS 12 /ncome Taxes
and HKAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively,

liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements of the
acquiree are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2
Share-based Payment at the acquisition date (see the
accounting policy below);

assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for
sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held
for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in
accordance with that standard; and

lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the
present value of the remaining lease payments (as
defined in HKFRS 16) as if the acquired leases were
new leases at the acquisition date, except for leases for
which (a) the lease term ending within 12 months of
the acquisition date; or (b) the underlying asset is of low
value. Right-of-use assets are recognised and measured at
the same amount as the relevant lease liabilities, adjusted
to reflect favourable or unfavourable terms of the lease
when compared with market terms.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Material accounting policies (Continued)
Business combinations or asset acquisitions (Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the
net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after reassessment,
the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’'s
previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is
recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase
gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the
entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation may be initially
measured either at fair value or at the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate share of the recognised amounts
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The choice of
measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction
basis. Other types of non-controlling interests are measured
at their fair value.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a
business combination includes assets or liabilities resulting
from a contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent
consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value
and included as part of the consideration transferred in
a business combination. Changes in the fair value of the
contingent consideration that qualify as measurement
period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively, with
the corresponding adjustments made against goodwill.
Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that
arise from additional information obtained during the
“measurement period” (which cannot exceed one year from
the acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that
existed at the acquisition date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZE T - =F+_-_A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Material accounting policies (Continued)
Business combinations or asset acquisitions (Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

The subsequent accounting for the contingent consideration
that do not qualify as measurement period adjustments
depends on how the contingent consideration is classified.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent
consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability is
remeasured to fair value at subsequent reporting dates, with
the corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or
loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the
Group's previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date, that is the
date when the Group obtains control, and the resulting
gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income, as appropriate. Amounts arising
from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date
that have previously been recognised in other comprehensive
income and measured under HKFRS 9 would be accounted
for on the same basis as would be required if the Group had
disposed directly of the previously held equity interest.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is
incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the
combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts
for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those
provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement
period (see above), and additional assets or liabilities are
recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts
and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date that, if
known, would have affected the amounts recognised at that
date.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Material accounting policies (Continued)
Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operation policy decisions of the investee
but is not control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements
using the equity method of accounting. Under the equity
method, an investment in an associate is initially recognised
in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost
and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of
the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the
associate. Change in net assets of the associate other than
profit or loss and other comprehensive income are not
accounted for unless such changes resulted in changes in
ownership interest held by the Group. When the Group's
share of losses of an associate exceeds the Group's interest in
that associate (which includes any long-term interests that,
in substance, form part of the Group's net investment in
the associate), the Group discontinues recognising its share
of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to
the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligation or made payments on behalf of the associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using
the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate. On acquisition of the investment in an
associate, any excess of the cost of the investment over the
Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets
and liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which
is included within the carrying amount of the investment.
Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the
investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately
in profit or loss in the period in which the investment is
acquired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZE T - =F+_-_A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Material accounting policies (Continued)
Investments in associates (Continued)

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence
that the interest in an associate may be impaired. When any
objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the
investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in
accordance with HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets as a single
asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value
in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying
amount. Any impairment loss recognised forms part of the
carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that
impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36
to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over
an associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire
interest in the investee with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. When the Group retains an
interest in the former associate and the retained interest is
a financial asset within the scope of HKFRS 9, the Group
measures the retained interest at fair value at that date
and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial
recognition. The difference between the carrying amount
of the associate and the fair value of any retained interest
and any proceeds from disposing the relevant interest in the
associate is included in the determination of the gain or loss
on disposal of the associate. In addition, the Group accounts
for all amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to that associate on the same basis as
would be required if that associate had directly disposed
of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or
loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income
by that associate would be reclassified to profit or loss on
the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group
reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a
reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/partial disposal of
the relevant associate.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Material accounting policies (Continued)
Investments in associates (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in associates and joint
ventures

The Group continues to use the equity method when an
investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or an investment in a joint venture becomes an
investment in an associate. There is no remeasurement to fair
value upon such changes in ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an
associate but the Group continues to use the equity method,
the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of
the gain or loss that had previously been recognised in
other comprehensive income relating to that reduction in
ownership interest if that gain or loss would be reclassified to
profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

Acquisition of additional interests in associates

When the Group increases its ownership interest in an
associate but the Group continues to use the equity method,
goodwill is recognised at acquisition date if there is excess of
the consideration paid over the share of carrying amount of
net assets attributable to the additional interests in associates
acquired. Any excess of share of carrying amount of net
assets attributable to the additional interests in associates
acquired over the consideration paid are recognised in the
profit or loss in the period in which the additional interest are
acquired.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried
at cost as established at the date of acquisition of the
business (see the accounting policy above) less accumulated
impairment losses, if any.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZEZE-ZT-_=F+-A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Material accounting policies (Continued)
Goodwill (Continued)

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to each of the Group's cash-generating units (or groups
of cash-generating units) that is expected to benefit from
the synergies of the combination, which represent the
lowest level at which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes and not larger than an operating
segment.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated
is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when
there is indication that the unit may be impaired. For
goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, the
cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated
is tested for impairment before the end of that reporting
period. If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the
unit on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of
each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill
is recognised directly in profit or loss. An impairment loss
recognised for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods.

On the disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit,
the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on the disposal
(or any of the cash-generating unit within a group of cash-
generating unit in which the Group monitors goodwill).

The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition
of an associate is described in “Investments in associates”
above.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Material accounting policies (Continued)
Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) are classified as held
for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally
through a sale transaction rather than through continuing
use. This condition is regarded as met only when the asset
(or disposal group) is available for immediate sale in its
present condition subject only to terms that are usual and
customary for sales of such asset (or disposal group) and its
sale is highly probable. Management must be committed to
the sale, which should be expected to qualify for recognition
as a completed sale within one year from the date of
classification.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving loss
of control of a subsidiary, all of the assets and liabilities of
that subsidiary are classified as held for sale when the criteria
described above are met, regardless of whether the Group
will retain a non-controlling interest in the relevant subsidiary
after the sale.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving
disposal of an investment, or a portion of an investment, in
an associate or joint venture, the investment or the portion
of the investment that will be disposed of is classified as held
for sale when the criteria described above are met, and the
Group discontinues the use of the equity method in relation
to the portion that is classified as held for sale from the
time when the investment (or a portion of the investment) is
classified as held for sale.

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified as held
for sale are measured at the lower of their previous carrying
amount and fair value less costs to sell which continue to be
measured in accordance with the accounting policies as set
out in respective sections.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZE T - =F+_-_A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Material accounting policies (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, that is when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customers.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

e the customer simultaneously receives or consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

e the Group’s performance creates and enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

e the Group's performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group's right to consideration
in exchange for goods or services that the Group has
transferred to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It
is assessed for impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9. In
contrast, a receivable represents the Group's unconditional
right to consideration, that is only the passage of time is
required before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group
has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is
due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same
contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Material accounting policies (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Contracts with multiple performance obligations

For contracts that contain more than one performance
obligations, the Group allocates the transaction price to each
performance obligation on a relative stand-alone selling price
basis.

The stand-alone selling price of the distinct good or service
underlying each performance obligation is determined at
contract inception. It represents the price at which the
Group would sell a promised good or service separately
to a customer. If a stand-alone selling price is not directly
observable, the Group estimates it using appropriate
techniques such that the transaction price ultimately
allocated to any performance obligation reflects the amount
of consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in
exchange for transferring the promised goods or services to
the customer.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress
towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on output method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of direct measurements of the
value of the goods or services transferred to the customer
to date relative to the remaining goods or services promised
under the contract, that best depict the Group's performance
in transferring control of goods or services.

As a practical expedient, if the Group has a right to
consideration in an amount that corresponds directly with
the value of the Group's performance completed to date, the
Group recognises revenue in the amount to which the Group
has the right to invoice.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZEZE-ZT-_=F+-A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Material accounting policies (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or services
to a customer, the Group determines whether the nature
of its promise is a performance obligation to provide the
specified goods or services itself (i.e. the Group is a principal)
or to arrange for those goods or services to be provided by
the other party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good
or service before that good or service is transferred to a
customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to
arrange for the provision of the specified good or service by
another party. In this case, the Group does not control the
specified good or service provided by another party before
that good or service is transferred to the customer. When the
Group acts as an agent, it recognises revenue in the amount
of any fee or commission to which it expects to be entitled in
exchange for arranging for the specified goods or services to
be provided by the other party.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including leasehold
improvements, buildings, warehouse held for provision of
storage services, furniture, fixtures and equipment and motor
vehicles that are held for use in the production or supply of
goods or services, or for administrative purpose. Property,
plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses,
if any.

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of
properties which includes both leasehold land and building
elements, the entire consideration is allocated between the
leasehold land and the building elements in proportion to the
relative fair values at initial recognition.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Material accounting policies (Continued)
Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can
be made reliably, interest in leasehold land is presented
as “right-of-use assets” in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment less their residual value over
their estimated useful lives using the straight-line method.
The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimates accounted for on
a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of
an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as
the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Lease

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date
of initial application or arising from business combinations,
the Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a
lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception,
modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate.
Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and
conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZEZE-ZT-_=F+-A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Material accounting policies (Continued)
Lease (Continued)

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of
the non-lease components, including contract for acquisition
of ownership interests of a property which includes both
leasehold land and non-lease building components, unless
such allocation cannot be made reliably.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of office premises that have a lease
term of 12 months or less from the commencement date
and do not contain a purchase option. It also applies the
recognition exemption for lease of low-value assets. Lease
payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or another
systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

e the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

e any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received;

e any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

e an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets, restoring
the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying
asset to the condition required by the terms and
conditions of the lease, unless those costs are incurred to
produce inventories.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Rk i

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE-ZT-_=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. S8R RGREXE LS

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Material accounting policies (Continued)
Lease (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Right-of use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities other than adjustments
to lease liabilities resulting from Covid-19-related rent
concessions in which the Group applied the practical
expedient.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain
to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the
end of the lease term are depreciated from commencement
date to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use
assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter
of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS
9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair
value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease
payments and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of
lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating
the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZE T - =F+_-_A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Material accounting policies (Continued)

Lease (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

The lease payments include:

fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable;

variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees;

the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate
the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted
by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)
whenever:

the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the date of reassessment.

the lease payments change due to changes in market
rental rates following a market rent review or a change
in expected payment under a guaranteed residual value,
in which cases the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using the initial
discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Material accounting policies (Continued)
Lease (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate
lease if:

e the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;
and

e the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the
increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to
that standalone price to reflect the circumstances of the
particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability based
on the lease term of the modified lease by discounting the
revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the
effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities
by making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-
of-use asset. When the modified contract contains a lease
component and one or more additional lease or non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the
modified contract to each lease component on the basis of
the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZE T - =F+_-_A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Material accounting policies (Continued)
Lease (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Changes in the basis for determining the future lease
payments as a result of interest rate benchmark reform

For changes in the basis for determining the future lease
payments as a result of interest rate benchmark reform,
the Group applies the practical expedient to remeasure the
lease liabilities by discounting the revised lease payments
using the unchanged discount rate, unless the change in
lease payments results from a change in floating interest
rates. In that case, the Group uses the revised discount
rate that reflects change in the interest rate and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets.
A lease modification is required by interest rate benchmark
reform if, and only if, both of these conditions are met:

e the modification is necessary as a direct consequence of
interest rate benchmark reform; and

e the new basis for determining the lease payments is
economically equivalent to the previous basis (i.e. the
basis immediately preceding the modification).

The Group as lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance
or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership
of an underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is classified
as a finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating
leases.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Material accounting policies (Continued)
Lease (Continued)

The Group as lessor (Continued)

Classification and measurement of leases (Continued)

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are
recognised as receivables at commencement date at amounts
equal to net investments in the leases, measured using the
interest rate implicit in the respective leases. Initial direct
costs (other than those incurred by manufacturer or dealer
lessors) are included in the initial measurement of the net
investments in the leases. Interest income is allocated to
accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of
return on the Group’s net investment outstanding in respect
of the leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset and recognised as an expense on a straight-line
basis over the lease term.

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

When a contract includes both leases and non-lease components,
the Group applies HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers ("HKFRS 15") to allocate consideration in a
contract to lease and non-lease components. Non-lease
components are separated from lease component on the
basis of their relative stand-alone selling prices.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to
fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional
lease payments from lessees.

Greater China Financial Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2023

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Rk i

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE T - =F+_A=+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

3. i BMRARRELENE
RNEETER ()

EXREFHBE(E)
HE (§)
AEEEBHAA ()
MEZzDBNE (8)

REEVE S AT AR RIER S A
HERSRWRIE EeBENHEEFR
B UERASEEHETHNRSMEGTE-
MR EEAA (RRERIEHEBLEA
ELANERERIINMAHERFRED
%ﬂﬁ u+im ﬂg%U\?E IEID-I—HHFﬁ
L‘x&@%$’$lﬁﬁ%fﬂﬁﬂ’]ﬂi%ﬁ)ﬂxéﬂ’]
Bl 7E & Hid g K o

REHENESBATDREEESFHIA
ERENBRPER -RNBE R LHEE
HERSIBNVIFZEERRATDNERESR
ENREE TRESFHAEBHEER
R -

REENEESNNEED

BHRBEEHERFEAER DK K
E.Q%)ﬂ%ﬁ%ﬂﬁ% REERIFESHRA L
EFPENZHUA ([BRMBHRELERS
1558 ) - BAENNRESEERE LIFHE

== 3E?ﬂ‘** D i AR 5 AR 98 3 5
EBERERSTD AR -

REHERS

ERFREHERS IREFEV B RS
HRNFERARL I IE A FEFTE -
IRFERRES B AT EMEAERR AEEA
HERSMEE TR -




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZEZE-ZT-_=F+-A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Material accounting policies (Continued)
Lease (Continued)

The Group as lessor (Continued)

Sublease

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for
the head lease and the sublease as two separate contracts.
The sublease is classified as a finance or operating lease by
reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head
lease, not with reference to the underlying asset.

Lease modification

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that were not
part of the original terms and conditions are accounted for
as lease modifications, including lease incentives provided
through forgiveness or reduction of rentals.

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease
as a new lease from the effective date of the modification,
considering any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating
to the original lease as part of the lease payments for the
new lease.

For rent concession under which the Group legally releases
the lessee from its obligation to make specifically identified
lease payment, of which some of these lease payments are
contractually due but not paid and some of them are not yet
contractually due, the Group accounts for the portions which
have been recognised as operating lease receivables (i.e. the
lease payments which are contractually due but not paid) by
applying the expected credit loss (“ECL") and derecognition
requirements under HKFRS 9 and applies lease modification
requirements for the forgiven lease payments that the Group
has not recognised (i.e. the lease payments which are not yet
contractually due) as at the effective date of modification.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Material accounting policies (Continued)
Lease (Continued)

The Group as lessor (Continued)

Lease modification (Continued)

Changes in the basis for determining the future lease
payments as a result of interest rate benchmark reform

For changes in the basis for determining the future lease
payments as a result of interest rate benchmark reform for
a finance lease that is not accounted for as a separate lease,
the Group applies the same accounting policies as those
applicable to financial instruments (see accounting policy
below).

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the entity’'s
functional currency (foreign currencies) are recognised
at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried
at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the
fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise,
except for exchange differences on monetary items receivable
from or payable to a foreign operation for which settlement
is neither planned nor likely to occur, therefore forming
part of the net investment in the foreign operation, which
are recognised initially in other comprehensive income and
reclassified from equity to profit or loss on disposal or partial
disposal of the Group’s interests in associates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZEZE-ZT-_=F+-A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Material accounting policies (Continued)
Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group, that is Hong Kong dollars, using the exchange
rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period.
Income and expense items are translated at the average
exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates
fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case the
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling
interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation, that is a disposal
of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or
a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an
interest in a joint arrangement or an associate that includes
a foreign operation of which the retained interest becomes a
financial asset, all of the exchange differences accumulated in
equity in respect of that operation attributable to the owners
of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary
that does not result in the Group losing control over the
subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated exchange
differences are re-attributed to non-controlling interests
and are not recognised in profit or loss. For all other
partial disposals, that is partial disposals of associates or
joint arrangements that do not result in the Group losing
significant influence or joint control, the proportionate share
of the accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to
profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation are
treated as assets and liabilities of that foreign operation and
are translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end
of each reporting period. Exchange differences arising are
recognised in other comprehensive income.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Material accounting policies (Continued)
Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants
are intended to compensate.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for
the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the
Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they become receivable. Such
grants are presented under “other income”.

The benefit of a government loan at a below-market rate of
interest is treated as a government grant, measured as the
difference between proceeds received and the fair value of
the loan based on prevailing market interest rates.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for
intangible assets with finite useful lives is recognised on
a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The
estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective
basis. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are
acquired separately are carried at cost less any subsequent
accumulated impairment losses.

Greater China Financial Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2023

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Rk i

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE T - =F+_A=+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

3. i BMRARRELENE
RNEETER ()

EXREFHBE(E)
BT B

Bz}ﬁ%@ﬁﬂ?%ﬁ&* AR BEEEABRE
75 B 7K 52 B 15 38 <F B B A 6 B A5 W ER A
Eij’

BB IR A& .Hﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁﬁjﬁﬁ%ﬁ%*ﬁ
AR AR BRI R EER
BEmP R

EREPABTBNEELEX HHBEENME
B HENRAASERH‘NKMBED
(3 4 B R AARE AR AS) B UK BT /3 B > T5
REKABREEFAEERE AR %
BN TEMBAIET 25

BER TSN R BRI BT ERA R8RS
BB B WS FIRERIZBITH S
NEFBEZERAFERNZRTE-
BIEEE (BEHFI)
FHWE B EE

ERlEmMAERAIEAFHCEBIEE
RAANR R 5T H M AR REHRUERB B
FR-BEERAIERAFR 2 EBLEERERT
AERFHANEREEREE - NER
SHRBS G A EREHLREETTE
AEHEMES c FERAIBERELEASR -
ERlEmAERAIEAFHCEBIEE
BRI R & R ER B K-



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZE T - =F+_-_A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Material accounting policies (Continued)
Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (Continued)

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised separately from goodwill and are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is
regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired
in a business combination with finite useful lives are carried
at costs less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets
that are acquired separately. Intangible assets acquired in a
business combination with indefinite useful lives are carried
at cost less any subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no
future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal.
Gains and losses arising from the derecognition of an
intangible asset, measured as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are
recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

Impairment on tangible and intangible assets other than
gooadwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets with
finite useful lives to determine whether there is any indication
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss (if any). Intangible assets with indefinite
useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are
tested for impairment at least annually, and whenever there
is an indication that they may be impaired.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Material accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment on tangible and intangible assets other than
gooadwill (Continued)

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, and intangible assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an asset individually, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate
assets are also allocated to individual cash generating units,
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-
generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset (or a cash generating unit) for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is reduced to its recoverable amount. In allocating the
impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. The carrying
amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest of its
fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use
(if determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment
loss that would otherwise have been allocated to the asset
is allocated pro-rata to the other assets of the unit. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so
that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZEZE-ZT-_=F+-A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Material accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when
a group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instruments. All regular way purchases or sales of
financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require the delivery of assets
within the time frame established by regulation or convention
in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value except for trade receivables arising from
contracts with customers which are initially measured in
accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and
financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to
or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVTPL") are recognised immediately in profit
or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected
life of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.

Interest income which are derived from the Group's ordinary
course of business are presented as revenue and interest
expense are recognised on an effective interest basis.

For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets,
a credit-adjusted effective interest rate is calculated by
discounting the estimated future cash flows, including
expected credit losses, to the amortised cost on initial
recognition.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Material accounting policies (Continued)
Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

e the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

e the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both selling and collecting
contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL,
except that at initial recognition of a financial asset the
Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes
in fair value of an equity investment in other comprehensive
income if that equity investment is neither held for trading
nor contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer
in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 Business
Combinations applies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZE T - =F+_-_A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Material accounting policies (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial

assets (Continued)

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that are required to be measured at amortised cost
or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.

(i)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently
at amortised cost and debt instruments subsequently
measured at FVTOCI. For financial instruments other than
purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets,
interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset, except for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired (see below). For financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset
from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the
credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that
the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit impaired.

For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial
assets, the Group recognises interest income by applying
the credit-adjusted effective interest rate to the amortised
cost of the financial asset from initial recognition. The
calculation does not revert to the gross basis even if the
credit risk of the financial asset subsequently improves so
that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Rk i

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE T - =F+_A=+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Material accounting policies (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial

assets (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)
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Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

At the date of initial recognition, the Group may make
an irrevocable election (on an instrument-by-instrument
basis) to designate investments in equity instruments as
at FVTOCI.

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are
initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs.
Subsequently, they are measured at fair value with gains
and losses arising from changes in fair value recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
Revaluation Reserve; and are not subject to impairment
assessment. The cumulative gain or loss will not be
reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the equity
investments, and will be transferred to accumulated
losses.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments
are recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to
receive the dividends is established, unless the dividends
clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost of the
investment. Dividends are included in the “Other income,
gains and losses” line item in profit or loss.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the
end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains
or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or
loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend or
interest earned on the financial asset and is included in
the “other gains and losses” line item.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZE T - =F+_-_A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Material accounting policies (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under ECL
model on financial assets which are subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated
at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since
initial recognition.

The Group applies the ECL model to the following items:

— financial assets measured at amortised cost (including
loans and interest receivables, deposits, cash and cash
equivalents and trade and other receivables); and

— financial guarantee contracts issued.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL ("12m ECL")
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to
result from default events that are possible within 12 months
after the reporting date. Assessments are done based on the
Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at the
reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables. The ECL on these assets are assessed individually
for debtors with significant balances and/or collectively with
internal credit ratings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increase in the likelihood or risk of a
default occurring since initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Rk i

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE T - =F+_A=+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Material accounting policies (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment

assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i)

Greater China Financial Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2023

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

e significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, for example, a significant increase in
the credit spread, the credit default swap prices for
the debtor;

e existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

e an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZE T - =F+_-_A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Material accounting policies (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment

assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 90 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
365 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Rk i

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE-ZT-_=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Material accounting policies (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment

assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Greater China Financial Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2023

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have
occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

¢) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower's financial difficulty,
having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that
the lender(s) would not otherwise consider;

d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

e) the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when
the amounts are over 2 years past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets write-off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group's recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit
or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E B RRMTE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZE T - =F+_-_A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. S8R EXE LS
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL NEETR (5)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
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fEf/f%‘ B R E 9T A (TR (E

LAY 2 AR (E (4B

(v) BHEEEBRNFERER

Material accounting policies (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default, that is the magnitude of
the loss if there is a default, and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default occurring
as the weights. The Group uses a practical expedient in
estimating ECL on trade receivables using a provision
matrix taking into consideration historical credit loss
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Generally, the ECL is estimated as the difference between —RimE BHEEEBERESLD

all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition.

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is required
to make payments only in the event of a default by the
debtor in accordance with the terms of the instrument
that is guaranteed. Accordingly, the ECL is the present
value of the expected payments to reimburse the holder
for a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts that the
Group expects to receive from the holder, the debtor or
any other party.

For ECL on financial guarantee contracts for which the
effective interest rate cannot be determined, the Group
will apply a discount rate that reflects the current market
assessment of the time value of money and the risks
that are specific to the cash flows but only if, and to the
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Material accounting policies (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their
carrying amount, with the exception of trade receivables,
other receivables, deposit paid and loans and interest
receivables where the corresponding adjustment is
recognised through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.
If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group continues to recognise the asset
to the extent of its continuing involvement and recognises
an associated liability. If the Group retains substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial
asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset
and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the
proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument
which the Group has elected on initial recognition to
measure at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously
accumulated in the revaluation reserve is not reclassified to
profit or loss, but is transferred to accumulated losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZE T - =F+_-_A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Material accounting policies (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by a group entity are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is
recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method or at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including borrowings, trade payables and
other payables are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest rate method.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Material accounting policies (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)

Convertible notes

The component parts of convertible notes issued by the
Company are classified separately as financial liabilities and
equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability
and an equity instrument. A conversion option that will be
settled by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another
financial asset for a fixed number of the Company’s own
equity instruments is an equity instrument.

At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability component
is estimated using the prevailing market interest rate for
similar non-convertible instruments. This amount is recorded
as a liability on an amortised cost basis using the effective
interest method until extinguished upon conversion or at the
instrument’s maturity date.

The conversion option classified as equity is determined
by deducting the amount of the liability component from
the fair value of the compound instrument as a whole.
This is recognised and included in equity, net of income tax
effects, and is not subsequently remeasured. In addition, the
conversion option classified as equity will remain in equity
until the conversion option is exercised, in which case, the
balance recognised in equity will be transferred to share
premium. When the conversion option remains unexercised
at the maturity date of the convertible notes, the balance
recognised in equity will be transferred to retained earnings.
No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss upon conversion
or expiration of the conversion option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible
notes are allocated to the liability and equity components
in proportion to the allocation of the gross proceeds.
Transaction costs relating to the equity component are
charged directly in equity. Transaction costs relating to the
liability component are included in the carrying amount of
the liability portion and amortised over the period of the
convertible notes using the effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZEZE-ZT-_=F+-A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Material accounting policies (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Except for changes in the basis for determining the
contractual cash flows as a result of interest rate benchmark
reform in which the Group applies the practical expedient,
when the contractual terms of a financial liability are
modified, the Group assess whether the revised terms result
in a substantial modification from original terms taking
into account all relevant facts and circumstances including
qualitative factors. If qualitative assessment is not conclusive,
the Group considers that the terms are substantially different
if the discounted present value of the cash flows under the
new terms, including any fees paid net of any fees received
and discounted using the original effective interest rate, is
at least 10 per cent different from the discounted present
value of the remaining cash flows of the original financial
liability. Accordingly, such exchange of debt instruments or
modification of terms is accounted for as an extinguishment,
any costs or fees incurred are recognised as part of the gain
or loss on the extinguishment. The exchange or modification
is considered as non-substantial modification when such
difference is less than 10 per cent.

For non-substantial modifications of financial liabilities that
do not result in derecognition, the carrying amount of the
relevant financial liabilities will be calculated at the present
value of the modified contractual cash flows discounted
at the financial liabilities” original effective interest rate.
Transaction costs or fees incurred are adjusted to the carrying
amount of the modified financial liabilities and are amortised
over the remaining term. Any adjustment to the carrying
amount of the financial liability is recognised in profit or loss
at the date of modification.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Material accounting policies (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)

Chanages in the basis for determining the contractual cash
flows as a result of interest rate benchmark reform

For changes in the basis for determining the contractual cash
flows of a financial asset or financial liability to which the
amortised cost measurement applies as a result of interest
rate benchmark reform, the Group applies the practical
expedient to account for these changes by updating the
effective interest rate, such change in effective interest rate
normally has no significant effect on the carrying amount of
the relevant financial asset or financial liability.

A change in the basis for determining the contractual cash
flows is required by interest rate benchmark reform if and
only if, both these conditions are met:

e the change is necessary as a direct consequence of
interest rate benchmark reform; and

e the new basis for determining the contractual cash flows
is economically equivalent to the previous basis (i.e. the
basis immediately preceding the change).

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date
when the derivative contracts are entered into and are
subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end of the
reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss.

Embedded derivatives

Derivatives embedded in hybrid contracts that contain
financial asset hosts within the scope of HKFRS 9 are not
separated. The entire hybrid contract is classified and
subsequently measured in its entirety as either amortised cost
or fair value as appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZE T - =F+_-_A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Material accounting policies (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)

Embedded derivatives (Continued)

Derivatives embedded in non-derivative host contracts that
are not financial assets within the scope of HKFRS 9 are
treated as separate derivatives when they meet the definition
of a derivative, their risks and characteristics are not closely
related to those of the host contracts and the host contracts
are not measured at FVTPL.

Generally, multiple embedded derivatives in a single
instrument that are separated from the host contracts are
treated as a single compound embedded derivative unless
those derivatives relate to different risk exposures and are
readily separable and independent of each other.

Guarantees issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the issuer, that
is the guarantor, to make specified payments to reimburse
the beneficiary of the guarantee (the “holder”) for a loss
the holder incurs because a specified debtor fails to make
payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt
instrument.

Where the Group issues a guarantee, the contracted fee
of the guarantee is initially recognised as deferred income
within liabilities from guarantees. Where consideration is
received or receivable for the issuance of the guarantee, the
consideration is recognised in accordance with the Group’s
policies applicable to that category of asset. Where no such
consideration is received or receivable, an immediate expense
is recognised in profit or loss on initial recognition of any
deferred income.

The guarantee issued and not designated as at fair value
through profit or loss is initially recognised at its fair value less
transaction costs that are directly attributable to guarantees
issued.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Material accounting policies (Continued)
Guarantees issued (Continued)

Credit losses from financial guarantees issued

Subsequent to initial recognition, the Company measures
the financial guarantee contracts at the higher of: (i) the ECL
allowance determined in accordance with the policy; and (ii)
the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, the
cumulative amount of income recognised.

The Group monitors the risk that the specified debtor will
default on the contract and recognises a provision when ECLs
on the financial guarantees are determined to be higher than
the amount carried in “liabilities from financial guarantees”
in respect of the guarantees.

To determine ECLs, the Group considers changes in the
risk of default of the specified debtor since the issuance of
the guarantee. A 12m ECL is measured unless the risk that
the specified debtor will default has increased significantly
since the guarantee is issued, in which case a lifetime ECL is
measured.

As the Group is required to make payments only in the
event of a default by the specified debtor in accordance with
the terms of the instrument that is guaranteed, an ECL is
estimated based on the expected payments to reimburse the
holder for a credit loss that it incurs less any amount that the
Group expects to receive from the holder of the guarantee,
the specified debtor or any other party. The amount is then
discounted using the current risk-free rate adjusted for risks
specific to the cash flows.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZE T - =F+_-_A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Material accounting policies (Continued)
Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the current and
deferred tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit before tax, as
reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income because of items of income
or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years
and items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised
for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary differences arise from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit and at the time of the
transaction does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are
not recognised if the temporary differences arise from the
initial recognition of goodwill.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Material accounting policies (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the temporary differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences associated
with such investments and interests are only recognised to
the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-
of-use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to
the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial
accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is
included in the accounting for the business combination.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZE T - =F+_-_A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Material accounting policies (Continued)
Employee benefits

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme and
national statutory social security insurance scheme are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions.

Termination benefits

A liability for a termination benefit is recognised at the earlier
of when the Group entity can no longer withdraw the offer
of the termination benefit and when it recognises any related
restructuring costs.

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the
benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after
deducting any amount already paid.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term employee
benefits are measured at the present value of the estimated
future cash outflows expected to be made by the Group in
respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting
date. Any changes in the liabilities’ carrying amounts
resulting from service cost, interest and remeasurements are
recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that another
HKFRS requires or permits their inclusion in the cost of an
asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Rk i

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE T - =F+_A=+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Material accounting policies (Continued)

Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

(i)
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Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and
others providing similar services are measured at the fair
value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

For grants of share options that are conditional upon
satisfying specified vesting conditions, the fair value of
services received is determined by reference to the fair
value of share options granted at the grant date and is
expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period,
with a corresponding increase in equity (share option
reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revised its
estimates of the number of equity instruments that are
expected to ultimately vest. The impact of the revision
of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or
loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised
estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to share
option reserve transferred to retained profits.

For share options that vest immediately at the date of
grant, the fair value of the share options granted is
expensed immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in the share option reserve will be transferred
to share capital and share premium. When the share
options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still
not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to
accumulated losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZEZE-ZT-_=F+-A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Material accounting policies (Continued)
Share-based payments (Continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions (Continued)

(i) Share options granted to employees (Continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with
parties other than employees are measured at the fair
value of the goods or services received, except where that
fair value cannot be estimated reliably, in which case they
are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments
granted, measured at the date the entity obtains the
goods or the counterparty renders the service. The fair
values of the goods or services received are recognised
as expenses (unless the goods or services qualify for
recognition as assets).

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Related parties

(@) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE T - =F+_A=+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Material accounting policies (Continued)
Related parties (Continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and
fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member
of a group of which the other entity is a member).

(iii) both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group. If the Group is itself such a
plan, the sponsoring employers are also related to the
Group.

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (i).

(vii)a person identified in (i)(a) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personal services to
the Group or to the Group's parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZE T - =F+_-_A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Material accounting policies (Continued)
Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate
of the consideration required to settle the present obligation
at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the
risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a
provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle
the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present
value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time value
of money is material).

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated
reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability,
unless the probability of outflow is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow is remote.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past
events and whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain
future events not wholly within the control of the Group.
A contingent asset is not recognised but is disclosed in
the notes to the consolidated financial statements, where
necessary, when an inflow of economic benefits is probable.
When inflow is virtually certain, an asset is recognised.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Material accounting policies (Continued)
Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated
statement of financial position include:

(@) cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand
deposits, excluding bank balances that are subject to
regulatory restrictions that result in such balances no
longer meeting the definition of cash; and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term (generally
with original maturity of three months or less), highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible to a known
amount of cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value. Cash equivalents are held for the
purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments rather
than for investment or other purposes.

. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in note 3, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
underlying assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

Greater China Financial Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2023

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Rk i

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE-ZT-_=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. S8R RGREXE LS

RNEETBR &)

EXREFHBE(E)
He RALEEY

A MREFEBYVNEEFHRRNEKES
Bk

) Re HERFARS LEHMEFR T
@%%é%ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ’—vﬁﬁf’ﬁ %TE
NEREEBENRITER K

b) REFEY HEEEH AT R
AR=MEAxRER) ABENERAE
MBERSBEEZPRBTIANS
MBUERE-ReEBYRIERITRE
MR AR MIEARNZELHAME
g o

EEZ oM M EHET T IAERR
AZErF ERR

REREN MM E3NANEE S HRRE
ARAREFAHREKELBEERFH
BE;AEREEFLHE - féﬁ.ﬁr&fﬁ“ﬂ
Té.ﬁr&*ﬁF%TE““E?FETJ’%BEZ“‘%A&,HJ‘MEZ
RARANEREL -BERERA LA A
EGEZ%"TE.#

AEEFE @A LA ERR - HEFT
Eﬂ+{Eu+§$;;ﬂEHj1Eu+{ DTE}]HHFEﬁ E‘J
R AEAERER] KETFELANH
Ko R R HAE - ﬁ'JEA{’Eﬁ nTE”JHHFEﬁ)SUEPK
HiM R A RRIER]



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZE T - =F+_-_A=+—HILFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Critical judgements in applying the Group’s accounting
policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the directors of the
Company have made in the process of applying the Group's
accounting policies and that have the most significant effect
on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements

Classification for warehouse for provision of storage services

The Group determines whether the warehouse in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") should be classified
as property, plant and equipment or an investment property.
The warehouse is used to generate warehouse storage
income that comprises warehouse rentals and income
from the supply of warehouse logistics services. In making
its judgement, the directors of the Company considered
that income and cash flows from warehouse rentals and
warehouse logistics services are interdependent and cannot
be separated. In addition, the directors of the Company
determined that the provision of warehouse logistics services
is significant to the warehouse storage operation as a whole.
For these reasons, the directors of the Company considered
that the warehouse is classified as property, plant and
equipment in accordance with HKAS 16 Property, Plant and
Equipment.

Control over non-wholly owned subsidiaries

Note 42 describes that the Group held less than a majority of
ownership interest and voting rights in its non-wholly owned
subsidiaries.
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AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Critical judgements in applying the Group’s accounting
policies (Continued)

Control over non-wholly owned subsidiaries (Continued)

The directors of the Company assessed whether or not
the Group has control over Xin Yunlian Advertising
Media (Zhejiang) Company Limited and Ninbo Yunlian
MicroFinancing Company Limited based on whether the
Group has the practical ability to direct the relevant activities
of these non-wholly-owned subsidiaries unilaterally by
considering the Group’s absolute size of holding in them, the
relative size and dispersion of holdings of other shareholders
and the practical right to appoint the majority members
of the board of directors of these non-wholly owned
subsidiaries. After their assessments, the directors of the
Company concluded that the Group has the current ability
to direct the relevant activities of these non-wholly owned
subsidiaries and affect the amount of the Group’s return.
Therefore, the Group has control over these non-wholly
owned subsidiaries.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of the reporting period, that may have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZEZE-ZT-_=F+-A=+—HIEFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets

Property, plant and equipment mainly represents the
Group's warehouse property. Property, plant and equipment
are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets
exceeds recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of
the property, plant and equipment other than warehouse
is determined with reference to the fair value less costs
of disposal of those property, plant, and equipment. The
recoverable amount of warehouse is determined based on a
valuation carried out by an independent qualified professional
valuer not connected with the Group, using the depreciated
replacement cost approach. An impairment loss is measured
as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the recoverable amount. Where the recoverable amount is
less than expected, a material impairment loss may arise.

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment, other
than the carrying amount of warehouse of HK$49,447,000 (2022:
HK$58,803,000), is HK$2,292,000 (2022: HK$3,118,000).

Right-of-use assets are reviewed for impairment when
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount of the assets exceeds recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is determined with reference to the fair
value of the right-of-use assets less costs to sell or the future
expected cash flows. An impairment loss is measured as
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
recoverable amount. Where the recoverable amount is less
than expected, a material impairment loss may arise.

The recoverable amount of right-of-use assets of leasehold
land is determined based on a valuation carried out by an
independent qualified professional valuer not connected with
the Group, using the depreciated replacement cost approach.
The carrying amount of right-of-use assets is HK$18,774,000
(2022: HK$20,008,000).
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AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets (Continued)

The Group performed impairment assessment of the Group’s
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets for
the years ended 31 December 2023, no impairment loss has
been recognised for property, plant and equipment (2022:
Nil) and impairment loss of HK$Nil (2022: HK$426,000) has
been recognised for right-of-use assets.

Impairment loss on goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an
estimation of the value in use of the cash generating units
to which goodwill has been allocated. The value in use
calculation requires the Group to estimate the future cash
flows expected to arise from the cash-generating units and a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value.
When the actual future cash flows are less than expected,
a material impairment loss may arise. As at 31 December
2023, the carrying amount of goodwill is HK$Nil (2022:
HK$110,070,000), net of accumulated impairment losses of
HK$471,354,000 (2022: HK$367,784,000).

Provision of ECL

The measurement of impairment losses under HKFRS 9
across all categories of financial assets requires significant
judgment and estimation, in particular, the assessment of a
significant increase in credit risk and credit-impaired financial
assets as well as the estimation of the amount and timing
of future cash flows and collateral values when determining
impairment losses. These estimates are driven by a number
of factors, changes in which can result in different levels
of allowances. At each reporting date, the Group assesses
whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk
for exposures since initial recognition by comparing the
risk of default occurring over the expected life between
the reporting date and the date of initial recognition. The
Group considers reasonable and supportable information
that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort
for this purpose. This includes quantitative and qualitative
information and also forward-looking analysis. Details of the
key assumptions and inputs used are set out in note 48(b) to
the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZEZE-ZT-_=F+-A=+—HIEFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Provision of guarantee losses

The Group makes reasonable estimate on expenses required
to fulfil the relevant obligations of guarantee contracts when
the Group computes the provisions of guarantee losses. Such
estimation is made based on the available information as at
the end of each reporting period and is determined by the
Group’s practical experience, default history of the business,
taking into consideration of industry information and market
data. It is possible that the practical experience and default
history is not indicative of future loss on the guarantees
issued. Any increase or decrease in the provision would affect
profit or loss in future years.

Fair value of financial assets at FVTPL — profit guarantee and
incentive payment

The fair value of financial assets at FVTPL — profit guarantee
and incentive payment arising on the acquisition of
subsidiaries was determined by using valuation techniques.
The Group uses its judgement to select an appropriate
basis from a variety of methods and makes assumptions,
including the discount rates, estimation of post-acquisition
performance of the acquired subsidiaries and the probability
of meeting their profit targets. They are subsequently
remeasured to fair value at the end of each reporting period.
Changes in assumptions used could materially affect the
fair value of the balances and as a result affect the Group’s
financial position and results of operation.

The carrying amount of financial assets at FVTPL — profit
guarantee and incentive payment as at 31 December 2023
was HK$189,924,000 (2022: HK$188,021,000).

Fair value measurement of other financial instruments

When the fair values of financial assets and financial
liabilities recorded in the consolidated statement of financial
position cannot be measured based on quoted prices in
active markets, their fair value is measured using valuation
techniques including the discounted cash flow model. The
inputs to this model are taken from observable markets
where possible but where this is not feasible, a degree of
judgement is required in establishing fair values. Judgements
include consideration of inputs such as liquidity risk, credit
risk and volatility.
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AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in a number of
jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required in determining
the provision for income taxes in various jurisdictions. There
are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate
tax determination is uncertain. The Group recognises
liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates
of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final
tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts
that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the
current and deferred income tax assets and liabilities in the
period in which such determination is made.

Deferred taxes

The directors of the Company exercise full control over the
dividend policy of subsidiaries in the PRC. In the opinion
of the directors of the Company, it is not probable that
dividends would be declared by the PRC subsidiaries in the
foreseeable future. Accordingly, the Group did not provide
additional deferred tax in 2023 related to the unremitted
earnings of the PRC subsidiaries that are subject to
withholding taxes once distributed.

Going concern consideration

The directors of the Company have prepared the consolidated
financial statements on the assumption that the Group will be
able to operate as a going concern in the foreseeable future,
which is a critical judgement that has the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated
financial statements. The assessment of the going concern
assumptions involves making a judgement by the directors,
about the future outcome of events or conditions which are
inherently uncertain. The directors consider that, after taking
into account of all major events or conditions which may give
rise to business risks, that individually or collectively may cast
significant doubt upon the going concern assumptions as set
out in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group has the capability to continue as a going concern.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE-ZT-_=F+_-_A=+—HIFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E B RRMTE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZEZE-ZT-_=F+-A=+—HIEFE

5. REVENUE 5. WA
An analysis of the Group's revenue for the year is as follows: REBRFANKRASFTOT
2023 2022
—_=E2_= =S
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FA&TT
Revenue from contracts with customers: PEESRR= N L0l NS
Warehouse storage income B EF A 16,580 17,308
Income from loan financing business EXMEEB ZB/A
— Loan referral and consultancy —BER#EN RFBARKE
services fee 13,245 52,622
— Guarantee fee income from —HMEERIEREBERA
financial guarantees 8,214 109,148
Commission income from BHER G2 RWA
securities dealing 55 31
Commission income from R4 2 e BA
insurance brokerage 3,632 2,709
Commission income from EEEEZASKWA
asset management 44 15
Advertising income B EWA 1,160 7,023
42,930 188,856
Revenue from interest under effective RERERFNEELFTE
interest method: F B Y e
Interest income from loan financing ERmE 2 FEWA 6,480 13,095
Total revenue FEU PN 49,410 201,951
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE-ZT-_=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION 6.

The Group's operations are organised into securities
brokerage, asset management, insurance brokerage, loan
financing, industrial property development business and
general trading. Information reported to the chief operating
decision maker ("CODM") for the purpose of resources
allocation and assessment of segment performance is
prepared on such basis. During the year ended 31 December
2023, management has revisited the reportable segments
and the Group's internal reporting by managing its business.
After considering the future strategic plan, the Group has
identified the following four reportable segments. The
corresponding segment information for the year ended 31
December 2022 have been restated. The Loan financing (I)
segment and Loan financing (ll) segment as disclosed in the
last year have been restated into Loan financing segment.

— Industrial property development segment represents the
operation of a warehouse in the PRC.

— General trading segment includes trading of consumable
goods in the PRC.

— Loan financing segment represents the provision of
financial guarantee, loan financing, micro-financing, loan
referral and consultancy services in Hong Kong, Ningbo
and Beijing.

— Others segment represents the operation of securities
brokerage, margin financing, provision of asset
management services and provision of insurance
brokerage and agency service in Hong Kong and
advertising service in the PRC.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E B RRMTE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZE-ZT-_=F+-_A=+—HIEFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. D ESE KL ()
Segment revenues and results DEBARFE
The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and NTRAEERAZHRD HE D KA K
results by reportable segments. B
For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE-Z-_=F+-A=+—HLFE
Industrial
property General Loan
development trading financing Others Total
I%A
NEERE —RES EXRmE Hith @5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx TEx TR T TR
SEGMENT REVENUE 2EEA
Recognised at a point in time RE-REEER - - 4 3,731 3,735
Recognised over time BREC®ER 16,580 - 21,455 1,160 39,195
Recognised from other source ARMRREERR - - 6,480 - 6,480
16,580 - 27,939 4,891 49,410
SEGMENT RESULTS PEEE (3.758) (1,904) (411,003) (2,083) (418,748)
Impairment loss on goodwill BERNEFSR - = (110,070) = (110,070)
Impairment loss on loans to and ERTHERERR
interest receivables from a EWHAENRESE
non-controlling interest - - (41,105) - (41,105)
Impairment loss on other receivables  fth & Uk 7 18 49 Rl B 5 18 (12,932)
Unallocated corporate income RABMEEKRA 52,863
Unallocated corporate expenses ROMEEBX (22,948)
Unallocated finance costs RO WA BHAE (17,397)
Net fair value change on financial ~ EBREZEAFEFIRMN
assets at fair value through SRMEECLATESBTE
profit or loss (1,624)
Share-based payment expenses MRA XA RER X (603)
Loss before taxation BRBAIER (572,564)
Income tax expense FEBEx (42,661)
Loss for the year FRER (615,225)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE_Z_=Ft+-_HA=1T—HLEFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. DEBE K ()
Segment revenues and results (Continued) DEBMAREE (B)
For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE_T-_—_F+-_A=+—HILHFE
Industrial
property General Loan
development trading financing Others Total
I%A
MELE —-%E% ERmE Hith Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THT FHT TR FHT
SEGMENT REVENUE DEUA
Recognised at a point in time RE-KED B2 - - 18 2,755 2,773
Recognised over time BEREE HR 17,308 = 161,752 7,023 186,083
Recognised from other source BEMRFE#R - - 13,095 = 13,095
17,308 - 174,865 9,778 201,951
SEGMENT RESULTS PEEE 1,254 (22,260) (137,169) (2,887) (161,062)
Impairment loss on goodwill BERESE = = (117,963) = (117,963)
Impairment loss on loans to and ERT-EHERERR
interest receivables from a EWEM S REERE
non-controlling interest - - (117,501) - (117,501)
Unallocated corporate income ROBREERA 20,984
Unallocated corporate expenses APECERX (24,319)
Unallocated finance costs R BT (15,701)
Net fair value change on financial assets & BB & A FETIERA
at fair value through profit or loss SRMEELATEE IR 34,388
Share-based payment expenses AR A HIER Y (1,787)
Loss before taxation BT ATE B (382,961)
Income tax expense EBR% (14,964)
Loss for the year FREE (397,925)

All of the segment revenues from continuing operations
reported above are from external customers.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E B RRMTE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZE-ZT-_=F+-_A=+—HIEFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. DEPERL (m)
Segment assets and liabilities PHEEHEAE
The following is an analysis of the Group's assets and NTRAEEEERABKRAIZHD S
liabilities by reportable segments. D E)DHT o

At 31 December 2023

R-ZE-_=%+-A=+—H

Industrial
property General Loan
development trading financing Others Total
I%H
MERRE -RE% EXRmE Hith @5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx TEx TET TEx TET
ASSETS BE
Segment assets SHEE 77,366 15,489 103,610 6,481 202,946
Goodwill [k - - - - -
Loans to and interest receivables EXTF-EFERERR
from a non-controlling interest EWHRE - - - - -
Unallocated cash and AABESR
cash equivalents ReSEY 3,206
Unallocated property, plant and AOENE BERRE
equipment 135
Unallocated other receivables, AOTEAERE
prepayments and deposits BARERES 17,022
Unallocated financial assets AOBMEATEF AL ZERE
at fair value through other MeREE
comprehensive income 516
Unallocated financial assets AOWMEATETABEMN
at fair value through profitorloss &RBEE 193,302
Consolidated total assets REEEHE 417,127
LIABILITIES 8
Segment liabilities PBEE 65,876 16,878 726,016 4,315 813,085
Unallocated other payables RO WA ESHE 3,433
Unallocated borrowings AOBEE 34,400
Unallocated lease liabilities AOBBEEE 871
Unallocated amount due to AOBENFERERTE
non-controlling interests 11,167
Unallocated convertible notes AABURRER 205,938
Consolidated total liabilities SAREBELE 1,068,894
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE T - =F+_A=+—HItFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. DELE R (@)
Segment assets and liabilities (Continued) PHEEHREE(E)
At 31 December 2022 W-_ZT-—F+-_A=+—H
Industrial
property General Loan
development trading financing Others Total
I%A
MELE —-%E% ERmE Hith Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THT FHT TR FHT
ASSETS BE
Segment assets NEEE 83,647 7,897 520,877 11,11 623,532
Goodwil HE - - 110,070 - 110,070
Loans to and interest receivables ERT—EFERERR
from a non-controlling interest FEWEFE - - 36,148 = 36,148
Unallocated cash and AOERER
cash equivalents Re%EY 4,049
Unallocated property, plant and ROENE BERZE
equipment 193
Unallocated other receivables, R B B RO E -
prepayments and deposits BRFERES 1,392
Unallocated financial assets ) @ETEQ?TEJ)\EI%%EHMT&
at fair value through other MemEE
comprehensive income 4,938
Unallocated financial assets AOERATEFABER
at fair value through profit or loss SREE 194,926
Consolidated total assets HEEEBE 975,248
LIABILITIES af5
Segment liabilities NPEE 47,553 28,406 700,279 4,724 780,962
Unallocated other payables R B E BT 3008 3,116
Unallocated borrowings ROEEBEE 23,400
Unallocated lease liabilities APEMEAR 3,792
Unallocated amount due to ROEENFERERTE
non-controlling interests 9,497
Unallocated convertible notes AOETHRER 189,992
Consolidated total liabilities GoaBes 1,010,759
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Other information

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E B RRMTE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZE—-T—

6. D EPE R ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

=F+-A=T—RHILFE

BE-ZE-_=F+-A=1+—HLFE

Industrial
property General Loan
development trading financing Others  Unallocated Total
I%R
NERR -RES ENRE Hit ROE @5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
THER THR TEx TR TR THR
Information included in segment HADBEE/ P DEEN
results/segment assets: 8
Depreciation nE 8,553 - 1,519 50 58 10,180
Bank interest income RITFEWA 8) (23) (50) (26) = (107)
Other loans interest income HERAEKA - - (7.432) - = (7.432)
Finance costs BBEE 3,056 1,031 15,058 83 18,006 37,234
(Gain) loss on disposal of property, ~ HENE -BER
plant and equipment Kz (WE) B8 - - 9 - (230) (221)
Impairment losses HEESE - - 393,274 15 12,933 406,222
Provision for financial quarantees ~ BEEREE - - 50,177 - - 50,177
For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE_ZE-_—_F+-_A=t1t—HIFE
Industrial
property General Loan
development trading financing Others  Unallocated Total
T4F
NEERE R85 ENHE Efy KAE Ech
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FHT THET THT T FHL
Information included in segment SADDEE/ HPEEN
results/segment assets: &#:
Depreciation wE 9,275 - 2,885 57 67 12,284
Bank interest income SRITFIBMA (18) (19 (449) (5) = (491)
Other loans interest income EEFRHEMA = S (10,871) = = (10,871)
Investment income BERA - - (1) = S (41)
Finance costs Ip TN 3,476 1,188 15,004 356 15,702 353816
Loss on write-off of property, wEnE BER
plant and equipment HE2 BB - - - 10 - 10
Impairment losses HEES - 20,850 218,383 3 = 239,236
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets IR E ER(ERFE - 174 252 - = 426
Provision for financial quarantees HEERREE = S 70,516 = = 70,516
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE-ZT-_=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6.

Geographical information

The Group's operations are located in Hong Kong and the
PRC.

The Group's revenue from continuing operations from
external customers based on the locations of operations and
information about its non-current assets other than deferred
tax assets by geographical location of the assets are detailed

o EBE R (#)
hEE R
A o b B A A 7 o

WA 257 40 B AR A B0 R B9 D SR
O A T WA R E P 0
SHFRBEE RERBEERI) 2
&

below:
Revenue from
external customers Non-current assets
REIMREFHBA kRBEE
2023 2022 2023 2022
—E-= —E-= —E-= —E-fF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FAET FET FET
Hong Kong B 3,731 2,755 190,575 304,076
PRC H 45,679 199,196 78,487 90,196
49,410 201,951 269,062 394,272
Information about major customers FBXEEFHNESR
Revenue from customers of the corresponding years REBEFRERBLEAEERKA10%A L
contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group are WERZWART :
as follows:
2023 2022
—=E-= —ET-=
HK$°000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Customer A' EPA 15,443 N/A 38 F
Customer B? & B2 N/ATER 22,359

' Revenue from industrial property development. The
corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of total
revenue of the Group during the year ended 31 December

2022.

" REIERYEZEERABRA-BE_ZT
T+ A=t+—BHIEFEENEBKA
WA AN E BB AFI10%A E e

2 Revenue from loan financing. The corresponding revenue did
not contribute over 10% of total revenue of the Group during
the year ended 31 December 2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E B RRMTE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZEZE-ZT-_=F+-A=+—HIEFE

7. OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES 7. Bl A s R E1E

2023 2022
=== —F=-=
HKS$'000 HK$'000
FET FHIT
Net fair value change on financial assets at EAFEFAEBZNSRHEE
fair value through profit or loss ZANTHEEEFE (1,624) 34,388
Interest income from: FEWAKRE :
Bank deposits RITFRK 107 491
Other loans HEaE® 7,432 10,871
Loans to a non-controlling interest ERT—IEEERER 4,691 20,885
Other receivables H {th & YRR 2,002 =
Investment income ‘ERA - 41
Realised loss on disposal of financial assets £ &% A F(ET ABEEH
at FVTPL TREEZEEHEBE - (421)
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEWE BB RFE 2 K=
equipment 221 -
Loss on write-off of property, plant and WHME BWEREBZERE
equipment - (10)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEWB AR W= 145 -
Gain on de-registration of subsidiaries EE L= NS g 31 -
Loss on lease modification MERBZEE - (217)
Gain on lease termination ME®IEz W 4,725 -~
Gain on non-substantial modification of BEFERBR W
borrowings (note 31(b)) (HI5E31(b)) 146 3,735
Gain on substantial modification of tRMEEEAXNERZ W
financial asset (note 25(g)) (FF7E25(g)) 40,781 -
Net foreign exchange gain (loss) b s (B8 ) F58 4 (6)
Service fee income AR B U A 4,487 995
Management service income EREN T PN - 11
Bad debt recovered ZAR Y 222 3,345
Government subsidies I8 42 B - 676
Sundry income I A 614 707
63,984 75,491
APESHERERAT | —T=_=FF%k 153
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Rk i

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE T - =F+_A=+—HItFE

8.

IMPAIRMENT LOSSES, NET OF REVERSAL 8. WEEE - HIkR D
2023 2022
—E_= —_EF_—
HK$'000 HK$ OOO
Impairment loss (reversal of impairment loss) B #5275 & 18 2B (EEE
recognised on: (BEEERE) :
— Trade receivables and other receivables — JiE LUK BR 3 N E b i U 3R 52,188 99,771
— Loans and interest receivables —EWE R NFE 302,743 1,449
— Other deposits —Hibiz® 4,136 20,533
— Loans to and interest receivables from —ERTF—IEIFERESE R
a non-controlling interest JE W EL I B 41,105 117,501
— Loans to and interest receivables from —BEXF—REBLE TN
an associate fEUR B R 8 (436) (18)
— Amounts due from associates — FE U Bt & A B FRIE 6,486 -
406,222 239,236
Note: B 7

Details of impairment assessment are set out in the note 48(b) to

the consolidated financial statements.

FINANCE COSTS

ARG B E R 47 6 M # WK 5E48(b) ©

9. BITER A

2023 2022

—E_-= —E - F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FE&TT

Effective interest on convertible notes AR ERERF S 15,946 14,712
Interest on lease liabilities HERERE 371 955
Interest on bank loans RITERF B 4,472 6,704
Interest on other loans HhEFE 16,445 13,445
37,234 35,816
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZEZE-ZT-_=F+-A=+—HIEFE

10.INCOME TAX EXPENSE

10. P8R <

2023 2022
=== —F=-=
HKS$'000 HK$'000
FET FHTT
Current tax: E HATRIE -
PRC Enterprise Income Tax RS 4,989 5,297
Under provision in prior years: BEFERETIE:
PRC Enterprise Income Tax H B 1 ZEFTSA 1,410 1,717
Deferred tax (Note 33): EAERSIE (MIFE33) -
Current year RFEE 36,262 7,950
42,661 14,964

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong
Profits tax, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying
group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2
million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities
not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will
continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

The directors of the Company considered the amount
involved upon implementation of the two-tiered profits tax
rates regime as insignificant to the consolidated financial
statements. Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of
the estimated assessable profit for both years. No provision
for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as the Group's
subsidiaries in Hong Kong have no estimated assessable
profits for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT") is calculated at the
applicable rates based on estimated taxable income earned
by the PRC subsidiaries of the Group with certain tax
concession, based on existing legislation, interpretation and
practice in respect thereof.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprises Income Tax (the
“EIT Law"”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law,
the applicable PRC EIT rate of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries is
25% for both years.

BEEBNESHEOFNESHMESH  &EHK
EEE N E2,000,000 7T 5% M #5 LA
8.25% My i B # - &8 #82,000,0007% 7T
2w F i A16.5% R Tl R B - NS FI
SHMAHEENEE BRGNS EE

1216.5%H) 5 — T KM -

AKAREERE BHAESH WA G TS
FReBEGETERAMEBIEKR
REF EEBFESHIZ G EREEF
A16.5%TE AR AEBEREENWEB
NRARBE_E_ =R -_—F+—

B EAE L E BN S HBE -

FRMEMEHR (IEEMEHR]) HER
HBEFEN 2R RENREXNTEESR
T HBEE 2 AL BN BB TR
At ERTBABRARRFE -

BIBFBREEMEFE ([REMSRE]D)
M EMBFIEE MBI - A% B Bk
BRARNMEFEZERTRHCEMSH
K E25% °

— T —
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE T - =F+_A=+—HItFE

10.INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the
loss before tax in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income as follows:

10. P15 4 1 57 (@)

AEEMEVAX A EES

BakHEmz

E YR AR BRT AT B B E RN T -

2023 2022
—=E-= —EF-—
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
Loss before taxation BR 5 A BT 48 (572,564) (382,961)
Tax at the domestic income tax rate of 25% 1% B A A5 Fi Fi K25%
(2022: 25%) (ZE =% :25%) (143,141) (95,740)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible AR MB A R B 2
for tax purpose 204,442 121,614
Tax effect of income not taxable BARGWANTFZE
for tax purpose (35,469) (27,782)
Under provision in prior years BAFERETRE 1,410 1,717
Tax effect of unrecognised temporary AERLTRZENTBTE
differences 940 (420)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised KA W%LL%RIEQFZ
as deferred tax asset MIBEBNMETE 596 6,794
Utilisation of tax losses previously BABTARERNMIEEIR
not recognised 583 (2,133)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries ~ R Eth FlE R L ER
operating in other jurisdictions MEBARITRBENTE 13,300 10,914
Income tax expense for the year FRMFHAX 42,661 14,964

Greater China Financial Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2023



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E B RRMTE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZEZE-ZT-_=F+-A=+—HIEFE

11.LOSS FOR THE YEAR NARNFEEE
Loss for the year from continuing operations has been arrived KEFELEEBNAFEBFREAGRT
at after charging the following items: 5|18 B g ER:
2023 2022
—E-= —EF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHEIT

Auditor’s remuneration % ELRD B &

— audit services — Z RS 1,400 1,450

— other services —H A IR 350 350
Depreciation of right-of-use assets TRAEEERE 1,634 2,916
Depreciation of property, plant and M- BERRETE

equipment 8,546 9,368
Lease payments for short-term lease WARFAHEBEFEZ

not included in the measurement of RHEEN K

lease liabilities 820 1,079
Staff costs (including directors’ emoluments) & TAXA (BIEE EH <) 33,119 47,196

12.DIVIDENDS 12.0 B
No dividend was paid, declared or proposed during the year REBEZE_T-_=F+T-A=+—8HLF
ended 31 December 2023. The directors of the Company did B BEKN ERIBRRERE KA
not recommend the payment of dividend in respect of the AEFT IAEERBE_T-_=F+=-H
year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil). =T —RALEFERMNERE(ZE__F:
/) o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE T - =F+_A=+—HItFE

13.BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS BEZFMZLER (BELQF
(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION e 3 (5 6225)%38 1!% NET
383 OF THE HONG KONG COMPANIES (HEBEEEFRER) RN (F

ORDINANCE (CAP. 622), COMPANIES
(DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ABOUT
BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION (CAP.
622G) AND HK LISTING RULES)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

Directors’ and chief executive's remuneration for the year,
disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, is as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2023

622GE ) hEEA L MABARET
H 4 2 )

() EERTHARME

RIBE A LR R R EFE R BRGI
BONESERITRARFAMSO T :

BE-_ZE_=F+=-A=+—HL#F
E

Salaries, Contribution  Share-based
allowance to retirement payment
and other  Discretionary benefits expenses Total
Fees benefits bonus schemes (Notea) emoluments
MR %%
Fe 2ZHR BREA RERAX
e HitfE A ML HEIftS (Miza) e
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
THEL THEL TET TET TEL THEL
Executive directors HTES
Mr. LIU Kequan, Chairman AR FEE(ER) - 3,600 300 18 - 3918
Mr. YANG Dayong, BRBRE (THAR)
Chief Executive Officer - 1,200 - 18 - 1,218
Mr. CHEN Zheng A% & - 720 - 18 - 738
- 5,520 300 54 = 5874
Non-executive director FHTES
Mr. ZHANG Peidong T RAE - 180 - 9 - 189
Independent non-executive BUFHTES
directors
Mr. KWAN Kei Chor BERRE 360 - - - - 360
Mr. ZHOU Liangyu ARFRE 360 - - - - 360
Dr. YU Ziang ataET 180 - - - 16 196
900 - - - 16 916
Total emoluments L 900 5,700 300 63 16 6,979
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZEZE-ZT-_=F+-A=+—HIEFE

13.BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION
383 OF THE HONG KONG COMPANIES
ORDINANCE (CAP. 622), COMPANIES
(DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ABOUT
BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION (CAP.
622G) AND HK LISTING RULES) (Continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
(Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BEEMmAkiER (FEQF
& (2 622F ) £383{5K > A A
(FBEEEMNEER) B (%
622GE ) N BB FR AR E
MHEE) ()

() ESRTHARME (15)

Bz - —_F#+-_A=+—HI&F
g

Salaries, Contribution ~ Share-hased
allowance to retirement payment
and other  Discretionary benefits expenses Total
Fees benefits bonus schemes (Notea)  emoluments
PARR AR 52
Ge RER RINER FERAX
ik At iR BB FTEIfE (Fitifa) Hens
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEL FEL TEL THL TAr FEL
Executive directors HTESE
Mr. LIU Kequan, Chairman AnFhE(ER) - 3,600 300 18 = 3918
Mr. YANG Dayong, BABRE (THER)
Chief Executive Officer - 1,200 - 18 - 1,218
Mr. CHEN Zheng RAE% & = 720 = 18 = 738
- 5,520 300 54 - 5,874
Non-executive director FYTES
Mr. ZHANG Peidong FARAE - 180 - 9 = 189
Independent non-executive BUkHTES
directors
Mr. KWAN Kei Chor BERLE 360 - - - - 360
Mr. ZHOU Liangyu ARFRE 360 - - - - 360
Dr. YU Ziang BfRET 180 - - - 47 27
900 - - - 47 %7
Total emoluments Heas 900 5,700 300 63 47 7,010
Note: Mzt -

(@) The value of share options granted to the director of the
Company under the share option scheme of the Company
and its subsidiaries represents the fair value of these
options charged to the consolidated income statement for
the year in accordance with HKFRS 2.

() RIBARRREME QBB EE
BYARRREECBREEEE%S
BREZATE(CREZEMBR
SRAUFRNAFREZHEEWRERA
RR)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE T - =F+_A=+—HItFE

13.BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS BEZFMZLER (BELQF

(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION

383 OF THE HONG KONG COMPANIES
ORDINANCE (CAP. 622), COMPANIES
(DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ABOUT
BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION (CAP.
622G) AND HK LISTING RULES) (Continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
(Continued)

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above
were mainly for their services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company and the
Group during the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022.

The non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above
were mainly for their services as directors of the Company
or its subsidiaries during the years ended 31 December
2023 and 2022.

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments
shown above were mainly for their services as directors
of the Company or its subsidiaries during the years ended
31 December 2023 and 2022.

There was no arrangement under which a director
or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during the year ended 31 December 2023
(2022: Nil). In addition, no emoluments were paid by the
Group to any of the directors as an inducement to join,
or upon joining the Group or as a compensation for loss
of office for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022:
Nil).

(b) Directors’ termination benefits

None of the directors received or will receive any
termination benefits during the year (2022: Nil).
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(c)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZE T - =F+_-_A=+—HILFE

13.BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION
383 OF THE HONG KONG COMPANIES
ORDINANCE (CAP. 622), COMPANIES
(DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ABOUT
BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION (CAP.
622G) AND HK LISTING RULES) (Continued)

Consideration provided to third parties for making
available directors’ services

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company
did not pay consideration to any third parties for making
available directors’ services (2022: Nil).

(d) Information about loans, quasi-loans and other

(e)

dealings in favour of directors, controlled bodies
corporates and connected entities with such
directors

During the year ended 31 December 2023, there is no
loans, quasi-loans and other dealing arrangements in
favour of the directors, or controlled body corporates and
connected entities of such directors (2022: Nil).

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

Save for those disclosed in note 41, no significant
transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to
the Company’s business to which the Company was a
party and in which a director of the Company had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted
at the end of the year or at any time during the year
(2022: Nil).

13.EEF %=

)SUF%E”(%E*E”
& (5 6225)%3831'7& 23 Al
(BFEEEM R Zéfﬂ)%ﬁfﬁﬂ(
622GE ) N BB FR AR E
MHEE) ()

() BMFLEERBRAF=FRHANKE

BE_ZT_=—F+-_RA=1+—HBL*F
B ARRBMERIFELESRE AT
AF=ZIXHRE(ZFT_—F:#) -

(d) FEUES -ZEFZAERRZS
EENHREERAZEANER ¥
EXRREMIZHNER

BE_ZT_=—F+-_RA=1+—HBL*F
B BEEENES JIEFIAAER
&E%?%%E’Jﬁ%@%ﬁ%ﬁ‘f?%x s NE
FEERMEMR ST (ZFT ==
FE) -

(e) EXERNXRZ RHAEGHNTHNERE
=

BRETEFAIHEEEIN AR EH
¥BEI U ARRBERITNAT AR
REEERIHEREEAERMRY
FRIFANEMERDAGFTENER
R LBHREHN(ZEZF &) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE-ZT-_=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

14.FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees of the Group during the
year included two directors (2022: two), details of whose
remuneration are set out in note 13 above. Details of the
remuneration for the year of the remaining three (2022:
three) highest paid employees who are neither a director nor
a chief executive of the Company are as follows:

“BhER=#HESR

FRNEAEEREESHEEEFEMA (=
T F MB)ABES EMEeHFBHER
FXKFI3 B I =R (ZE - —F: =
BIWHEARRESHITHRABHEN TS FH
EERFANMESFBOT:

= —

2023 2022

—_=E_= ==
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FE& T
Salaries, allowances and other benefits e R RHMER 4,440 5,100
Performance related bonus EWRRETEAL 370 425
Contributions to retirement benefit scheme R {K4E F 5+ 2|4 5% 54 54
Share-based payment expenses ARR 7 2 R RIE R XX 103 305
4,967 5,884

The number of the highest paid employees who are not
the directors of the Company and whose remuneration fell
within the following bands is as follows:

ATEIAFARREENRSHEEA
B FRF N E -

2023 2022

—=E=-= Tz
No. of No. of
employees employees
EEAR EEAZ
HK$nil to HK$1,000,000 T AT E 1,000,000/ 7T = =
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001/ 7T £1,500,000/% 7T 2 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7T %2,000,000/% 7T = 1
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001% 7T £2,500,000/% 7T 1 1
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 7 7T 3,000,000/ 7T = =
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 7T 3,500,000/ 7T = =
3 3

During the year ended 31 December 2023, no remuneration
was paid by the Group to any of the three (2022: three)
highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of office
(2022: Nil). There were no arrangements under which any
of the three (2022: three) highest paid individuals waived or
agreed to waive any remuneration during the year ended 31
December 2023 (2022: Nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZEZE-ZT-_=F+-A=+—HIEFE

15.LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic and diluted loss per share attributable
to the owners of the Company is based on the following
data:

Loss figures are calculated as follows:

15. F I E 1R

RRBHEBEANEBIEERENRETEHRTS
BT IIBEE

BREFZFAEMT

2023 2022
=B = —F -
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHEIT
Loss i Fi=]
Loss for the year attributable to owners of ~ FAETE &R E AR K #EE 18
the Company for the purpose of basic MEMARRREE A
and diluted loss per share FEAE F NEHE (472,487) (326,213)
2023 2022
—B-= T
‘000 ‘000
TR T
Number of shares ROEE
Number of ordinary shares TR E e 7,775,857 7,775,857

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the loss
attributable to owners of the Company, and the number of
shares of approximately 7,775,857,000 ordinary shares (2022:
7,775,857,000) in issue.

Diluted loss per share for the year ended 31 December 2023
and 2022 did not assume the exercise of the outstanding
share options since this would result in a decrease in loss per
share. No adjustment was made in calculating diluted loss
per share for the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022
as conversion of convertible notes would result in a decrease
in loss per share. Accordingly, the diluted loss per share is the
same as the basic loss per share.

RPESRMERERAF

BREXRBEIIBRBARREE ARELE
1B & TR S A 497,775,857,0000% (= Z
— —%:7,775,857,0000% ) 5t & °

HE_ZT_=Fk=-Z-_—_F+=-H4
=+t HUEFEZEREEERTEBR
TE M ARITEBRE AR IR g8
BEREBRL NFEHEE—_T_=F
E—E - —F+-_A=1+—BILEENSH
BREEEESTEELARZR REAER
REEREEHFRERRD Bt
RS EsEEETREANEEBAER-

“ECFFR
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16.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Rk i

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE-ZT-_=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

16. 9% B Mk te

Furniture,
Leasehold fixtures and Motor
improvement ~ Warehouse  equipment vehicles Total
HE BR-£E
MEEE BE ET ] AE okl
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FTET BT TAET THEL
Cost %N
At 1 January 2022 R-T--F—-F—H 1,087 168,812 7,266 2,958 180,123
Additions E - - 19 - 19
Disposal HE - = (40) = (40)
Wirite-offs g - - (171) - (171)
Transfer to assets held for sale BREHELEEE - - (1,082) = (1,082)
Exchange realignment B 5 5% (63) (13,237) 412) (154) (13,866)
At 31 December 2022 and R-B-_—_F+-A=+—-HRk
1 January 2023 —E-=%—H—H 1,024 155,575 5,580 2,804 164,983
Additions RE - - 6 - 6
Disposal HE - - (404) = (404)
Exchange realignment I 5 % (19) (4,183) (145) (49) (4,396)
At 31 December 2023 RZBZZH+ZA=+-H 1,005 151,392 5,037 2,755 160,189
Depreciation and impairment FERHE
At 1 January 2022 RZZE-_—F—H—H 81 96,058 4,257 2,711 103,107
Provided for the year KEEREE 290 8,507 462 109 9,368
Disposal HE = = (38) = (38)
Write-offs G| - - (161) = (161)
Transfer to assets held for sale ERTRENEEAE - - (1,082) = (1,082)
Exchange realignment I % (13) (7,793) (189) (137) (8,132)
At 31 December 2022 and RZBZZF+-A=+-8BkK
1 January 2023 —E-=%—-F—H 358 96,772 3,249 2,683 103,062
Provided for the year KEREG 298 7,829 391 28 8,546
Disposal HE - - (378) = (378)
Exchange realignment fE i % 9) (2,656) (69) (46) (2,780)
At 31 December 2023 R-B-=f+-A=+-H 647 101,945 3,193 2,665 108,450
Carrying amounts REE
At 31 December 2023 R-ZE-=%+-A=+-H 358 49,447 1,844 90 51,739
At 31 December 2022 WZE-—F+-A=+—-H 666 58,803 2,331 121 61,921
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E B RRMTE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZE T - =F+_-_A=+—HILFE

16.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)  16.¥1% - BB M55 (&)

The above items of property, plant and equipment are Lt -BERZEEBEEFEATIFHN
depreciated on a straight-line basis at the following rates per RIREREETERE
annum:
Leasehold Over the shorter of remaining MEMEEE REOFKRFEKR20%
improvements unexpired terms of the leases (A\EREH 5%)
and 20%
Warehouse 5% BE 5%
Furniture, fixtures and ~ 10%-33% RE-EHER 10%%E33%
equipment B
Motor vehicles 20%-33% i} 20%%£33%
The warehouse is situated on land in the PRC held under a BEARPE T - BIEAE A
medium-term land use right. XA -
17.RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 7EAEEE
Leasehold Office
lands premises Total
HELH BWAEYE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FHET FHET
As at 31 December 2023 R-E-_=F+-A=+—H
Carrying amounts REE 18,774 - 18,774
As at 31 December 2022 R-ZTE-_-f+=-A=+—H
Carrying amounts FREE 20,008 2,808 22,816
For the year ended BE-_FT-_=F+=-H=+-—H
31 December 2023 LFE
Depreciation charge nES 700 934 1,634
Termination of leases RIEHEE - 1,818 1,818
Exchange realignment ME 5, 58 B 534 56 590
For the year ended BE-Z-_—_F+=-H=+—H
31 December 2022 LFE
Depreciation charge HES 737 2,179 2,916
Impairment loss recognised B R E=ERZRAEEE
in profit or loss - 426 426
Exchange realignment PE &R 1,740 286 2,026
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Rk i

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE T - =F+_A=+—HItFE

17.RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued) 17 EBEEE (%)

2023 2022

=== Tz
HKS$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Expense relating to short-term lease Eﬁiﬂﬁﬁfﬂfﬁ A H) > 820 1,079
Total cash outflow for lease MERSMHESE 5,126 8,658
Additions to right-of-use assets mﬁ@ﬁﬁ EEE - 1,815

The Group leases various offices in Hong Kong and the AEERBEERTREESEHAEAR
PRC for its operations. Lease contracts are entered into for LE cHESHNEZ6F ZHEIRI LM
fixed term up to 6 years. Lease terms are negotiated on an f%%’()ﬂzﬂl?ﬂﬁ PR RS RETE
individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms f%?’ﬂ&f'ﬂ# A S E M HA R AT S A e
and conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing HEHNHRE NEBEASANERT
the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies BEEAAR RGBT M-

the definition of a contract and determines the period for

which the contract is enforceable.

The Group has obtained the land use right certificates for all REBE DA EE L HES T A
leasehold lands. Feld

In addition, lease liabilities of HK$918,000 are recognised N RZEZ=F+A=1T—80"'B

with related right-of-use assets with an aggregate carrying
amount of HK$Nil as at 31 December 2023 (2022: lease
liabilities of HK$11,552,000 and related right-of-use assets
of HK$2,808,000). The lease agreements do not impose
any covenants other than the security interests in the leased
assets that are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be
used as security for borrowing purposes.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not enter into any
lease that is not yet commenced (2022: Nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E B RRMTE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZEZE-ZT-_=F+-A=+—HIEFE

Particulars regarding impairment testing on goodwill are disclosed in

note 20 to the consolidated financial statements.

RPESRMERERAF

EEREZRENAFBEREA T B REM T
20%% #& °

— == —
=
= __

18.GOODWILL 18. &
2023 2022
=== —EZ=
HKS$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Cost AR
Balance at beginning of the year FHEER 477,854 492,354
Transfer to assets held for sale EHRERIFHEEE - (14,500)
Disposal of a subsidiary HEMB AR (6,500) -
Balance at end of the year FRER 471,354 477,854
Accumulated impairment losses ZitREER
Balance at beginning of the year FYEEER 367,784 264,321
Impairment loss recognised for the year FAEBRBIEEE 110,070 117,963
Transfer to assets held for sale ERERFHEEE - (14,500)
Eliminated on disposal of a subsidiary o B B 8 A B L 8 (6,500) S
Balance at end of the year FOREEER 471,354 367,784
Carrying amount FREE
Balance at end of the year FREERR - 110,070
Note: B 5T

= FFIR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MRz
For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE T - =F+_A=+—HItFE
19.INTANGIBLE ASSETS 19.8\ L EE
Information
Trading  integration
right platform Total
REE EEERTEE et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FATT FA&TT FAT
Cost 2%
At 1 January 2022 R—ZTE-_—_F—H—H 500 11,866 12,366
Transfer to assets RS IEHEEE
held for sale (500) - (500)
Exchange realignment ME 3 - (930) (930)
At 31 December 2022 and R-E-_—_F+=-_A=+—H
1 January 2023 R-EB-=#—F—8H - 10,936 10,936
Exchange realignment BEE 5, 33 B - (294) (294)
At 31 December 2023 R-ZEBE-_=F+=-HA=+—8H - 10,642 10,642
Amortisaton and BERRE
impairment
At 1 January 2022 N-_E-_—_F—H—H - 11,866 11,866
Exchange realignment (RIS = (930) (930)
At 31 December 2022 and R—E-_—_#F#+=-_A=+—H
1 January 2023 N_Z_=F—H—H - 10,936 10,936
Exchange realignment b 5 2 - (294) (294)
At 31 December 2023 R=-B-=%+=-A=+-—H - 10,642 10,642
Carrying amounts REE
At 31 December 2023 R=-B=-=%+=-A=+-—H - - -

At 31 December 2022 R-—ZE-_—_F#+=-A=+—8H _ N
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZEZE-ZT-_=F+-A=+—HIEFE

19.INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

The trading rights are retained for stock trading and
stockbroking activities. The trading rights are considered to
have indefinite lives because they are expected to contribute
to the net cash flows of the Group indefinitely, and are
not amortised. Instead they will be tested for impairment
annually and whenever there is an indication that they
may be impaired. Particulars of the impairment testing are
disclosed in note 20 to the consolidated financial statements.

Information integration platform provides all the foundational
building blocks of trusted information, including data
integration, data warehousing, master data management,
big data and information monitoring. The right of using
information integration platform is capitalised on the basis
of the costs incurred to acquire the specific software. These
costs are amortised over their estimated useful lives of 10
years. The management performed impairment assessment
on intangible assets of each cash-generating unit in
accordance with HKAS 36. The management estimated
the recoverable amount of those cash-generating units of
which these intangible assets have been allocated are lower
than the carrying amount of these intangible assets. As the
carrying amount of information integration platform was
HKS$Nil, no further impairment loss was recognised.

20.IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL

AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS WITH INDEFINITE
USEFUL LIFE

For the purpose of impairment testing, the carrying amounts
of goodwill out in note 18 allocated to subsidiaries in the
micro-financing and financing referral operations (“Tobacco
Financing CGU") as follows:

19.8 & E (#)

RIBERBEREZEERBELLE-
AR ZEAEERUASE RS RE
FEZEMYERPAMBEERBEERF
Hi s B - AT B BERIRE
A LA R0 AT BE H 3R R (B B SR B 1T 08
A o B E R B RIS R AR B B 5 Rk MY 7E20
R -

EEERFERHMBEGSEEEESNR
B EBREEEK BEAE THEE
B AREELREEEZE-ERAEERKT
BHRNESBAEERMFMEERAN 2
HEEETERNE R FRARE10F A
AERFHETHE-EEERERES
ATERIE36R HRBSELBUNER
BEETREME - EEEENZFED
FEFEENRSELBMMNAIKEI SR
EHAE -ZEFREELEUNTKRE S
BERULFELEENEREE - ARNER
SRFENEMERT AT LEE—F
MR E RS -

20. 7 & o BLEERR 0] {6 F 4 B AY

BB ENRE R

SUBREREM S WME18EmE k|
BEPEZENEERLBEEN ZHEHMN
BAr ([EEMERSELEMWMT:

Goodwill
5k
2023 2022
—=E2_-= —E-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT FBL

Tobacco Financing CGU

- 110,070

RAESHMERBRIF | — T _=FF%



170

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE-ZT-_=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

20.IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL

20. 7 N BLEERR 0] A 4 B AY

AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS WITH INDEFINITE
USEFUL LIFE (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, with reference
to the professional valuation performed by the independent
valuer, the management of the Group has determined
that an impairment loss of HK$110,070,000 (2022:
HK$117,963,000) arose in relation to goodwill allocated to
Tobacco Financing CGU. There were no material changes
in the methodology and sources of market data applied
in the valuation between 2023 and 2022. After reviewing
the performance of Tobacco Financing CGU in 2023, the
management of the Group revised the carrying amounts
of Tobacco Financing CGU downwards based on cash flow
forecasts.

The recoverable amount of Tobacco Financing CGU is
determined based on a value-in-use calculation with the
assistance of the independent professional qualified valuers
not connected with the Group. The calculation uses cash
flow projections based on financial budgets approved
by management covering a two-year period (2022: four-
year period). The discounted rate applied to the cash
flow projections is 12.5% (2022: 18.04%). In view of the
continual losses in loan financing segment, the management
decided to slow down the loan referral business to mitigate
the risks associated with defaults and to minimise further
loss. As the restructuring plan for the loan referral business
is implementing, there is no growth was assumed when
extrapolating to later period (2022: cash flows beyond the
financial budgets period were extrapolating using a growth
rate of 2% after considering the economic conditions of the
market).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZEZE-ZT-_=F+-A=+—HIEFE

20.IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL

AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS WITH INDEFINITE
USEFUL LIFE (Continued)

Assumptions were used in the value-in-use calculation of
the CGUs for the year ended 31 December 2023 and 31
December 2022. The major underlying assumptions on which
management has based in the preparation of cash flow
projections to undertake impairment testing of goodwill are
summarised below:

Discount rate per annum — the discount rates used are
before tax and reflect specific risks relating to the respective
industries.

Budgeted revenue and budgeted gross margins —
management determined budgeted gross margins based
on past performance and its expectations of market
development.

Terminal growth rate — the rate used is based on the average
projected inflation rate of the geographical area in which the
business of the CGU operates.

20.

mE N AR B A HR R
& ErRE RIS (8)

HE_T-_—"F+-_A=+—HEKZ=%
T+ A=t HUIFERSELEE
UERABEFEPEFEASE THRR-BE
BETEHERENARRANMFEENIR
ERERAEENEBRAEREBMNT

FIRE-PERNITER R QRB AR
RoWRBRERBITEEENSERR -

BERAMBEENXR-EEBREBRE
KRN HHHROFERETAEEN R -

IR — DA S B A A TR
B 7 T B AR R AR IR
0 b R o

INTERESTS IN AN ASSOCIATE 21. 70 —FE B & A Rl e
2023 2022
—_E_= —=EF-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FE& T
Cost of investment in associates — unlisted R EF&L A TR EHK A —IE LT 307,534 307,534
Share of accumulated post-acquisition loss 25+ &L W12 E1E &
and other comprehensive expense HM2EMAX (38,936) (38,936)
Less: Impairment loss R EEE (268,598) (268,598)
RPESHBERERAT | _ T -_=FFiRK
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE T - =F+_A=+—HItFE

21.INTERESTS IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

The following is the particulars of the associates, which are
unlisted corporate entities whose quoted market price is not
available.

Details of the Company’s associate at the end of the
reporting period are as follows:

it

21. 0 — A B 2 R RI MM e ()

ATRIFLETRARTEBEIEMISHREZ
NIV

ARABERBRREMROFBOAT

Place of Proportion of nominal
incorporation ownership interest Principal
Name and operation attributable to the Company  activities
AREEGEER
a8 LB AL B s B iRy 133401 TEXK
2023 2022

—EC-=HF —E-F

Intraday Financial Information Service British Virgin Islands (“BVI")
Limited (“Intraday Financial”) (Note a)
ReBESRBARAA EBRUEHS
(f?.?%mﬁu) (Ft5Ea) (RBRAEE])

Zhongyan Xin Shangmeng E-commerce  PRC
Limited (“Zhongyan E-commerce”)*
(Note b)

PEFRREFREARA hE
(MMrEEFEK]) (ﬂﬁ&b)

*  For identification only

All of the above associates are accounted for using the equity
method in the consolidated financial statements.

Notes:

(@) The interest on Intraday Financial was fully impaired and the
Group has already shared the losses of the Intraday Financial to
the extent of the Group’s interest in the associate. The Group
has no obligation to take up further losses. The amounts of the
Group's unrecognised share of losses of Intraday Group for the
current year and cumulatively were HK$4,500 (2022: HK$4,100)
and HK$180,700 (2022: HK$176,200) respectively. Considering
that there is no specific plan to revamp the business of Intraday
Financial, the directors of the Company are of the view that no
reversal of the allowance for impairment should be made.

(b) The interest on Zhongyan Group was fully impaired when the
acquisition of subsidiaries was recognised at 31 July 2020
and the Group has no obligation to take up further losses.
The amounts of the Group's unrecognised share of losses of
Zhongyan Group for the current year and cumulatively were
HK$10,788,000 (2022: HK$3,720,000) and HK$17,157,000
(2022: HK6,369,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E B RRMTE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZEZE-ZT-_=F+-A=+—HIEFE

22.FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME

2 RATEEH A2
MeRAE

2023 2022
—EBE-=F —F--
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHEIT
Listed investments: EHERE:
— Equity securities listed in Hong Kong — BB LTHRARES 516 4,938
The movement in the fair value of equity securities are as BAZBEFZ R FEZENAT :
follows:
HK$'000
T
At 1 January 2022 R-ZEBE-_—_F—H—H 3,505
Recognised in other comprehensive income REMEERAZER 6,124
Disposal HeE (4,691)
At 31 December 2022 R-ZTE-—F+-_A=+—H 4,938
Recognised in other comprehensive expenses R E A2 RS R (4,422)
At 31 December 2023 N—E-_=F+=-—A=+—H 516

It represents the Group'’s investments in listed equity securities
designated as FVTOCI. The Group does not intend to dispose
of these investments in the near future.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group sold
certain of its equity investments as this investment no longer
coincided with the Group’s investment strategy. The fair
value on the date of disposal was HK$4,691,000 and the
accumulated loss recognised in other comprehensive income
of HK$86,060,000 was transferred to accumulated losses.

The details of fair value measurement are disclosed in note
49(i) to the consolidated financial statements.

HiEAREREEERERAFEF AR
2ER M EMRAESFZIRE - ANEKE

BEERNEHALERFTRE -

BE_E-_—_#+-_A=+—RI1LtEE"
AEBREEETRARE RARZE
RETBHAAEENKRERE -REE
B HI A A 1 54,691,000 7t - R E At
2 H W R A R 5T E5 886,060,000 7T

WREREE

RN EFEZHFBREE VB RKRME

49() 5 55 o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Rk i

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE T - =F+_A=+—HItFE

23.FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE BERNTFEFABZNS/ME
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS B
2023 2022
—s-= —E=-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Early redemption option on REBELTRREREERE
convertible notes (Note 34) (MF3E34) 3,378 6,905
Profit guarantee and incentive payment AR EE LB E (FYsEa)
(Note a) 189,924 188,021
193,302 194,926
Analysed for reporting purposes as: HERBENSNA:
Current assets MBEE 3,378 6,905
Non-current assets ERBEE 189,924 188,021
193,302 194,926
Note: B 5T
(@) The balance represents the profit guarantee and incentive (a) EREEBUREFERIEERTRAE ([
payment in relation to the acquisition of Xin Yunlian Investment EMOREMNBARIREE AR ([FHE
Limited (“Xin Yunlian”) and its subsidiaries and associates (“Xin BEEDMENRELEBE - BIEES
Yunlian Group”). Pursuant to the sales and purchase agreement Tﬁ% ERAERE BAREAFERARSK

and supplementary agreement, the vendor and vendor
guarantor guaranteed to the indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company that if the aggregate audited net profit after
tax attributable to the Company of Xin Yunlian Group for the
five years ending 31 December 2024 (the "Actual Profit”),
is less than RMB153,000,000 (the “Guaranteed Profit”), the
vendor and vendor guarantor will compensate the Company
for the shortfall for an amount equivalent to the difference
between the Guaranteed Profit and the Actual Profit multiplied
by 1.2 times, the Company shall have the right to deduct the
shortfall from the respective convertible notes (Note 34) at
maturity date; or if in the event that the Actual Profit (subject
to a cap of RMB612 million) exceeds the Guaranteed Profit, the
Company agreed to issue to the vendor additional convertible
notes equivalent to the difference between Guaranteed Profit
and Actual Profit multiplied by 0.2 times to 0.8 times based on
the Actual profit, to settle the incentive payment or pay the
vendor in cash.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the fair value gain
of HK$1,903,000 (2022: HK$43,508,000) was recognised in
profit or loss.

NRIMEZEEEMBRARER HMFTEHE
.Qj$15§j§:—7—@ﬂz+ A=+—
HERARFEFEzEERRBEELHN ([
B s F | ) 48 %8 1K 54 A R #5153,000,0007T
(M M/M‘“IJJ) "BEAREHFERABRT

DEARBEHEE SEHASHR
L}ﬁéﬂ&i SRR 2 EEEIE 2065 AR
B RETE B B B 1 AR RS TR AR K (P FE34)
FHBRARED  HMEE SR (LR B
A R #612,000,0007T ) B 3B 1R & @ %+ A
ANEIREMEFETHEINTHRRZE (48
ERREZNEEREMN =5 BEE
B2 FISR0. 215 20815 ) LA E BB € k)
EHXNBER-

%z —TE-=ZFFT-_A=+—HL=EE
AN FE U 21,903,000 0 (Z T = 4
43,508,000/ 70 ) E R IB s ERR -

ARFEFENFEBREAVBHRERME
A9(i) K &

The details of fair value measurement are disclosed in note
49(i) to the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZE T - =F+_-_A=+—HILFE

24.LOANS AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES 24 EE KA F B
2023 2022
—=E-= —_EF_-
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FET
Other loans HEMEK 555,107 552,993
Less: Impairment allowances B ORE R (518,816) (215,613)

36,291 337,380

Note:

Other loans are loans denominated in RMB made to independent
third parties, of which approximately HK$272,480,000 (2022:
HK$273,595,000) are secured and bear interest rates ranging
from 5% to 6% (2022: 5% to 6%) per annum, and approximately
HK$282,627,000 (2022: HK$279,398,000) are unsecured and bear
interest rates ranging from 6% to 22% (2022: 6% to 22%) per
annum.

An ageing analysis of the loans and interest receivables net of
impairment allowance as at the end of the reporting period,
based on the payment due date, is as follows:

GEE

HEMEE ELA/\E%Hﬁmﬁj%_H/ﬁﬂm
B Ed49272,480,0008 0 (Z & = — &
273,595,000 70 ) BB ER RIRFFEN F5%
Z26% (ZEZ—F N F5%%6%):tE M
47282,627,000/8 T ( =& — — 4 : 279,398,000
BIT) BEERRIRFREN F6%E2% (=
T F 6%E2%)FHE

R E BRIR A SREIH A 10 R W & 3R R A
B CRRRERER) WRREDTIT

2023 2022

=B = —F -
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T
No past due 37 #8380 2R - 158,815
Less than 1 month past due BHIE 118 A — 86,366
1 to 3 months past due #BEE£31E A - -
3 to 6 months past due #mEA3E6fE A - 84
6 months to less than 1 year past due BHEAZETE1F 36,291 20,659
More than 1 year past due B HA R R - 71,456
36,291 337,380

RAESHMERBRIF | — T _=FF%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE-ZT-_=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

24.LOANS AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES (Continued)  24.JEUW B ZX & F| B ()

The movements in impairment allowance of loans and
interest receivables are as follows:

FERERRF B REREZFHNT

2023 2022
—E-= —EF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T
Balance at beginning of the year F AR 215,613 222,965
Amounts recognised during the year FAEHEREHE 302,743 1,965
Amounts reversed during the year FAEREESE - (516)
Amounts recognised for ERREEREERESHE (M)
credit-impaired loans (Note) 6,257 8,681
Exchange realignment & X (5,797) (17,482)
Balance at end of the year FRERR 518,816 215,613
Note: B3 -

The amount represents the increase in impairment allowance
for credit-impaired loans as a result of the increase in their gross
carrying amount due to the passage of time.

Further details on the Group’s credit policy and credit risk
exposure arising from loans and interest receivables are
set out in the note 48(b) to the consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E B RRMTE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZEZE-ZT-_=F+-A=+—HIEFE

25.TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

25. [ i i 7k Ko HL A i WK TR

2023 2022
=== —EZ=
HKS$'000 HK$'000
FET FHIT
Trade receivables arising from: T3 EA 2 EUREREK
Loan referral and consultancy services BEREN RHHARS (Miata)

(Note a) 5,987 7,803
Financial guarantee services (Note b) BEERRE (MsEb) 26,345 45,714
Insurance brokerage commission (Note ¢) R & 42 M S (Histc) 683 82
Asset management fee (Note d) BEEERE (M5Ed) 31 3
Advertising service fee (Note e) BEREE (Hite) - 8

33,046 53,610

Less: Impairment allowance B RE B (29,728) (35,700)

3,318 17,910

Other receivables (Note f and Note g) H A FE MR IE (Y sEf R MdsEg) 253,180 248,654

Less: Impairment allowance R E R (191,916) (161,952)

61,264 86,702

Total trade and other receivables JFE MR B K K L A P WK TR 48 5B 64,582 104,612
Analysed for reporting purposes as: MEREWNDONTA:

Current assets mENE E 61,975 104,612

Non-current assets ERBEE 2,607 -

64,582 104,612

APESRMIZEREBRAT | —T_=—FFH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Rk i

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE-ZT-_=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

25.TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

(b)

()

(d)

(e)

The normal settlement terms of trade receivables from loan
referral and consultancy services are within 30 days upon the
contractual obligation being performed.

The normal settlement terms of trade receivables from financial
guarantee services are mainly within 60 to 90 days upon the
contractual obligation being performed.

The normal settlement terms of trade receivables from product
issuers arising from the provision of insurance brokerage
commission are mainly within 45 to 60 days upon the execution
of the insurance policies and/or receipt of statements from
product issuers.

Credit terms granted to customers of asset management fee
are within 30 days or as mutually agreed between the parties.

The normal settlement terms of trade receivables from
advertising service fee are mainly within 30 days upon the
contractual obligation being performed.

Included in other receivables was default payment receivables
of HK$217,640,000 (2022: HK$210,241,000) in relation to loan
financing operation.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, a subsidiary of
the Group raised a lawsuit in respect of outstanding deposit
of RMB26,000,000 and subsequently reached a settlement
agreement with a cooperator who agreed to refund the
deposit and made compensation to a subsidiary of the Group
of RMB42,370,000 which will be settled by instalment in 22
months. The management of the Group considers that the
terms of the settlement agreement are substantially different
as the discounted present value of the cash flows under the
new terms discounted using the original effective interest rate
is different from the discounted present value of the remaining
cash flows of the original financial asset by more than 10 per
cent. Accordingly, such modification of terms was accounted
for as an extinguishment of the original financial asset and
the recognition of a new financial asset. Therefore, the Group
derecognised the original deposit of RMB26,000,000 and
impairment allowance of RMB26,000,000, and recognised
compensation receivable amounting to RMB36,809,000 as
at the date of extinguishment. The difference between the
aforesaid carrying amounts of the deposit and impairment
allowance derecognised and the aforesaid of the compensation
receivables recognised amounting to approximately
RMB36,809,000 (approximately HK$40,781,000) was
recognised as other gains as set out in note 7 at the date of
modification during the year ended 31 December 2023.

25. & U BR 30 N E i fE W ZRTE ()
B3

(a)

Greater China Financial Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2023

ERREFEN RBARBERZ —REE
HIRREITAMNEMLR30BR-

FEMmEERIRBIERZ —RESEHRE
ZEABITAHNELE60E90HA -

REFRBRELRTEEZRRERETA
R —REEHRIEREIRER
SR ERBETAZEHEERISEC0RR -

BTAEERREFP ZEEHA0B AN
HETH TR E T -

BERBEEBBIER . —REFHRE
BRETAHEMEERIOAAR-

HAHEMERREZ CBEARERBEE
1% 27 FEYUE ©)1~F 3217,640,0008 71 (==
— 4 :210,241,000% 7T °

HE—Z-—=%+-A=+—HItEE"
AEE-ZHBRAAIRAEERS ARE
26,000,000 iR B SFFA  HIZEEAER =
A GETRERERSWMA
BB A REEEARKA42,370,0007T
RRERAPBI N - AEEEBRERS
MEBZNERKETR BAEFIERT
FRARERFNETRAOERITRBE R
REMEEFKRE RN RBEMREI0%
LE-Ht - BEGRFIEITIEARARS
REEBRETeREERR AL K
£ B KR IFERRZ S AR %26,000,0007C
K 1B B 5 A R #26,000,0007T » IF 1 58
Fr B 7R E U B 18 A R #36,809,0007T °
FHERIIERNES RREREBER
BEELTMEEREREENEZBHOAR
#36,809,0007T ( 4940,781,0005% 7t ) E %
B ERERARE _T-_=F+_A
—t+—HIEFEMEMIE (M7
) e



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E B RRMTE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZEZE-ZT-_=F+-A=+—HIEFE
25.TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued) 25. & U BR 30 N E th e UG 3R I8 (&)

K& HIRIZER B R0 RIS (0
FRORER M) MBREE DTN T -

An ageing analysis of the remaining balance of trade
receivables net of impairment allowance as at the end of the

reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

2023 2022
== -T2
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T
0 - 30 days 0£30H 916 2,001
31 - 60 days 31260H 6 1,840
61 — 90 days 61290H 278 1,223
Over 90 days 90H M E 2,118 12,846
3,318 17,910
The movements in impairment allowance on trade receivables FEWERFORERENEESHNT
are as follows:
2023 2022
—E-= —E-—
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
Balance at beginning of the year FYER 35,700 40,375
Amounts recognised during the year FADHRERE 17,871 31,007
Amounts reversed during the year FAERE SR (1) (828)
Amounts written-off during the year FAMIE 2 258 (22,882) (31,688)
Exchange realignment ME 5, 5 & (960) (3,166)
Balance at end of the year FOREEER 29,728 35,700
APESRERERAR | —T-_=FF#%& 179
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE T - =F+_A=+—HItFE

25.TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)  25. & U BR 5% & H b & U 5K 8 (4)
The movements in impairment allowance on other receivables HiEWRIBRERENEZSNT
are as follows:
2023 2022
—E-= —EF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT T

Balance at beginning of the year F AR 161,952 100,218
Amounts recognised during the year FAEHEREHE 34,752 71,989
Amounts reversed during the year FAEREESE (434) (2,397)
Exchange realignment ME 3, 38 B (4,354) (7,858)
Balance at end of the year FRER 191,916 161,952
Further details on the Group’s credit policy and credit risk EBRAEEEERREERBEBRERRE
exposure arising from trade and other receivables are set out fib EUCRIE E E RV E Z F B H MR

in the note 48(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

B WK M 7E48(b)

26.PREPAYMENTS AND DEPOSITS 26 AN I NIRE
2023 2022
—EBE-=F —EF- -

HK$'000 HK$'000

FH&xT FHEIT

Prepayments AR FRIA 4,906 2,712
Rental and utilities deposits e kA ﬁﬁ JIEEE 1,160 1,491
Other deposits (Note) Hize (MizE) 6,136 38,035
12,202 42,238
Less: Impairment allowance B ORE R (4,162) (29,478)
Total prepayments and deposits FENFIERIECESE 8,040 12,760

Analysed for reporting purposes as: MmMEMSOMAT :

Current assets MEBEE 8,040 11,907
Non-current assets ERBEE - 853
8,040 12,760

Note:

As at 31 December 2023, other deposits mainly consist of deposits
paid to co-operators in relation to the Group's guarantee and
trading business, which amounted to HK$6,056,000 (2022:

HK$8,604,000) and HK$nil (2022:HK$29,398,000) respectively.

GEE

RIE-_=F+_A=+—H Eiz&HH
6,056,000 7T ( —Z = — 4 : 8,604,000/8 7T )

&i/%ﬁ(

e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZEZE-ZT-_=F+-A=+—HIEFE

26.PREPAYMENTS AND DEPOSITS (Continued) 26. BN FRIE MR & (1)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, a subsidiary of
the Group has entered into a settlement agreement with
a co-operator of the Group’s general trading business, the
co-operator had agreed to refund the trading deposit and
made compensation to the Group. Hence the original deposit
of RMB26,000,000 (approximately HK$29,398,000) and
impairment allowance of RMB26,000,000 (approximately
HK$29,398,000) were derecognised and an other receivable
was then recognised. The details are disclosed in note 25(g).

The movements in impairment allowance on other deposits
are as follows:

HE-_ T -_=F+-_A=+—HILEFE"
AEB —FERBRAREAER —KRES
¥ —RBEERFILNBE R ZE1E
FEREMASBERER LS MED
BE-H il Rize AR ®26,000,0007T
(#929,398,0008 7t) M R E#H E AR K
26,000,0007T ( #929,398,000/8 7T ) & 4% |
MR UTHREREREMEWRIA -F15
FAMIE25(g) i 55

Hitiz e B ERENEFHNT

2023 2022

—=E-= —F- -
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FHT
Balance at beginning of the year FHER 29,478 9,706
Amounts recognised during the year FAEHEREHE 4,139 20,905
Amounts derecognised during the year FADRILERERE (29,450) =
Amounts reversed during the year FAEREESE (3) (372)
Exchange realignment ME 5 58 B (2) (761)
Balance at end of the year FOREEER 4,162 29,478

Further details on the Group’s credit policy and credit risk
exposure arising from other deposits are set out in the note
48(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

BERAKBEERRMRAEMIESNE
ERERE ZFBEHNGRE VB HRRM T
48(b) -

RAESHMERBRIF | — T _=FF%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE-ZT-_=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

27.PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS AND RESTRICTED

27. B A ERIT AR R ZR FI R

BANK DEPOSITS

As at 31 December 2023, pledged bank deposits carry
fixed interest rate of 3.35% (2022: 3.35%) and represent
deposits pledged to banks to secure banking facilities
granted to the Group. Deposits amounting to HK$5,502,000
(2022: HK$5,653,000) have been pledged to secure long-
term borrowings and are therefore classified as non-current
assets. The pledged bank deposits will be released upon the
settlement of relevant bank borrowings.

Restricted bank deposits represent the guarantee under its
business pledged customer deposits received under tripartite
custodian agreements among the online lending platforms,
guarantee customers and the Group under its guarantee
business. For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow
statement, the Group’s restricted bank deposits with banks
have been excluded from cash and cash equivalents.

As 31 December 2023, certain restricted bank deposits
of RMB5,470,000 (approximately HK$6,018,000) (2022:
RMB3,174,000 (approximately HK$3,589,000)) in reputable
PRC banks have been frozen by the court.

28.CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents include demand deposits and
short term deposits for the purpose of meeting the Group’s
short term cash commitments, which carry interest at market
rates range from 0% to 1.25% (2022: 0% to 1.25%).
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E¥E EREPEAKEIT M=
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E B RRMTE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZEZE-ZT-_=F+-A=+—HIEFE

29.TRADE PAYABLES, OTHER PAYABLES,
DEPOSITS RECEIVED AND ACCRUALS

29 BT AR 7K - A BN FR B

WEIZ S KT E M

2023 2022
—E_= —E-F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHEIT
Trade payables from: TYEEZ EARRK
Insurance brokerage service (Note a) R4 R (Mi5Ta) 918 219
Loan referral service (Note b) EREN R (Mizb) 18,011 16,105
Total trade payables JE 1~ BR SR 4B 2R 18,929 16,324
Accrued expenses st E R 8,054 11,066
Interest payables JE A FIE 19,318 8,823
Deposits received (Note ¢) B W EIZ S (MfiEc) 27,649 36,055
Other payables H th & 1~ KB 27,620 27,666
Receipt in advance TE W IR 1,430 -~
Total other payables, deposits received H e 5008 - B ERE K&
and accruals JEFtE R B 84,071 83,610
Total trade payables, other payables, JRE A~ IR 3K~ L A A5 RIE
deposits received and accruals Bl REFEREE 103,000 99,934

Notes:

(a) Trade payables arising from the provision of insurance brokerage
services are generally settled within 30 days to 120 days upon
receipt of payments from product issuers.

B it

(a)

— R AU B E R BT A B 30E 1204
R4 BRI RER A A0 RIS EE A 2 TR BR N

An ageing analysis of trade payables from insurance brokerage ¥ 5 BA 2R B 4R Be 48 40 AR 745 JE 11 BR SR AN BR
service at the end of the reporting period is as follows: oM
2023 2022
—E-=EF —EF-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR T
0 - 30 days 0Z230H 752 91
31 - 60 days 31260H 48 7
61 -90 days 61290H 28 3
Over 90 days 90H KA E 90 118
918 219
RPESRMERERART | ZT_=FFW

183



184

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE-ZT-_=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

29.TRADE PAYABLES, OTHER PAYABLES,
DEPOSITS RECEIVED AND ACCRUALS
(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b) Trade payables arising from loan referral service are generally
settled within 5 days upon receipt of invoice.

An ageing analysis of trade payables for loan referral service at
the end of the reporting period is as follows:

29 B AR AR - AN FUR - B

WEZE NEGTER (8

fiaE: (48)
(o) EREN R ELM RN RRX RN UE
BEESBRERE -

2023 2022

—E-=F —F-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
0 - 30 days 0Z230H 12,076 16,105
Over 90 days 90H M E 5,935 -
18,011 16,105

Included in deposits received was an amount of HK$21,734,000
(2022: HK$22,195,000) which was received from customers
as collateral security for the financial guarantees issued by the
Group. These deposits will be refunded to the customers upon
expiry of the corresponding guarantee contracts. According to
the contracts, these deposits are expected to be settled within
one year.

BUERIR & AR 0 21,734,000 L (2 - —
£ :22,195,000/ L) HAK E M & F UK ER
ERAEEREHNBMEERNER 2%
ReRRBRERERGANERERETERP
HE=ZF - REEGH ZEHRSEHBER
—F R

30.LIABILITIES FROM FINANCIAL GUARANTEES 30.FtEIEFE &

2023 2022

—E-= T

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHTT

Deferred income EIERA 8 8
Provision for guarantee losses BREBERE 437,861 402,211
437,869 402,219

Greater China Financial Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2023



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E B RRMTE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZEZE-ZT-_=F+-A=+—HIEFE

EEREE @)

30.LIABILITIES FROM FINANCIAL GUARANTEES

31.

(Continued)
Movement analysis of provision for guarantee losses: EREBEREZ ST
2023 2022
—EB=-= T
HKS$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET

Balance at beginning of the year FHEER 402,211 359,917
Amount recognised during the year FABRZ TR 58,038 81,832
Amounts reversed during the year FARNEELD SR (7.861) (11,316)
Utilisation of provision ARG (3,713) -
Exchange realignment RIS (10,814) (28,222)
Balance at end of the year FRER 437,861 402,211

Further details on the Group’s credit policy and credit risk

BRAASEEERREMEBERLERD

exposure arising from guarantee issued are set out in the SERRMNEZFIBHNELRE M mEM
note 48(b) to the consolidated financial statements. #¥48(b) °
BORROWINGS 3LEE
2023 2022
—_E_= —_F_—
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Bank loans (Note a) RITER (MisEa) 79,552 104,025
Other loans (Note b) HMER (MiEb) 208,150 175,060
287,702 279,085
KPESBIZERERAT | T _=—FF®
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE-ZT-_=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

31.BORROWINGS (Continued) 3.6 & (|)
Bank loans Other loans
RITEN HtE™M
31/12/2023 31/12/2022 31/12/2023 31/12/2022
—EZ=Zf —E-C —E-= —E-fF
t=A +=A t=A +=A
=t+—H =+—H =t—H =+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TET THT FHET
Carrying amount repayable: ER T 7 EfEEEH
RREE:
Within one year —FR 30,259 67,277 93,504 26,345
More than one year, but not —% LA EEMFIAR
exceeding two years 16,504 19,787 114,646 148,715
More than two years, but not RF LA EB R FIAR
more than five years - 16,961 - -
More than five years EFNUE 32,789 - - -
79,552 104,025 208,150 175,060
Less: Amounts shown under & : R BB ESIR 2 58
current liabilities (30,259) (67,277) (93,504) (26,345)
Amounts shown under RIERBARIITZEHE
non-current liabilities 49,293 36,748 114,646 148,715
Notes: B -

(@ The bank loans of RMB72,300,000 (approximately
HK$79,552,000) (2022: RMB65,000,000 (approximately
HK$73,496,000)) are secured by the pledge of the Group's
assets as set out in note 40 to the consolidated financial
statements which carry effective interest rates ranging from
3.65% to 4.95% (2022: 3.65% to 6.27%) per annum. At 31
December 2022, bank loan of RMB27,000,000 (approximately
HK$30,529,000) bearing interest at fixed rate of 3.65% per
annum, is secured by a property provided by an independent
third party, and is repayable within one year.

(b) The other loans bear interest at fixed rates ranging from 6% to
12% (2022: 6% to 10.55%) per annum and are unsecured.

The Group entered into extension agreements with several
lenders to revise the repayment schedule. The management
of the Group considers that the terms of the extension
agreements are not substantially different under the new terms
as the discounted present value of the cash flows under the
new terms discounted using the original effective interest rate
is different from the discounted present value of the remaining
cash flows of the original financial liability by less than 10 per
cent. Accordingly, such modification of terms was accounted
for as non-substantial modification, and the adjustment of
approximately HK$146,000 (2022: HK$3,735,000) to the
carrying amount of the financial liability was recognised as
other gain as set out in note 7 at the date of modification.
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(a)

RITEFRARBT72,300,0007T (4
79,552,0008 L) (& = = %F:
65,000,0007T (#973,496,0005 7T ) ) M 43
B IERRM TA0FTEH A EEE ELHIE
1 IRBERFEFEN F3.65%F4.95 % (=
T - _F:365%%627%):itB -N_F
ZZHF+ZA=1+—H8 RITEZARKE
27,000,0007T (4930,529,000/% 7t ) Jh 1%
FEFEFE3IGS%E H—BBILFE=F
RN EEERR AR —FANEER-

HMERDNEEEFEFNNEN F6%E12%
(ZE - —F:6%%E10.55% )5t B R\ iK
o

ANEBHEZZER AL AE
NEFRHER- AEBEEEERE EH
BEAERETER TTEEAZE R
ARBEFIERRABREEF RBEIR AR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

32.LEASE LIABILITIES

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZEZE-ZT-_=F+-A=+—HIEFE

—

-~ |I==

The following table shows the remaining contractual THREINAEEHEBBZFLESLEH
maturities of the Group’s lease liabilities: EPE
2023 2022
—E-= —E-F
Present value Present value
of the lease Total lease of the lease Total lease
payments payments payments payments
HESRZ HENR HENRZ HER®
B{E wE BE e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TERT TET FHET
Within one year R—%FR 918 928 6,776 7,429
After one year but within —FRERNERA
two years - - 2,135 2,355
After two years but within MEZBRAFR
five years - - 2,642 2,845
918 928 11,553 12,629
Less: total future interest W RRF SR B
expenses (10) (1,076)
Present value of lease liabilities 1 E&E 2 HE 918 11,553

33.DEFERRED TAX ASSETS

3BIELEFIEE E

Provision
Impairment for financial
allowance guarantee Total
WERE REERES #mat
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FHET
Cost 2N
At 1 January 2022 RNZE-__F—HF—H 33,148 15,913 49,061
Charged to profit or loss ~ FF KRBz F Ik
for the year - (7,950) (7,950)
Exchange realignment [ 5 2 (2,599) (1,248) (3,847)
At 31 December 2022 R-_EZ—_F+=ZA=+—H 30,549 6,715 37,264
Charged to profit or loss W F KBz F Ik
for the year (29,728) (6,534) (36,262)
Exchange realignment PE X A& (821) (181) (1,002)
At 31 December 2023 R-B-=%+=-A=+-—H - - -
RAPESHMIZERBRAT | —T_=FFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE T - =F+_A=+—HItFE

33.DEFERRED TAX ASSETS (Continued) 33.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax
losses of HK$695,288,000 (2022: HK$666,672,000) available
for offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has
been recognised in respect of the unused tax losses due
to the unpredictability of future profit streams. Included in
unrecognised tax losses are losses of HK$213,026,000 (2022:
HK$193,575,000) that will expire in one to five years. Other
losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

Pursuant to the PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established
in PRC. The requirement is effective from 1 January 2008
and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower
withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty
between PRC and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For
the Group, the applicable rate is 5% or 10%. The Group is
therefore liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed
by those subsidiaries and associates established in the PRC in
respect of earnings generated from 1 January 2008.

As at 31 December 2023, the aggregate amount of
temporary differences associated with undistributed profits
of subsidiaries in PRC for which deferred taxation liabilities
in relation to withholding tax have not been recognised was
HK$18,716,000 (2022: HK$22,114,000). No deferred tax
liability has been recognised in respect of these differences
because the Group is in a position to control the timing
for reversal of the related temporary differences and it is
probable that such temporary differences will not be reversed
in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZE T - =F+_-_A=+—HILFE

34.CONVERTIBLE NOTES

Pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement and the
supplementary agreement for the acquisition of Xin
Yunlian Group, convertible notes with principal amounts of
HK$200,000,000 at conversion price of HK$1.00 were issued
to the vendor of Xin Yunlian Group on 31 July 2020 (the
“Issue Date”). It entitled the noteholder to convert 30% of
them into ordinary shares of the Company at any time after
the third anniversary of the Issue Date and ending on the
maturity date, which is on the fifth anniversary of the Issue
Date. On the maturity date, the noteholder has the right to
convert the remaining 70% of them in full. The conversion
of the convertible notes is subject to a lockup period until
the date which the Company, vendor and vendor guarantor
confirm or mutually agreed the principal amount to be
reduced by the compensation for the shortfall of guaranteed
profit of Xin Yunlian Group for the five years ending 31
December 2024. The principal amount of the convertible
notes equals to the guaranteed profit cannot be converted
during the lock-up period. If the convertible notes have not
been converted, they will be redeemed on the maturity date
at the entire principal amount. Further details are set out in
the Company’s circular dated 30 June 2020.

The Company shall have the right to redeem the convertible
notes at any time after the Issue Date, prior to the fourth
anniversary of the Issue Date.

The convertible notes contain three components, liability,
equity and the derivative components — redemption option.

At initial recognition, the equity component of the convertible
loan notes was separated from the liability component. The
equity element is presented in equity heading “Convertible
notes equity reserve”. The liability component of the
convertible notes is carried as a non-current liability on
the amortised cost basis until extinguished on conversion
or redemption. The effective interest rate of the liability
component is 8.22% per annum. The derivative component
— redemption option is measured at fair value with change in
fair value recognised in profit or loss.

During the year, no convertible notes were converted into
ordinary shares by the noteholder or redeemed by the
Company.

RPESRMERERAF

34. Al IR B IR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE T - =F+_A=+—HItFE

34.CONVERTIBLE NOTES (Continued)

34 A AR R ()

The carrying amounts of above-mentioned convertible notes PR MR EEN RS HARERZREE
recognised at the end of the reporting period were calculated FEMT:
as follows:
Convertible
Notes
ARREE
HK$'000
FHET
Equity component mE o
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022 and R-ZTEZ—_F—-—H—HB -ZT=-—F
31 December 2023 +ZA=+—ABAKkR=ZE==
+=—A=+—H 53,452
Liability component BEHXS
At 1 January 2022 RZE-_—_F—H—H 175,280
Effective interest expenses ERMERAX 14,712
At 31 December 2022 RZEZZF+=HA=+—H 189,992
Effective interest expenses BERMERX 15,946
At 31 December 2023 R-ZB-_=%+-"A=+—H 205,938
Derivative component — redemption option (note 23) PTHEI» —BEEERE (5E23)
At 1 January 2022 R-ZE-_=—#—H—H (16,025)
Loss on fair value change NEEEEFEE 9,120
At 31 December 2022 R-B__F+_-_A=+—H (6,905)
Loss on fair value change NEEEFEHE 3,527
At 31 December 2023 R-B_=%+_-_A=+—H (3,378)

The details of fair value measurement of the Derivative
component — redemption option is disclosed in note 49(i) to

the consolidated financial statements.

35.ASSETS AND LIABILITIES OF DISPOSAL
COMPANY CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE

On 14 December 2022, the Group entered into a sale and
purchase agreement to dispose of the entire equity interests
in Greater China Securities Limited (the “Disposal Company”)
at a consideration of the aggregated amount of HK$913,000
and 100% of the amount of bank deposit in the Disposal
Company at the completion of this disposal.

BEEOTESRY —BOREE AFEANE
R R A B RS 3R R BT RE49() ©

BAEBFIELEZHE R
WEF&EE

A= ::$+_H+EE*$§%§TE
EmE AEERPEFLEEFRA
Uﬁ%@ﬁnz =A% #E Mﬁ)wa/\
913,000 TR RNZBTLEZTKHLHE R
AIIRITIF RS EEAI100% ©

)ﬂﬂﬁ %
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZE T - =F+_-_A=+—HILFE

35.ASSETS AND LIABILITIES OF DISPOSAL
COMPANY CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE

(Continued)

The Disposal Company is included in the Group’s others
segment for segment reporting purposes (see note 6). As
the Disposal Company does not represent a major line of
business or geographical area of operation, the disposal does
not constitute a discontinued operation. The net proceeds

BAEBFIELEZHE R
MBENMEE @)

RoBmEMS HERARFALRERZ
Eﬁﬂ”*ﬁ(ﬁﬁﬁ?@ BN HERRILIE
TEXBRKNEEMERE HHBELE
AR —HORIERERT - HEMF
REFRAHSEEERAEERAGNIR

of disposal are expected to exceed the net carrying amount HFE - AW SRR EEE -
of the relevant assets and liabilities and accordingly, no
impairment loss has been recognised.
The major classes of assets and liabilities of the Disposal DHERFHELHEZHERRNEERARE
Company classified as held for sale are as follows: WEEHEOT:

HK$'000

FHEIT

Intangible asset BEEE 500
Goodwill Bk -
Property, plant and equipment Y% WE KRR -
Account receivables JE W BR 3R 101
Prepayment and deposit ERNFERES 277
Bank balance and cash RITEBRERS 3,868
Cash held on behalf of clients REFPRENEAS 1,035
Total assets classified as held for sale DEAFELHENEERE 5,781
Account payables FETBR X 1,135
Accruals EEtE R 7
Total liabilities classified as held for sale SEAFBIEFHENAER 1,142

There are no cumulative income or expense included in other
comprehensive income relating to the Disposal Company.
During the year ended 31 December 2023, the disposal of
the subsidiary has been completed. Details of the disposal are

set out in note 39.

MEEHELE AN RFT WAL
AEEzEKE BE_FT-_=F+-H
=t+—HLFE ZHBARERKHE -
HEEBFBHNME39 -

RAESHMERBRIF | — T _=FF%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BEmRMEE
For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZEZZT_=F+_A=+—HILFE
36.SHARE CAPITAL 36. R 7K
Number Nominal
of shares amount
BRHOEE HE
‘000 HK$'000
Tz FA&T
Authorised: JATE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.001 each BREE.COEBITH T B
At 1 January 2022, R—_E-_—_F—HF—H"
31 December 2022, —E-—F+-A=+—8"
1 January 2023 and —TE=F—-—H—HBK
31 December 2023 —E-=F+=-H=+—H 2,109,890,000 2,109,890
Preference shares of HK$0.001 each FRYE(E0.001%8 T HI B T %
At 1 January 2022, RN—E-_—_F—H—H"
31 December 2022, -+ -A=+—8"
1 January 2023 and —E=F—-—HF—HBK
31 December 2023 —E=F+ZA=+—H 110,000 110
Issued and fully paid: BERITRERE:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.001 each BFREE0.001E LA B
At 1 January 2022, R-_TE-_—_F—H—H"
31 December 2022, B _F+ZA=+—8"
1 January 2023 and T =D
31 December 2023 —EZ=F+=ZHA=+—H 7,775,857 7,776
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZEZE-ZT-_=F+-A=+—HIEFE

37.SHARE OPTIONS SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (“2021
Share Option Scheme”) pursuant to a resolution passed
at an annual general meeting held on 10 June 2021 for
the purpose of providing incentives or rewards to eligible
participants to recognise and acknowledge their contributions
to the Group, and will expire on 10 June 2031. The
Company’s old share option scheme (the “2011 Share Option
Scheme"”) was terminated upon the adoption of the 2021
Share Option Scheme. No further options shall be offered
under the 2011 Share Option Scheme, but in all other
respects the provisions of the 2011 Share Option Scheme
shall remain in full force and effect and all options granted
prior to such termination and not exercised at the date of
termination shall remain valid. Under the 2021 Share Option
Scheme, the directors of the Company may grant options to
any full-time or part-time employees, executives, officers or
directors (including non-executive directors and independent
non-executive directors) of the Group and any suppliers,
customers, consultants, agents and advisors who, in the sole
opinion of the Board, will contribute or have contributed to
the Group.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, no share option was
granted under 2021 Share Option Scheme, and as at 31
December 2023 the number of shares in respect of options
granted and remained outstanding under the 2011 Share
Option Scheme was 293,000,000 (2022: 293,000,000),
representing 3.77% (2022: 3.77%) of the issued shares
of the Company. As at the date of this report, the number
of shares available for issue under the 2021 Share Option
Scheme is 777,585,762 (As at the date of 2022 annual
report: 777,585,762), representing approximately 10% (As at
the date of 2022 annual report: 10%) of the total number of
issued shares of the Company.

RPESRMERERAF
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE-ZT-_=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

37.SHARE OPTIONS SCHEME (Continued) 37. 0B AR & (®)
Movements of the Company’s share options held by BHE-_Z-_=F+-A=+—HILEFE"
employees and consultants during the year ended 31 BERERFAFAEARARRBRENEEH
December 2023 are set out below: N
Number of share options
BREHA
As at As at Exercise
Category of 1 January 31 December Exercise price
participants 2023 Granted Exercised Lapsed 2023 period HK$
RZBZ=ZF R-B==F TEE
SEALER -RA—-H 2R 217 BAM tZA=+-H TEH BT
Category I: Employees
Bl g8
30.12.2020 135,300,000 - - - 135,300,000 30.12.2021-29.12.2025 (Note a) 0.200
“Z-ZE+ZA=1H “Z-—%tZA=tHZE
“TZEF+tZAZtAA
GED)
Category I: Consultants
ol B
30.12.2020 150,000,000 - - - 150,000,000 30.12.2021-29.12.2025 (Note a) 0.200
ZT-TF+ZA=TH ZTZ-%+ZA=tHZ
“R-EF+tZAZThA
(Pita)
Category llI: Director
A EE
30.12.2020 7,700,000 - - - 7,700,000 30.12.2021-29.12.2025 (Note a) 0.200
“R-TE+ZA=TH “FZ-¥+tZA=tHZ
“Z-EFtZAZThAE
GEY
Total 293,000,000 - - - 293,000,000
Wzt
Weighted average exercise price 0.200 - - - 0.200
MEFTEE
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZEZE-ZT-_=F+-A=+—HIEFE

. J/L 435 = =
37.SHARE OPTIONS SCHEME (Continued) 37. AR & (|
Movements of the Company’s share options held by HE-_Z-_F+-A=+—HILEFE"
employees and consultants during the year ended 31 BERERFAFAEARARRBRENZEH
December 2022 are set out below: IR
Number of share options
EREHA
As at As at Exercise
Category of 1 January 31 December  Exercise price
participants 2022 Granted Exercised Lapsed 2022 period HK$
R-B-—% RZEZZF N
2EATHR —A—H BEL [=Epx:d BAX® +ZA=+—H #1EH BT
Category I: Employees
Bl g8
30.12.2020 135,300,000 - - - 135,300,000 30.12.2021-29.12.2025 (Note a) 0.200
“Z-ZE+ZA=1H “Z-—%tZA=tHZE
“TZEF+tZAZtAA
GED)
Category I: Consultants
ol B
30.12.2020 150,000,000 - - - 150,000,000 30.12.2021-29.12.2025 (Note a) 0.200
ZT-TF+ZA=TH ZTZ-%+ZA=tHZ
“R-EF+tZAZThA
(Pita)
Category llI: Director
A EE
30.12.2020 7,700,000 - - - 7,700,000 30.12.2021-29.12.2025 (Note a) 0.200
“R-TE+ZA=TH “FZ-¥+tZA=tHZ
“Z-EFtZAZThAE
GEY
Total 293,000,000 - - - 293,000,000
Wzt
Weighted average exercise price 0.200 - - - 0.200
MEFTEE
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE-ZT-_=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

37.SHARE OPTIONS SCHEME (Continued)
Note:

(@) On 30 December 2020, the Company granted options to
subscribe for a total of 300,000,000 shares under the 2011
Share Option Scheme to employees and consultants of the
Group. The validity period of the options was 60 months from
the date of grant of the options, that is from 30 December
2020 to 29 December 2025. The options entitled the grantees
to subscribe for a total of 300,000,000 new shares of HK$0.001
each at an exercise price of HK$0.200 per share. The number
of share options that each grantee can exercise each year
during 30 December 2021 to 29 December 2025 (the “Exercise
Period”) shall not exceed one third of the share options granted
to such grantees, except that the maximum number of share
options that each grantee can exercise during the last year of
the Exercise Period shall be all remaining share options granted
to grantees that have not been exercised.

The closing price of the Company’s share immediately before 30
December 2020, the date of grant was HK$0.199.

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted was
estimated as at the date of grant, using a Binomial model,
taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the
options were granted and the following inputs to the model:

37. BB MEET 2] (1)
B 5T

(@ R-ZE-_ZTF+_A=+H KXQFEE
—E——FEREFERASEEE LKE
il #52 ) i A DA 3R 8 & $£300,000,000 % A%
m-BREZEXPAEBRERT B
HEHeOBEA (—ZE-—EF+=-A=+H
E-TE-_RE+_A=t+hB) HBRREE
B, T A AR R LA 1T B & 3%0.20078 7T
R B 4 $£300,000,0004% & f% M {E0.0017%
TTZHBR - ZEBRARE_—F+=
A=+BZ-—ZEZ-_AF+-A=-+h18
(78 BF AT ENERESE T
BB TZEARANBREN =22 —
WRITFER B FESERAITEZ
BRESAEEAARTZERRAZMH
RIETTE 2 B TSR AR 4 -

KAGIROREE-_ZS-_Z&+-_A=+

H (B A E) AiAg U & A0.19978 7T °
BEHOABREEENBEBRECAFEDR
RERHEA B R EEREA A
I B R I 35 BB AR A P AR I A IR R AR A o
TREFHERFTE A & A BUE

30 December

2020

=

+t=-A=+H

HK$'000

FHEIT

Fair value (HK$) ~NFE BT 0.02
Exercise price (HK$) 1168 (BT) 0.200
Share price at the date of grant (HK$) REHBEORE (BT) 0.199
Dividend yield (%) Iz B 5 R (%) -
Expected volatility (%) T8 HA IR 18 (%) 54.00
Risk-free interest rate (%) 42 [ 2 ) R (%) 0.368
Expected life of options (years) TREARE IR (F) 5.000
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZEZE-ZT-_=F+-A=+—HIEFE

37.SHARE OPTIONS SCHEME (Continued)

The expected life of the options is based on the contractual
life and is not necessarily indicative of the exercise patterns
that may occur. The expected volatility reflects the assumption
that the historical volatility is indicative of future trends,
which may also not necessarily be the actual outcome.

The fair value of the share options granted on 30 December
2020 was HK$7,081,000. The fair value per option granted
was HK$0.02. The Group recognised the share-based
payment expense of HK$603,000 (2022: HK$1,787,000)
during the year ended 31 December 2023.

38.RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

The Group is required to participate in a defined contribution
scheme, the MPF Scheme, in respect of its employees in Hong
Kong. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately
from those of the Group, in funds under the control of
trustees. Both the Group and its employees contribute 5% of
the relevant payroll costs to the MPF Scheme. The maximum
contribution for each employee is limited to HK$18,000
(2022: HK$18,000) per annum. No forfeited contribution
is available to reduce the contribution payable in the future
years.

The employees of PRC subsidiaries are members of defined
contribution plans organised by the municipal and provincial
government authorities in the PRC. The PRC subsidiaries are
required to make monthly contributions to these plans at
a fixed percentage of the employee’s basic salary. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit
scheme in the PRC is to make the required contributions
under the scheme. The local government authority is
responsible for the entire pension obligations payable to
retired employees. No forfeited contribution is available to
reduce the contribution payable in the future years.

Contributions to the retirement benefit schemes for the year
amounted to HK$2,929,000 (2022: HK$3,731,000).

RPESRMERERAF

37.B IR EETEl (1)

BRERHFHLRESHFHEE K
WRE BE R M ITEE R - HHIK IR
REREESL KB AARKRELEZENRE &
ABREBRER-

REBE-_Z-_ZTF+_A=+—HIFE"
B R ERE QT EA7,081,0008 7T
EHERLBERENAFEAR002EB T
REBEE_E_=F+_A=+—HIFE"
7N &2 B 1 3R LA BR 10 32 3K 18 [ 32603,000
BT (ZZFEZ—4:1,787,0008 ) °

JRIRAE AT S

AEEBEAHE B REELHETHEHNE
BloafE£stal- BB EMNEEHELRE
EMEESHAINAITEAZFINESR
B-AEEEEESYAEREBHEMAAE
H5%MEEETEELHA - FREER
SHEHARBEEAETF18,0008 T (T -
F 118,000/ 7T ) © I £& F fa] 158 W (it 3k AT
FA AR R 2R F & PR A9 L3R

HEFE AT MEE AT BB A BT
B2 M0 E B A RET IR B - R B B
NRAGRAREEEAFSNETERA DL
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AR — B ERREZEELRED
R 7 BT # B 8 B FR K E 8 3
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE-ZT-_=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

39.DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 8 December 2023, the Group completed the disposal of
its entire interests in Greater China Securities Limited whose
assets and liabilities were classified as held for sale as at 31
December 2022 as disclosed in note 35 for consideration of
HK$5,041,000.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
disposed of its entire interests in Greater China Asset
Management (HK) Limited which is engaged in provision of
asset management services for consideration of HK$161,000.

The respective amounts of assets and liabilities of the
subsidiaries disposed of on the relevant dates of disposal
were as follows:

39. L EKE A A

RZEZ=F+ZANB AEEZTKL
£ H 7 Greater China Securities Limited ( 3,
MM 3SR - RZE—_F+=A
=t+—H EEERBEIEABELE)
2 = EP Rz - {8 435,041,000 7T °

BE-_Z-_=F+-RA=+—HIFE"
AEBHEERAFEEEER(FH)
ERAR (HUERHEEETERE)Z
2 EpRR#E - KB A161,0008 7T °

ZEMBARNERLERRNEENEE
LBETEDRIMT:

HK$'000
FHET
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which HAEEFEZEERBEN D!
control was lost:
Intangible asset BILEE 500
Goodwill Bk -
Property, plant and equipment Mz BB RRE -
Account receivables JE W BR 5K 2
Other receivables H th & YK IR 2,894
Prepayment and deposit ERFERES 293
Bank balance and cash RITHBR KRS 4,269
Cash held on behalf of clients REFPRHENEAS 1,275
Account payables FEASBR 3R (1,018)
Accruals EEtER (264)
Net assets disposed of EHEBEEFE 7,951
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries: HEMB AR Z W :
Consideration received and receivable 2R e E 5,202
Payables transferred to the vendor EBREE M ENKIE 2,894
Net assets disposed of EHEEEFE (7951)
Gain on disposal & W 145
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEEEZRESRAFE:
Cash consideration received EWEERE 4,800
Less: cash and cash equivalents disposed of B HEZRERASEEY (4,269)
531
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZEZE-ZT-_=F+-A=+—HIEFE

39.DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

The subsidiaries disposed of during the year did not
contribute significantly to the revenue, operating results or
cash flows of the Group for the year ended 31 December

9. HEMB AR (&)
ERNHENHBATNYALEERE -2
—=F+ZA=t+-—"BIEFEZEA K
A R S B B A B B o

2023.

40.PLEDGE OF ASSETS

Assets with the following carrying amounts have been

40.8 E R

ERARBER 2 —RBITEEMELE

pledged to secure general banking facilities granted to the Wz EERABENT:
Group:
2023 2022
—E_= —E-F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FHEIT
Property, plant and equipment M- BB &R E 49,447 58,804
Right-of-use assets — leasehold lands ERAEEE-NRFEHZ
in the PRC THE L 18,774 20,007
Bank deposit |ITHER 5,502 5,653
73,723 84,464
41.RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS NEEALRS
(a) Balances with related parties (a) BEALHEE
2023 2022
—E-= —E-F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FHEIT
Loans to and interest receivables from BT —BEIFEREZR &
a non-controlling interest, net of FEWEFIE (HBRBERE)
impairment allowance (Note i) (H$&Ei) - 36,148
Loans to and interest receivables from BT —EEE QA K&
an associate, net of impairment FEYCE R B (HBRRERE)
allowance (Note ii) (BT &Eii) - 497
Account payable due to an associate EXBEEBEENEN—HE
arising from loan financing business Bgb &8 N A1 ABR R (B &Eiii )
(Note iii) (18,011) (16,105)
Amount due to non-controlling interests J& 1< JE 122 A% # 25 ZX 18 (Bt 5Eiii )
(Note iii) (11,167) (9,497)
Borrowings and accrued interest due to  JEff —ZEIB A THEBEE X
a related party (Note iv) FEETFIE (Bt aEiv) (31,251) (18,762)
APELBMERERAAF | —T=FFK
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE-ZT-_=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

41.RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(a) Balances with related parties (Continued)

Notes:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

At 31 December 2023 and 2022, the loans to a
non-controlling interest, Wangxin Technology was
unsecured, interest bearing at 10.0% and repayable within
one year. The maximum amount of the loans to and
interest receivables from the non-controlling interest was
RMB155,135,000 (approximately HK$170,695,000) during
the year 2023 (2022: RMB135,970,000 (approximately
HK$153,742,000)). The Group has made impairment
allowance on loans to and interest receivables from a non-
controlling interest of HK$170,695,000 as at 31 December
2023 (2022: HK$117,594,000).

Details of impairment assessment are set out in the note
48(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

At 31 December 2023 and 2022, the loan to an
associate, Zhongyan E-commerce was unsecured, interest
bearing at 10.0% and repayable within one year. The
maximum amount of the loan to and interest receivables
from an associate was RMB1,521,000 (approximately
HK$1,674,000) during the year 2023 (2022: RMB1,027,000
(approximately HK$1,161,000)). The Group has made
impairment allowance on loans to and interest receivables
from an associate of HK$1,674,000 as at 31 December
2023 (2022: HK$449,000).

Details of impairment assessment are set out in the note
48(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

As at the end of the year, the balances with these related
parties are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on
demand. The amounts approximate their fair values.

At 31 December 2023, the amount represents borrowings
and accrued interest due to the spouse of a director are
unsecured, repayable within 1 to 2 years and with interest
rate at 6% per annum.

41.FBEATR G (8)
(a) BIEA T4 (4)
B 5

(i)

(ii)

(iii)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E B RRMTE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZE T - =F+_-_A=+—HILFE
41.RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS (Continued)  41.F83E A T 5 (#)
(a) BEAL&EE (B)

(a) Balances with related parties (Continued)

At 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of convertible
notes of HK$205,938,000 (2022: HK$189,992,000)
represents the convertible notes issued to the vendor of
the Xin Yunlian Acquisition, and the financial asset at
FVTPL — profit guarantee and incentive payment with a
fair value of HK$189,924,000 (2022: HK$188,021,000)
represents the amount that will receivable from or
payable to the vendor and vendor guarantor of the Xin
Yunlian Acquisition after year ending 31 December 2024.
Details of terms and condition are disclosed in note 34
to the consolidated financial statements. The vendor
guarantor who is the beneficial owner of the vendor of
the Xin Yunlian Acquisition is also the executive director
of the Company.

A non-controlling interest and an associate of the Group
jointly had a loan which was jointly guaranteed free of
charge by several parties including a subsidiary of the
Group. The Group has made provision of HK$3,311,000
for this guarantee as at 31 December 2023 (2022:
HK$4,993,000).

(b) Transaction with related parties

The Group undertook the following transactions with

R_E_=F+_-_HA=+—8" ﬁﬁﬁ
{8205,938,0008 L (— & = =
189992000,am>27$ﬁﬂxﬂﬂa%ﬁ
GINBEEE FEEITHN B
%—E%E) N A 1{E189,924,000/ 7T ( =
T~ 4 :188,021,000/8 7T ) Z A
FEFFABRZEMEE & fIRE
/%&Ebﬁ?ﬁ’@(i—g—mi“f‘:ﬂ
=+ — B I FE&EWE T E8
WEBEEEAREHFERARE)
TR BN 2 5B R B 7S R R M
HMFETE-BHERABTEH I
BEBREAICERERAAN TAEARA
AIBITES -

AEB—TBFEERERZ R —BBEEQ

AERBERLEASE —HHWNER
ﬂ%yﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ?ﬁﬁ%%&aﬁ%ﬁxo
RZEBE-_=F+_-_A=+—H &%
B2 Atk &R 5H3E3,311,0008 7T (=
T T4 14,993,000/ 7T ) B B

(b) BEALXS

AEERANFEEBEALETTI

related parties during the year: R5:

2023 2022

—EBE-= —F=-=
Relationships Nature of transactions HK$'000 HK$'000
22 RES RHEME FET T
Non-controlling interest Interest income (Note i) 4,691 20,885
FEVE AR HE 2 MEMA (FFE)
Associate Data collection service expense (Note ii) 12,159 63,763
/N BB R AR TS R > (Bt )
Spouse of a director Interest expense (Note iii) 1,601 362
EERE 2 = (Bt aiii)
APESHMERERLR | —T==FF5H 201
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Rk i

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE T - =F+_A=+—HItFE

41.RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b) Transaction with related parties (Continued)

Notes:

Interest was charged to a non-controlling interest and an
associate at interest rate of 10.0% per annum and terms
mutually agreed.

41.FBEATR G (8)
(b) BEA+RS (4)
GEZ

(i) A FEE IR R A K Bt i A U ER A9 A1) B
#10.0% M FHF X8 IREH LR
TERMEFRETT

(i) Data collection service expense was charged at mutually (i) BEREREEAIZEFHTEERR
agreed fee. ERe
(iii) Interest expense paid to the spouse of a director was (i) M—REFRBHE T ERTIZ6%
charged at interest rate of 6% per annum and terms B £F ) 3= K & 75 15 F RO SRR ©
mutually agreed.
Compensation of key management personnel HEXEEEAER

The remuneration of directors and other members of key
management during the year is HK$9,467,000 (2022:
HK$9,498,000) as disclosed in notes 13 and 14 to the

consolidated financial statements.

42.SUBSIDIARIES

42.1 General information of subsidiaries

Issued and fully

ﬁ%&ﬁ@zﬁﬂﬁﬁé%ﬁ@i% 467, ooo
B (= : 9,498,000 7T ) N 47
A%%ﬁ%%ﬁwﬁmﬁﬁo

42.MI B A7)
RAKBARZ—BRER

Proportion of nominal

Place of paid ordinary value of issued
incorporation share capital/ share capital/registered
Name and operation registered capital capital held by the Company Principal activities
ERAIR BRTRAR ARAMBERTRAER/
£ EXBE EERLK/HMEL EMEREELS TERH
2023 2022
—BC-=E —FC
Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly
B 583 Efk fifk
Delight Link Enterprises Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 100% - 100% - Provision of administrative services
to group companies
RECXBRAA B LRRAET mEERRRBITHRS
AEEEIEHERAAN PRC Registered capital - 100% - 100%  Industrial property development
(transliterated as Taicang Keycharm RMB80,000,000
Storage Company Limited?)
REHAERARAR: Gk AR I4RN%%R
AR 80,000,007
AEENEHERAF* PRC Registered capital - 100% - 100%  Trading of goods
(transliterated as Taicang Haopu Trading RMBS5,000,000
Company Limited®)
KERNESHRAT Gk AR EnE%
AR 5,000,000
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42.SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
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B R ML

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZEZE-ZT-_=F+-A=+—HIEFE

Issued and fully

H.MIB AR (&)

RIMEARZ—REH (&)

Proportion of nominal

Place of paid ordinary value of issued
incorporation share capital/ share capital/registered
Name and operation registered capital capital held by the Company Principal activities
ARRILR BRTRAR ARAFEERTRIEE/
&R EXBE EERA/HREE EMEREELS TEEH
2023 2022
—EC=F “E-CF
Directly  Indirectly Directly Indirectly
E& k3 Ef Rk
Greater China Financing Limited HK Ordinary HK$1 - 100% - 100%  Provision of money lending
APEREERAA B LRRAIAT RS
Greater China Wealth & HK Ordinary - 100% = 100%  Provision of insurance brokerage
Risk Management Limited HK$2,000,000 services
RAEERERERAA R EBIR42,000,0005 7T RURBRELRE
Greater China Securities Limited HK Ordinary - - - 100%  Provision of securities brokerage
HK$18,000,000 services
RPZEEFBERRA 3 £ AR 718,000,000 T REEFBLERG
Greater China Asset Management HK Registered capital - - - 100%  Provision of assets management
(HK) Limited HK$1,000,000 services
APERERE (BE)BRAF BB 41,000,000/ RUEEEERS
FREFMEEERARA R PRC Registered capital - 100% - 100%  Provision of loan referral consulting
(transliterated as (Beijing Xin Nuo Wei RMB100,000,000 services
Assets Management Limited®)
EREFHEEERRRAAN e AR RESTENTARTE
AE#100,000,0007C
Spruce Light Asset Management HK Ordinary - 100% = 100%  Provision of assets management
Company Limited HK$5,000,000 services
EREEERARAR R EBIRA5,000,0005 7T RUEEERRY
SRR TREERERAG PRC Registered capital - 100% = 100%  Provision of financial guarantee and
(transliterated as (Beijing An Jia RMB220,000,000 consulting services
Shi Hang Financial Guarantee
Company Limited®)
ERRRFUTRARRARA R G AR RUEBEERRFARS
AR 220,000,000
AEHEHEEREERAF PRC Registered capital - 100% - 100%  Provision of commercial factoring
(transliterated as Shenzhen RMB50,000,000 services
Xin Nuo Wei Commercial Factoring
Company Limited®)
ANERRBEREERA A e RiiE=v: REFERBRE
AR 550,000,007
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE-ZT-_=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

42.SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) H.MIBA A (&)

42.1 General information of subsidiaries (Continued)

Issued and fully Proportion of nominal

RIMEARZ-—REH (&)

Place of paid ordinary value of issued
incorporation share capital/ share capital/registered
Name and operation registered capital capital held by the Company Principal activities
ARRIR BRTRAR ARAFRERTRIEE/
&R EXBE EERA/HREE EMEREELS TEEH
2023 2022
—EC=F “E-CF
Directly  Indirectly Directly Indirectly
E& 53 Ef Bk
ERMRMBUCEAARBAERAA PRC Registered capital - 100% - 100%  Provision of consulting services
(transliterated as Khorgas Nuo Li RMB1,000,000
Enterprises Consultation Service
Company Limited®)
ERRMAUCEFARBARRA > HE &4 ARE1,000,0007 RAGEART
ERROZRETOEEARBER  PRC Registered capital - 100% - 100%  Provision of consulting services
A A]** (transliterated as Khorgas An RMB1,000,000
Jia Shi Hang Enterprises Consultation
service Company Limited?)
ERRMRFUTRERN ik EMER RAEART
REERAR AR 1,000,000
ERREREFRAF (randiterated  PRC Registered capital - 100% = 100%  Investment holdings
as Ninbo Ruixin Investment US$30,000,000
Company Limited®)
ERRGEREARAA ik A 7430,000,000% 7 REER
TN ERHTRAERARA PRC Registered capital - 51% - 51%  Investment holdings
(transliterated as Zhejiang Xin Yunlian RMB100,000,000
Digital Technology Company Limited?)
IR ERHFHRER AT e FMER RE#ER
AR 100,000,007
IR ERENRBRA AN PRC Registered capital - 51% - 51%  Investment holdings
(transliterated as Zhejiang Xin Yunlian RMB173,000,000
Cloud Technology Company Limited?)
IHERENRBRAFA e dMER RE#ER
AR 173,000,000
BUSEMSHESRECHI)ER  PRC Registered capital - 51% - 51%  Provision of loan referral service
AR]** (transliterated as Wangxin Xin RMB100,000,000
Yunlian Financial Information Service
(Zhejiang) Company Limited?)
BEHIRLRESRE O e dMER RESTEN R
BRAR AR%100,000,0007C
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZEZE-ZT-_=F+-A=+—HIEFE

42.SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

42.1 General information of subsidiaries (Continued)

Issued and fully

H.MIB AR (&)

RIMEARZ—REH (&)

Proportion of nominal

Place of paid ordinary value of issued
incorporation share capital/ share capital/registered
Name and operation registered capital capital held by the Company Principal activities
ARRILR BRTRAR ARAFEERTRIEE/
&R EXBE EERA/HREE EMEREELS TEEH
2022
“E-CF
Directly  Indirectly Directly Indirectly
E& 53 Ef Rk
MEBBEEE ONL)ERAT™  PRC Registered capital 31% - 31%  Provision of advertising service
(transliterated as Xin Yunlian RMB50,000,000
Advertising Media (Zhejiang)
Company Limited®)
HEMELEE ORI ARAR~  +E dMER REEERS
AR 50,000,007
ERER EETERA A PRC Registered capital 31% = 31%  Provision of loan financing service
(transliterated as Ninbo Yunlian RMB150,000,000
Micro-Financing Company Limited?)
EREMEEFARAT ik EMER REETRERS
AR 150,000,007

#  The English transliteration of Chinese name is included in this
report for reference only and should not be regarded as its
official English name.

*  Established in PRC as wholly foreign owned enterprises under
PRC law.

** Established in PRC as limited liability companies under PRC law
Established in PRC as sino-foreign joint venture under PRC law

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors, principally affect the results
or assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries
would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of
excessive length.

XinYunlian Advertising Media (Zhejiang) Company Limited
and Ninbo Yunlian Micro-Financing Company Limited are
controlled by the non-wholly owned subsidiaries.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the
end of the financial year.

fORXEEORXFTEER/RSEMBALR
HE TERESELEAEHMRE-

* REFEDEAENTEKIZZINEBEDRE -

* BREEPBEERNPBERIZAREERF -
b OREBPBRIEENTBEKIZPINEGERLE -

EFRIHEZTRLSIEFEAEBRER
BENARAMNBAA -EFRA JH
HpfEARMFBEEREBN IR

MEBMBESEE NI BARAARER
B NEERERARHEZENBRF
1] o

RMBREER SENBAR D HITEM
EE e

RAESHMERBRIF | — T _=FF%

205



206
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE-ZT-_=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

42.SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

42.2 Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have

H.MIB AR (&)

material non-controlling interests

The table below shows details of major non-wholly
owned subsidiaries of the Group that have material

non-controlling interests:

QWBERERFERER2HFZENBER

Az w1

TRINTEBEAFERER I AE
BEAF2EMBARZFHE:

Place of
incorporation Proportion of Loss and
and principal equity interest comprehensive
place of and voting rights held expenses allocated to Accumulated
Name of subsidiary business by non-controlling interest ~ non-controlling interest non-controlling interests
AR FERERSENERE PEFHEREEN
WEAEERE TEERNY BERRFELA FRRZERX it RS
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
—B-=f Z%T-C “B-=f Z%T-C “B-=f Z%-C
% % HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% % TER TEL TR TEL
Ningbo Ruixin Investment Company Limited PRC
and its subsidiaries (“Ningbo Ruixin Group”) 49 49 (147,498) (86,576) (34,626) 112,872
ERREREARADRAMBAR ([ERREEE])  $E

Summarised financial information in respect of Ningbo
Ruixin Group is set out below. The summarised financial
information below represents amounts before intragroup

BHRERESENTHEENRZH
IR NI BERBEREER
NIRRT SR

eliminations.
2023 2022
—_=E_= -

HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT FE& T
Current assets MEBEE 85,429 297,849
Non-current assets IERBEE 5,832 46,477
Current liabilities U IR=NE 187,856 189,756
Non-current liabilities FERBAEGE 102,846 125,315

Deficit attributable to owners of RAREE AEILEAL
the Company (164,814) (83,617)
Non-controlling interests FEIE AR R = (34,626) 112,872

Greater China Financial Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2023



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

42.SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

42.2 Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZEZE-ZT-_=F+-A=+—HIEFE

£.WIB AR (&)

QMBERERFERERZFZEWE R

material non-controlling interests (Continued) RlzHE (&)
2023 2022
—E-= —E-F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHEIT
Revenue WA 24,850 114,402
Loss for the year REEEE (228,033) (147,663)
Loss for the year attributable to: IWTATEBIEARFEBE:
Owners of the Company KRAREB A (85,295) (75,951)
Non-controlling interests FEFE AR M 2 (142,738) (71,712)
Loss for the year REZEE (228,033) (147,663)
Other comprehensive income (expenses) A~ A+ E1GANFE
for the year attributable to: Htz2mEks (AX)
Owners of the Company RAEHER A 5,959 (770)
Non-controlling interest FEPERRE = (4,760) (14,865)
Other comprehensive income (expenses) AN E H i & mE Wz (FIs%)
for the year 1,199 (15,635)
Total comprehensive expense IWTATEEARAFEZEH
for the year attributable to: Fl > 4858
Owners of the Company RARHER A (79,336) (76,721)
Non-controlling interests FEFE IR fE 2 (147,498) (86,577)
Total comprehensive expense for the year A [E 2 HH > A% (226,834) (163,298)
Net cash outflow from operating activities #% 4 & &3R8 & 7 H F 58 (16,338) (34,115)
Net cash inflow from investing activities & )EBIR &R A F5E 25 2
Net cash (outflow) inflow from mEEHEE (R RAFEE
financing activities (7,513) 36,958
Net cash (outflow) inflow Be ORd)RAFE (23,826) 2,845
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Rk i

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE-ZT-_=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

43.INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES/AMOUNTS :
DUE FROM/TO SUBSIDIARIES L= NGIECE]

The Company b /N

2023 2022
—EB=-= T

HKS$'000 HK$'000
FET FATT
Unlisted shares, at cost FE LETRRAD - A AR 376,602 376,602
Less: impairment loss recognised B B ERIREEE (376,602) (376,602)
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE W B /B8 A R IE 1,342,080 1,363,676
Less: impairment loss recognised B B ERREEE (1,325,182) (1,234,439
16,898 129,237
Amounts due to subsidiaries JE 11 B /B A B K38 793 1,922

Y ENMBARREREER 28
NARRESRIERE -

Amounts due from/to subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free
and are repayable on demand.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E B RRMTE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZEZE-ZT-_=F+-A=+—HIEFE

44.FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE COMPANY  44.78 A &) K B 75 &

2023 2022
—_E-= —_EFq_-
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FET FETT
Non-current assets EREBEE
Interests in subsidiaries NG OL Ea - -
Interests in associates AL RNEET R OF - e - =
Right-of-use assets EREEE - -
Current assets REEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries & W BT BB~ B FR 1B 16,898 129,237
Other receivables, prepayments HEMEWHIE ENRERES
and deposits 1,035 462
Financial assets at FVTPL BATEFABZZEMEE 3,378 6,905
Bank balances and cash IRITHEHRNIRE 149 155
21,460 136,759
Current liabilities REBEE
Other payables and accruals HEEMNRBEREER 1,127 2,263
Amounts due to subsidiaries NN NGIE ] 793 1,922
Lease liabilities HEAE 871 2,922
2,791 7,107
Net current assets REEEFE 18,669 129,652
Total assets less current liabilities 2 EE R REB & & 18,669 129,652
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Convertible notes AR ES 35 205,938 189,992
Lease liabilities HEAE - 871
205,938 190,863
Net liabilities BEFE (187,269) 61,211)
Capital and reserve BEXK#E
Share capital IR A 37 7,776 7,776
Share premium &= B 2,119,704 2,119,704
Contributed surplus EHR 64,379 64,379
Convertible notes equity reserve MR EEES R 53,452 53,452
Share option reserve R 6,916 6,313
Accumulated losses Z5tEE (2,439,496) (2,312,835)
Total deficit B A4 5t (187,269) 61,211)

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the Board of Directors on 28 March 2024 and are

signed on its behalf by:

Mr. Liu Kequan

BRmRKE
DIRECTOR
EF

REEFERE:

RPESRMERERAF

Mr. Yang Dayong
BABRE
DIRECTOR
EFE

— T —

MBRERDREFEN T _NWFE=H
“TNBRHERRETE YHATAL

TEC=FFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Rk i

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE T - =F+_A=+—HItFE

45.RESERVES 45.f# B
Details of the changes in the Company’'s individual AAHERFEE D BHFEVNEFRNE
components of reserves between the beginning and the end HEEAT
of the year are set out below:
Share  Convertible
Share option notes equity  Contributed Accumulated
premium reserve reserve surplus losses Total
TRREE
ROEE  BRERE B B8RS 2 ER @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAEL TR FAL FAL FHEL FAL
t 1 January 2022 W-E--%-F—-H 2,119,704 4,526 53,452 64,379 (2,004,996) 237,005
Loss and total comprehensive expenses ~ EREER2ER T AT
for the year - - - - (307,839) (307,839)
Recognition of equity-settled share-based  #E 2 I IR E £ &Rk 17
payment expenses XRFERL = 1787 = = = 1787
At 31 December 2022 ZZ-Zf+tZA=+-H 2,119,704 6,313 53,452 64,379 (2,312,835) (68,987)
Loss and total comprehensive expenses  FRABERZAMTEE
for the year - - - - (126,661) (126,661)
Recognition of equity-settled share-based  #E 2 IA IR B £ &R 17
payment expenses S ATHERR - 603 - - - 603
At 31 December 2023 RZBZ=#+ZA=+-H 2,119,704 6,916 53,452 64,379 (2,439,496) (195,045)
Notes: B 5 -
(a) SHARE PREMIUM (@) BMmaE

(b)

()

Share premium represents premium arising from the issue of
shares at a price in excess of their par value. The application
of the share premium accounts is governed by the Bermuda
Companies Act 1981 and the New Bye-Laws of the Company.

SHARE OPTION RESERVE

Share options reserve represents the portion of the grant date
fair value of the unexercised share options of the Company.
CONVERTIBLE NOTES EQUITY RESERVE

The convertible notes equity reserve represents the equity
component (conversion right) of convertible notes issued by the
Company. Items included in convertible notes equity reserve will
not be reclassified to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZEZE-ZT-_=F+-A=+—HIEFE

45.17% 8 ()

45.RESERVES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(d) TRANSLATION RESERVE

Exchange differences relating to the translation of the net
assets of the Group’s operations outside Hong Kong from
their functional currencies to the Group's presentation
currency are recognised directly in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the translation reserve. Such
exchange differences accumulated in the translation reserve are
reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the operations
outside Hong Kong.

REVALUATION RESERVE

The revaluation reserve represents cumulative net change in
the fair value of financial assets at FVTOCI that have been
recognised in other comprehensive income. The amounts will
be reclassified to accumulated losses when those financial
assets are disposed of.

STATUTORY RESERVE

The statutory reserve, which is non-distributable, is appropriated
from the profit after taxation of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries
under the applicable laws and regulations in the PRC.

In accordance with the relevant laws and regulations in
the PRC and Articles of Association of the subsidiaries and
associates incorporated in the PRC these entities are required
to appropriate 10% of the annual statutory net profits, after
offsetting any prior years' losses as determined under the
PRC accounting standards, to the statutory surplus reserve
fund before distributing a dividend. When the balance of the
statutory surplus reserve fund reaches 50% of the share capital
of the PRC subsidiaries and associates, any further appropriation
is at the discretion of shareholders. The statutory surplus
reserve fund can be used to offset prior years' losses, if any, and
may be converted into share capital by issuing new shares to
shareholders in proportion to their existing shareholding or by
increasing the par value of the shares currently held by them,
provided that the remaining balance of the statutory surplus
reserve fund after such issue is no less than 25% of share
capital.

MisE: (&)

(d)

(e)

B 54 e
HARBEENIINETGEEFEREINE
ERBESAKB2NERNEREN £
BEZRNE M2 Wt R RN R
Rt - REAFERINABELZER
HEBBUIINEBEEH D RERE-

B AR

B RERN AR R REATE
HARMSEMNY @ HAEATE 2
HEDFE - YHERSeREES |
SEREETHEERHAA-

RTE R
EERE (B TADIR) THREH BE A
B IOEBIEAE B T B E A R ERT R
i e

R B A B AR B A 2 R OA AR o P B AR R AR
YZWBAR RS AR ZEBERMA
ZEBERERBETESELEIETFE
AEBERDEREAMEAERESF LT
MANI0NEATEHBLABE BEATR
BATESEREDNTREMNBAR KRB Z A
AR AMS0%F MR BITAEREG #
BEBRIMNRA LAERHABESATAR
HEBAEFEEIE (AF) Ml E @R
REEERBHREORTHROKIES
BERSMFBROEEERBRA  HER
ERETRACABATESHBERT D
PRI ZARHI25% ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE-ZT-_=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

46.RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 46.

FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash and non-
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are
those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be,
classified in the Group's consolidated statement of cash flows
as cash flows from financing activities.

MELPELZABEHR

TRFANAKERERADELCABEED
HB ERREMFREEYH -BELD
EXZAERAESRECHARKEARRE
BRAEBGEARERERDIBRABER
PRGHRERENAE-

Lease

Borrowings liabilities Total

(ER=t HEAE et

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FAT FAT FAET

At 1 January 2022 RNR-E-_—_F—HF—H 241,881 16,769 258,650
Financing cash flows BMEREME 57,204 (7,579) 49,625
Unwinding of interests R E - 955 955
New lease entered RINFHEE = 431 431
Lease modification MEER] - 1,601 1,601
Exchange realignment 0E AR (20,000) (624) (20,624)

At 31 December 2022 and R-ZE-_—F+_-_A=+—HXK

1 January 2023 —E-_=—F—H—H 279,085 11,553 290,638
Financing cash flows MERSRE 15,524 (4,306) 11,218
Unwinding of interests FERE - 371 371
Lease termination mIERE - (6,543) (6,543)
Exchange realignment fE 5 (6,907) (157) (7,064)
At 31 December 2023 R_E_=F+-_A=+—H 287,702 918 288,620
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e B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZEZE-ZT-_=F+-A=+—HIEFE

47.CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern
in order to provide returns for equity holders and benefits
for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital
structure to reduce the cost of capital. In order to maintain
or adjust the capital structure, the Group will balance its
overall capital structure through new share issues or bank
borrowings. The Group's overall strategy remains unchanged
throughout the years.

The Group is subject to externally imposed capital
requirements for (i) a subsidiary registered under the
Insurance Companies Ordinance of Hong Kong (the
"ICO") which are subject to the relevant minimum capital
requirement; and (ii) one subsidiary which are regulated
entities under the SFO and subject to the relevant
minimum paid-up share capital and minimum liquid capital
requirements under the Hong Kong Securities and Futures
(Financial Resources) Rules (the “SF(FR)R"). Management
closely monitors, on a daily basis, the capital level of these
entities to ensure compliance with the minimum capital
requirements under the SF(FR)R and ICO.

Particularly for the financial guarantee operation, the Group
monitors regularly the residual balance of outstanding
guarantees for single customers and multiples of the total
outstanding guarantees in relation to net assets and paid-in
capital of the subsidiary in the Group engaging in guarantee
business, so as to keep the capital risk within an acceptable
limit. The decision to manage the net assets and paid-in
capital of the subsidiary in the Group to meet the needs of
developing guarantee business rests with the directors.

The Group has no other material exposure to capital
requirements externally imposed with regard to the Group
other than described above.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s
strategy remained unchanged. The Group monitors capital on
the basis of the gearing ratio. The ratio is calculated as total
borrowings divided by equity attributable to owners of the
Company.

RPESRMERERAF

EARE S IR

AEBEEREANERAREAEEREE
REMBE UBBERE ARMK BRI
FEEHMFOEES RIFERFRENER
BBUREERANAN  REFHNFEENR
Eim ARERBBBITHRMDKRITE
ETHHEBEARE -ZFR AKE
B RS RBE M 55 TN o

AREBAET A TN B EARRE : ()
REFRARE D BED (TR 2 BMEGI])
A —EHRB AR AETHEARKEER
ME: RiNBESFMAEHRIIBEBTITZRE
ERN-—EHBLARARETEEZESLS
E(HHRER)FAA([FEH5MEE (K
BIR)HRAL) TR E SR BA MR
BRBECHRTE BERETHEIERZ
FERBNESKF UHERHFEESF LB
B (MEBRER) BB KRR QRS T 8
REETHRTE -

LERBEEREGM S AKREEHE
RE-ZPHWARIMERKBELEFHELE
EREEREBONBARNEERFERD
BREANARERERAENEZ KM
&R R G XA HE R - B IR
AEENERRNFEEREHETEARN
mEBEREREFOFTRKOREDRNE
=o

B EX Pt E SN NEE Y EE AR A
SEOINEBEINE AR TE R EAREE

BHE_T-_=F+-_A=+—HIEEE"
AEBHNRBTEEEH - KEEREEARN
BRLRETEER -ZRNIREERT
BRAKRRRIEB AN ERTE -

“ECFFR
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE-ZT-_=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

47.CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 47.

The management considers the gearing ratio at the year
ended date is as follows:

BERRRER #®

EEERSNFEANERABLRNT

2023 2022

—E_= —E -

HKS$'000 HK$'000

FET FE&T

Total borrowings BEERR 287,702 279,085
Deficit attributable to owners of NRBER AEGEA

the Company (634,624) (166,349)

Gearing ratio BEXRBELE N/ATRE A N/AZ 3 A

Note:

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the calculation of gearing ratio
is not meaningful as the Group was in capital deficiency position.

Total borrowings represent bank and other borrowings of the Group
as disclosed in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E B RRMTE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZE-ZT-_=F+-_A=+—HIEFE

48.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 48. R0 T A
(a) Categories of financial instruments () €MIADE
2023 —E-=
Financial assets EHMEE
Financial
Financial assets at Financial
assets at amortised assets at
FVTPL cost FVTOCI Total
BAYE
BAYE b EC HPN: Y
FFABEZ  RAIERHN Z2EWEZ
THEE TRMEE THEE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THER TAER THERT FTHER
Equity investments EEREATERA
designated at FVTOC| HE2EKEZ
iR E - - 516 516
Profit guarantee and BARE RSB
incentive payment 189,924 - - 189,924
Early redemption option on 2 F & B A] iR 1%
convertible notes BER 3,378 - - 3,378
Loans and interest FEM B R R F B
receivables - 36,291 - 36,291
Trade and other receivables & Ut Bk 2% &
Hofth & R I - 64,582 - 64,582
Deposits o - 3,134 - 3,134
Pledged bank deposit BHEBRITER - 5,502 - 5,502
Restricted bank deposits X IR BIRITFR - 6,396 - 6,396
Cash and cash equivalents BR&RBEEZEY - 31,985 - 31,985
193,302 147,890 516 341,708
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE-ZT-_=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

48.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 48. 5T B (1)
(a) Categories of financial instruments (Continued) () ERMITEDE(E)
Financial liabilities eHmas

Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost
7§ X
B2 51 B8R
HNEmas
HKS$'000
TET

Trade and other payables and deposits received JRE A~ R 3K K2 LA FE Y RKIE
ARk BEWiZe 94,946
Borrowings BE 287,702
Lease liabilities HEAE 918
Amount due to non-controlling interests e 1T IR i 25 2 SRIE 11,167
Convertible notes AR IR 205,938
600,671
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E B RRMTE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZEZE-ZT-_=F+-A=+—HIEFE
48.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 48. 2R T B (@)
() 2MIAESE (8)

(a) Categories of financial instruments (Continued)

2022 —E -
Financial assets TREE
Financial
Financial assets at Financial
assets at amortised assets at
FVTPL cost FVTOCI Total
BRFE
BATE g e STAEAM
FFABRZ KAYERE 2EREZ
THEE CHEE TREE B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FAT FET FAT
Equity investments EEREATERA
designated at FVTOC| HE2EKEZ
iR E - - 4,938 4,938
Profit guarantee and BARE RSB 2
incentive payment 188,021 - - 188,021
Early redemption option on 2 F & B A] iR 1%
convertible notes BER 6,905 = = 6,905
Loans and interest EBETREFE
receivables - 337,380 - 337,380
Loans to and interest ERT —BIEERER
receivables from a R EWEF B
non-controlling interest - 36,148 - 36,148
Loans to and interest ERT—HBERR
receivables from an K EMEF B
associate - 497 - 497
Trade and other receivables & Ut Bk 2t &
Hofth & R I - 104,612 - 104,612
Deposits ®e - 10,048 - 10,048
Pledged bank deposit DIRHRITER - 5,653 = 5,653
Restricted bank deposits X BRI ERITF R - 14,202 - 14,202
Cash and cash equivalents BR&KBEEEY - 26,280 - 26,280
194,926 534,820 4,938 734,684
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(a) Categories of financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Rk i

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE-ZT-_=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

48.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

48. 2R T B ()
(a) €MIASE (&)
SEmamE

Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost

birg:Eic

P AN 51) BR 9
TRIBE
HK$'000
FET

Trade and other payables and deposits received

Borrowings

Lease liabilities
Amount due to non-controlling interests
Convertible notes

<5 B 20 % A 1 T L
BliRS

BE

FEA SRR HE 25 2R
TR

88,868
279,085
11,553
9,497
189,992

578,995

Greater China Financial Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2023



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZEZE-ZT-_=F+-A=+—HIEFE

48.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks and those activities involve the analysis, evaluation,
acceptance and management of some degree of risk or
combination of risks. Taking risk is core to the financial
business, and the operational risks are an inevitable
consequence of being in business. The Group's aim is
therefore to achieve an appropriate balance between risk
and returns and minimise potential adverse effects on the
Group’s financial performance.

The Group’s risk management policies are designed
to identify and analyse these risks, to set appropriate
risk limits and controls, and to monitor the risks and
adherence to limits. The Group regularly reviews its risk
management policies and procedures to reflect changes
in markets and products.

The Group’s major financial instruments include financial
assets at FVTOCI, profit guarantee and incentive
payment, early redemption option on convertible notes,
loans and interest receivables, loans to and interest
receivables from a non-controlling interest, loans to and
interest receivables from an associate, trade and other
receivables, deposits, pledged bank deposit, restricted
bank deposits, cash and cash equivalents, trade payables,
other payables, borrowings, lease liabilities, amount
due to a non-controlling interest and convertible notes.
Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in the
respective notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include market risk (currency risk, interest
rate risk and equity price risk), credit risk and liquidity
risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set
out below. The management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

48. R T B ()
(b) cRHEBREEEERKE

NEE 2 XBAELZ BT B ER B
EXBE RN G AEREER
I Z &0 [ B s L B 4B & o R HE L B
DEBEBOZL MEERRRE
B ARl R 2 R it AR B
HEFRRER K B2 EeEE T
VTEREREHARNEETHRR 2E

FHEPE-

AN ER [ 5l E Rl B B IR R A SR By
ABER REEERR LR RE
BEE ARERERLEFTE LR
AR - NEEE Hie st 2 AR EE K
REEFFARBRT S MEmEL

AEENFEcRITABERATE
ARt EEREZ SR EE & A
RENMABS RFEDABRER
EERE BRERLFNE -EXT—HA
FERER NERENE ERT—
BB 2 A M R ACEL A B B BR K
MEMBKIE e DEMRTE
FXBRHRTER B MEEFE
WENERREMEMKE R
MERE BN —RIFERED R
AR ERE - AHZFTR T AN
HERHENERE - EZFe T
ERENREREETZRER (E%E
2o MEEREEERR) EERR
FOm )& & B o B E 5% L B9 IR
RENTITX-EEBEENERZT
VB DA R R B B AN B Ui B it S Y
Dk
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE T - =F+_A=+—HItFE

48.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 48. 2@ T E (m)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group's
maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause a
financial loss to the Group due to failure to discharge
an obligation by the counterparties is arising from the
carrying amount of the respective recognised financial
assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

The Group has entered into financial guarantee contracts
in which it has guaranteed the lenders the repayment of
loans entered into by customers of the Group. The Group
has the obligation to compensate lenders for the losses
they would suffer if customers fail to repay.

The Group has taken measures to identify credit risks
arising from financial guarantees issued. The Group
manages credit risk at every stage along the approval
process, including pre-transaction, in-transaction and
post-transaction monitoring processes. The Group
conducts due diligence and evaluates customers by
internal credit assessment system during the pre-approval
process. Financial guarantees issuance is subject to
approval of the management.

During the post-transaction monitoring process, the
Group conducts on-site inspection and ongoing post
transaction reviews focusing on various aspects, including
but not limited to customers’ product markets, operating
income, assets and liabilities, cash flows from operating
activities to detect potential risks. The Group takes
proactive preventive actions based on the risk analysis
and design contingency plans accordingly.

When a certain number of customers undertake the
same business activities, stay in the same geographical
locations, or bear similar economic features for their
industries, their ability to fulfill contracts will be affected
by the same economic changes. Concentration of credit
risk reflects the sensitivity of the Group's operating results
to specific industries or geographical locations. As the
Group mainly operates its financial guarantee businesses
in the PRC, there exists a certain level of geographical
concentration risk for its guarantee portfolios in that
it might be affected by changes in the PRC economic
conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E B RRMTE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZE T - =F+_-_A=+—HILFE
48.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 48. 2R T B ()
(b) cREKREEBEREE (&)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
of the Group has a credit policy in place for the
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and
other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue debts on an ongoing
basis. The Group only extends credit to customers
based on careful evaluation of the customers’ financial
conditions and credit history. In addition, the Group
performs impairment assessment under ECL model at
the end of the reporting period to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made. In this regard, the directors
of the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

Credit evaluations are performed on customers requiring
credit terms. These evaluations focus on the customer’s
past history of making payments and current abilities to
pay and take into account information specific to the
customer as well as to the economic environment.

The Group has a concentration of credit risk as 84%
and 100% (2022: 9% and 40% concentration of credit
risk) of loans and interest receivables from loan financing
business was due from the Group’s largest customer and
the five largest customers respectively as at 31 December
2023. The management is of the view that the allowance
made is adequate taking into account the historical
experience in the collection of loans and interest
receivables from these largest customers.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 26% and
78% (2022: 9% and 34% concentration of credit risk) of
trade receivables from loan financing business was due
from the Group’s largest customer and the five largest
customers respectively as at 31 December 2023.

The credit risk on trade receivables from clearing houses
and brokers in securities brokerage and trade receivables
from product issuers in insurance brokerage service
are considered as insignificant taking into account the
good market reputations and high credit ratings of the
counterparties.

RPESRMERERAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE-ZT-_=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

48.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 48. 2@ T E (m)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The credit risk on pledged bank deposit, restricted
bank deposits and bank balances is limited because the
counterparties are reputable banks located in Hong Kong
and the PRC.

Impairment assessment policies

The Group’s policy requires the review of individual
outstanding amounts regularly depending on individual
circumstances or market conditions.

The management is responsible in developing and
maintaining the processes for measuring ECL, the
impairment requirements under HKFRS 9. The Group
applies simplified approach to measure ECL on trade
receivables (except for secured margin loans); and general
approach to measure ECL on secured margin loans and
other financial assets classified at amortised cost. Under
the simplified approach, the Group measures the loss
allowance at an amount equal to lifetime ECL. Under
the general approach, financial assets migrate through
the following three stages based on the change in credit
risk since initial recognition: Stage 1: 12m ECL, Stage 2:
Lifetime ECL — not credit-impaired and Stage 3: Lifetime
ECL - credit-impaired.

For such financial assets classified as Stages 1 and 2,
the management assesses loss allowances using the
risk parameter modelling approach that incorporates
key parameters, including PD, LGD and EAD. For credit-
impaired financial assets classified as Stage 3, the
management assesses the credit loss allowances by
estimating the future cash flows expected to arise from
the financial assets.

Financial guarantees carry similar credit risk to loans
and the Company takes a similar approach on risk
management.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E B RRMTE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZE T - =F+_-_A=+—HILFE
48.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 48. R T B ()
(b) cREKREEBEREE (&)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Measurement of ECL

The Group conducted an assessment of ECL according
to forward-looking information and used complex
models and assumptions in its expected measurement
of credit losses. These models and assumptions relate
to the future macroeconomic conditions and customer’s
creditworthiness (for example, the likelihood of default
by customers and the corresponding losses). The
Group adopts judgement, assumptions and estimation
techniques in order to measure ECL according to the
requirements of accounting standards such as:

(i) Criteria for judging significant increases in credit risk

The Group assesses whether or not the credit risk
of the relevant financial instruments has increased
significantly since initial recognition at each reporting

AREBEAAELEERETTABE
EEENG HABEEEENE
RERTHEENELLRKENRR
M—J;EZ’W&TE““#&&*XEI’JT&W&%‘

EREEFHERMRR (Flmn- TFE
Z@E’JT’“’IE&*HF‘EH?@) o REENR
TE%/E\J/EE'JEIJEEHMQEEEEE’J

B0 P A BRAR S fh AT flan

() HEEE R R EEE A RE

AEEREREBEAFEHEER
RMIANEERRBNBERR
BEBEEEN-RNEEEERR

date. While determining whether the credit risk BV EREE S S AREIL I
has significantly increased since initial recognition PINES IA%FE THIBER
or not, our Group takes into account reasonable A NEIREEHNEIEER

and substantiated information that is accessible
without exerting unnecessary cost or effort, including
qualitative and quantitative analysis based on the
historical data of the Group, credit rating grade, and
forward-looking information. Based on the single
financial instrument or the combination of financial
instruments with similar characteristics of credit risk,
the Group compares the risk of default of financial
instruments on the reporting date with that on the
initial recognition date in order to figure out the
changes of default risk in the expected lifetime of
financial instruments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Rk i

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE-ZT-_=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

48.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Measurement of ECL (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Criteria for judging significant increases in credit risk
(Continued)

The Group considers a financial instrument to have
experienced a significant increase in credit risk when
one or more of the following quantitative, qualitative
or backstop criteria have been met:

Quantitative criteria: At the reporting date, the
increase in remaining lifetime probability of
default is considered significant comparing with
the one at initial recognition.

Qualitative criteria: Significant adverse change in
debtor’s operation or financial status.

For loans to margin clients and loans receivables,
the number of days past due and loan-to-collateral
value were used to estimate significant increase in
credit risk. Other financial assets at amortised cost
use number of days past due as determinant of credit

risk.

Definition of credit-impaired financial asset

Internal rating of the debtor indicating default or
near-default;

Significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
customer;

The debtor leaves any of the receivables of the
Group overdue for more than 365 days;

It is becoming probable that the customer will
enter bankruptcy or other financial restructuring;

The credit impairment on a financial asset may be
caused by the combined effect of multiple events
and may not be necessarily due to a single event.

48. 2R T B ()
(b) tREREEEERKRE (&)

B R E T ()

SERREEER ()

(i)

(ii)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E B RRMTE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZE T - =F+_-_A=+—HILFE

48.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 48. R T H (#)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) eREMREEEERBE (8)
(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) 15 BE/E b R w E S ()
Measurement of ECL (Continued) FEEHEEER (&)

(i) FFERMEEBHRNZE

(iii) Parameters of ECL measurement

According to whether there is a significant increase
in credit risk and whether there is an impairment of
assets, the Group measures the impairment loss for
different assets with ECL of 12 months or the entire
lifetime respectively. The key measuring parameters of
ECL include probability of default (“PD"), loss given
default (“"LGD") and exposure at default (“EAD"). The
Group takes into account the quantitative analysis
of historical statistics (such as internal rating grade,
manners of guarantees and types of collaterals,
repayments, etc.) and forward-looking information in
order to establish the model of PD, LGD and EAD.

e PD refers to the possibility that the debtor will
not be able to fulfil its obligations of repayment

BREEERBETHEBEEM
Uk EEEBREEERE A5 H
HARMEED A2 Az E
HE R EERBrIEREEE B
HEERENBERTELEERE
BAOBME(TELOBMX]) BHOE
BE([BYEBBEX])MENRR
A ([ZLHRRBO])  AKEE
EZRER LB EE (AT
ERAALBEHRGEN EXHSR
ZVNTEED A RBIEEE R
BYBOBE BOBEERRED
JEL s i 1 AR A o

o EHBMERRBEBAERKI2
BEAXERBRERGFEDR &

over the next 12 months or throughout the entire ERITHEMNEB et
remaining lifetime. For loans to margin clients Efﬁﬁé@ﬁfn&%%%ﬁ?ﬁ
and loans receivable, the Group estimates PD S AKBURITEEFTR
by the internal credit ratings. For other financial i 5138 A1 2 o gt B fh 1% 4 85

assets at amortised cost the PD is adjusted based
on the credit rating of comparable companies
operating in similar businesses.

e LGD refers to the Group's expectation of the
extent of the loss resulting from the default
exposure. Depending on the type of counterparty,
the method and priority of the recourse,
past default experience and the realisation
of collaterals, the LGD varies. The LGD is the
percentage of loss of risk exposure at the time of
default, calculated over the next 12 months or
over the entire remaining lifetime.

e EAD is the amount that the Group should be
reimbursed at the time of the default in the next
12 months or throughout the entire remaining
lifetime.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE T - =F+_A=+—HItFE

48.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 48. 2@ T E (m)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b)
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

TREREERFEREE (&)

=FERER R EG (E)

Measurement of ECL (Continued) TETEHEEEE (B)

(iv) Forward-looking information

The assessment of a significant increase in credit risk
and the calculation of ECL both involve forward-
looking information. Through the analysis of
historical data, the Group identifies the key economic
indicators that affect the credit risk and ECL.

Credit risk exposure

Trade receivables

The Group performs impairment assessment under ECL
model on accounts receivables individually or based on
provision matrix.

The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment
comprises the following categories:

Internal
credit rating Description

R ESE G 1t

(i) AT S R

=B [ e B T I e BY 1 K TR A
T.:EJEETEE’J AEE S RATELESR
Be-AEBEBETELRED
i @A FEEERRKEMIE
EEENEREEER-

JE U BR K

AEBZENEEERENEREES
BRI SRR B AR [ TTRE R

AEBEBIENABEERRERE
AT #E R :

Basis of recognition
of ECL provision

BRAANCEBERBEEE

Grade A The counterparty has a low risk of default and
does not have any past-due amounts

AR REHFEARREAETET(MARSE

Grade B Debtor frequently repays after due dates but

usually settles in full

Bk BEHABRRBHERRET HERFEREE

Grade C There has been significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition through information
developed internally or external resources

Lifetime ECL — not credit-impaired
2HREEBRE - REERE
Lifetime ECL — not credit-impaired
2HEHEERR - RMEERE

Lifetime ECL — not credit-impaired

C#& BRANBREYUSIIIBRIFEZER BT HERE 2HEREEBE-RKEERE
EERERA KR LT

Grade D There is evidence indicating the debtor is credit- Lifetime ECL — credit-impaired
impaired

DA BEBBETREBACEERE PHRBREEBE-CEERE

Grade E There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in Amount is written off

severe financial difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery

E&R EREBRNESABABREME MAKEBE S5MH

W B R IR R R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZEZE-ZT-_=F+-A=+—HIEFE

48.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Credit risk exposure (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

As part of the Group’'s credit risk management, the
Group applies internal credit rating for its customers in
relation to its operation. The following table provides
information about the exposure to credit risk for trade
receivables which are assessed based on provision matrix
within lifetime ECL. Debtors with significant outstanding
balances or credit-impaired with gross carrying amounts
of HK$31,161,000 as at 31 December 2023 (2022:
HK$45,202,000) were assessed individually.

48. R T B ()
(b) tREREEEERKRE (&)

1= B /m R R s EFF G (48)
EEREEHO (&)

FEU AR K (&)

ERAEBEERRKRER — 5
AEEREELBEEACEFERNA
A EEIR - TERERZHPEHREE
5 18 &0 (B (N AR 15 1B R AR P 5T 1 < JE LR
BRRZEERBRMOZER -AEH
EHEEEAREREHILEEE
BEZEBBER(R-_TE_=F+=
A=+—BZ#KHEER31,161,000
BIr) (ZZF = =4 45,202,000/ 7T)
HEITE R FFAE -

2023
—g==
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
RG] S REREE BiEEE
% HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET THET
Grade A Al 0.0 714 -
Grade B BAk 0.2 1,171 1
Grade C C#& N/ATiE A - -
Grade D DA% 95.4 31,161 29,727
2022
—E-=
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TEHIE R X BEREE BB
% HK$'000 HK$'000
T T FHET
Grade A AR 0.0 84 =
Grade B BAk 9.2 8,324 767
Grade C C# N/ATE A - -
Grade D DA% 77.3 45,202 34,933
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(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Credit risk exposure (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of the
debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort. The
grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure
relevant information about specific debtors is updated.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
provided HK$17,870,000 (2022: HK$30,179,000)
impairment loss for trade receivables, based on
the provision matrix. Impairment allowance of
HK$17,870,000 (2022: HK$29,413,000) was made on
debtors with significant balances and credit-impaired
debtors.
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48.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 48. R T B ()

(b) EREREERFERBE (&)

1= B /R R s EFF G (48)

EEREEHO (&)

FEU AR K ()

BMABREDRBEEABREGHZE
HI R IR BRI 2 TR AT F Hi T X3t
BEELBE 2 KA E HBNA BUF
ZHAEEERMELRAE - DB ERE
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HE-_Z-_=F+-_A=+—HILHF
€ N5 B AR 5 5 RSB Tt e U BR K
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30,179,000/ ) 2 BB E B EEE - 5L
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E B RRMTE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZEZE-ZT-_=F+-A=+—HIEFE

48.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 48. 2R T A ()
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) TRIAEEBEZERBEK (B)
(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) 1EEE R R EF S (8)
Credit risk exposure (Continued) EEmE O (&)
Trade receivables (Continued) FEWAR X (8B)
The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL TRIRRIR b 7775 B 8 Y AR SR
that has been recognised for trade receivables under the RZEHFEREEEBEE -
simplified approach.
Lifetime ECL Lifetime
(Non-credit ECL (credit
impaired) impaired) Total

2R 2HRS
FEER FEER

(REERE) (BEEERE) st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
As at 1 January 2022 R-B-—%—F—R 537 39,838 40,375
Changes in financial instruments R-ZZ=-=—F—H—H
recognised as at 1 January 2022: HBRZE&MITAZEH:
— Transfer to credit-impaired —EREEERE (495) 495 -
— Impairment losses, net of —REBE (kK
reversal recognised B E) 766 29,413 30,179
Write-offs i 4 - (31,688) (31,688)
Exchange realignment BEE 3, 8 B (41) (3,125) (3,166)
As at 31 December 2022 and i
1 January 2023 +ZA=+—-BXK
—E-=%—H—H 767 34,933 35,700
Changes in financial instruments RZZE-Z=%—H—H
recognised as at 1 January 2023: HBRZE&MITAEEH:
— Transfer to credit-impaired —ERFEERE (740) 740 -
— Impairment losses, net of —REEE (kR
reversal recognised B R ) - 17,870 17,870
Write-offs 4 - (22,882) (22,882)
Exchange realignment BEE 3, 8 B (26) (934) (960)
As at 31 December 2023 R-T-=4F
+=ZA=+—~H 1 29,727 29,728
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE T - =F+_A=+—HItFE

48.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Credit risk exposure (Continued)

Loans and interest receivables

The Group performs impairment assessment under ECL
model on loans and interest receivables individually.

The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment
comprises the following categories:

48. 2R T B ()
(b) < &= Bax

EERBEREE (&)

fJG

=B ERRBE G (8)
EEREEHO (&)

W E K& KB
AEBRETEHEEEERR HEIK
ERAFEERETREFNG-

5 87 B0 AT £ ) PO 2 LR 2 9
TSI

Internal Basis of recognition

credit rating Description of ECL provision

A EB1E B RTAR it BARHEERERBEE
Stage 1 There has not been a significant increase in credit  12m ECL

risk since initial recognition and that are not

credit-impaired upon origination.
B L ERENEERR
Ry 3 S SR E BN o

E1REER

e WEBERMARES 2EAREAREEER-—KREER

B

Lifetime ECL — not credit-impaired

2HEHEEEE - KR EERE

Lifetime ECL — credit-impaired

RANE 2HBEHEEBRE-CEERE

Amount is written off

Stage 2 There has been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition but are not credit-
impaired.

F2MEER B HAENEERRBZEEZEIN KL EEE
B HY B ©

Stage 3 There have been one or more events that have
a detrimental impact on the estimated future
cashflows of that asset have occurred.

F3PEER SRR EEMARKECRES
M —ARZEE M-

Stage 4 There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in
severe financial difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery.

FARE R BiLBERREBEABABRENMFERE MAE

[ B R R [B] ) AT BE 1 ©

The directors of the Company estimate the estimated loss
rates based on historical observed default rates over the
expected life of the debtors and are adjusted for forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost
or effort as well as the fair value of the collateral pledged
by the customers to the loans and interest receivables.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
provided impairment loss of HK$309,000,000 (2022:
HK$10,130,000) for loans and interest receivables.

Greater China Financial Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2023

& BRI 5N

KRB EEZRBEERKERBHFHA
BRIMELEZNERHGHTEEERE
TTTEu‘l' W BEILEE TV EKAL

E R ESHAIEEERARETR
ME% A RF B EERMEE R A
FEELFHRE-

HE_T_=%+_-_A=+—81
FE -AEEREREREFEFIE
R 1B /5 18 # #8309,000,000/8 7T ( =&
—Z%:10,130,0005 7T °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZEZE-ZT-_=F+-A=+—HIEFE

48.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Credit risk exposure (Continued)

Loans and interest receivables (Continued)

The following table shows the exposure of ECL for loans

and interest receivables under the general approach:

48. R T B ()
(b) tREREEEERKRE (&)

1= B /m R R s EFF G (48)
EEREEHO (&)
R ERLFE (&)

TRINTRE BRI ERERETR K
NEZEHEEBERA

2023
—E-=

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

EI1RE SE2RE B E3RE et

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FERT TER FER FTERT

Loans and interest receivables & & 7 & 7 & - 454 554,653 555,107

Less: Impairment allowance R E RS - (5) 518,811 (518,816)
Loans and interest receivables, EWE R EFE -

net of impairment allowance ¥R Jal 1B B - 449 35,842 36,291

2022
—E-CF

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

F1REE F2REER FEIRER et

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAET FAET FET

Loans and interest receivables  JEUE 2 N F & 193,054 68,514 291,425 552,993

Less: Impairment allowance R E R (2,221) (4,271) (209,121) (215,613)
Loans and interest receivables, & Wt & 2 & Fl &, -

net of impairment allowance B o B B 5 190,833 64,243 82,304 337,380
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(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Credit risk exposure (Continued)

Other receivables and deposits

For other receivables and deposits, the management
makes periodic individual assessment on the
recoverability of other receivables and deposits based
on historical settlement records, past experience, and
also quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportive forward-looking information.
The management believes that other receivables and
deposits, other than default payment receivables, have no
significant increase in credit risk of these amounts since
initial recognition and the Group provided impairment
based on 12m ECL. Default payment receivables related
to customers or other parties that in financial difficulties,
the management assessed that the receivables are not
expected to be fully recovered and were determined to
be stage 3 lifetime ECL credit-impaired.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
assessed the ECL for other receivables and deposits,
an impairment loss of HK$38,454,000 (2022:
HK$90,125,000) was recognised in the profit or loss.

Loans and interest receivables to a non-controlling
interest and an associate

During the year, there is indicator significantly increases
the uncertainty of recoverability for the loans to and
interest receivables from this non-controlling interest.
In view of these circumstances, the directors have given
careful consideration and performed assessment on
the future recoverability of the loans to and interest
receivables from this non-controlling interest. The Group
has made impairment allowances of HK$170,695,000 in
total as at 31 December 2023 (2022: HK$117,594,000).

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
assessed the ECL for loans to and interest receivables
from a non-controlling interest, an impairment loss of
HK$41,105,000 (2022: HK$117,501,000) was recognised
in the profit or loss.
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(b) EREREERFERBE (&)

=B ERRBE G (8)
EEREEHO (&)
H R WA R ik &

MEMEKRZEREEME %IE
KEBTEELH BALRNATE
&E'I&éﬁﬂ(EﬂAﬁ&ﬁﬁTfﬁzHﬂﬁ
AIEMEERL) ’E,HH%TEIJ*MEH&Z#AIE&
BEErr e EETEBFEGEE
EBRE  HiEkskia ki é—a(ﬂﬂzﬁ.ﬁ
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BRI EAEIE N i AEEIRE
12E A FEHEEREIRAE pH
Bﬁ)\ﬁﬂ“léﬁm%ﬁﬁiﬁmﬁﬁ%m
EWEHNNRME ERETET%RE
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ZERWHIAAFIRE 2 BEE
EFBE-BBEEERE-

HE_ZT_=—"F+-_A=+—HL
FE - ANEEFGEMEWFIE R IR
CWBEHEERE RNEBEZERRE
[E51838,454,0008 T (T = —F:
90,125,000/ 7T ) °

ERTAFFERELS kAR R
7 A % e W EL ) B

FR-BPRETWE R ZIBIEZR
ERRHMNERREREF S AT E
FEMHERBEMN -ERNEBEBRL EFC
HIEEBE LT EMZIBEIEERERR
fH#) B R M FE WCH R B /9 SR 2R A Y [
MR —_BE-_=F+_-_A=+—H &
B IRBRERES £170,695,000%
T (ZEZ—%:117,594,000/87T) °

HE_T-_=F+-_A=+—HL#HF
B AEEFHERT —BIETRE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZE T - =F+_-_A=+—HILFE

48.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Credit risk exposure (Continued)

Loans to and interest receivables from an associate

The Group regularly monitors the business performance
of the associates. The Group’s credit risks in these
balances are mitigated through the value of the assets
held by these entities and the power to participate the
relevant activities of these entities. The management
believes that there are no significant increase in credit risk
of these amounts since initial recognition and the Group
provided impairment based on 12 months expected
losses method.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
assessed the ECL for loans to and interest receivables
from an associate, a reversal of impairment loss of
HK$436,000 (2022: HK$18,000) was recognised in the
profit or loss.

Other financial assets

Other financial assets at amortised cost include bank
balances, restricted bank deposit and pledged bank
deposit. The Group accounts for its credit risk by
appropriately providing for expected losses on a timely
basis. In calculating the expected loss rates, the Group
considers historical loss rates for each category of
other financial assets and adjusts for forward looking
macroeconomic data.

At 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group assessed
that the expected credit loss rate is immaterial under
12 months expected losses method. Thus, no loss
allowance for other financial assets at amortised cost was
recognised.

48. 2R T B ()
(b) crtEREEEERBEK (£)

=B ER KB E G (8)
EEREEHO (&)

RPESRMERERAF

ST RS R RIA R EWE R B

ANEETFEHERBEARNRBERE -
AEBERZEERNEERRE BZ
%E%%ﬁ%é?ﬁ@&@ﬁ&ﬁa

BHREALIHNENTARE - EEE
pﬁ%%%ﬁﬁﬁﬂ*ﬁ AR
5 E b 3 AR 0 AR B AR
1218 AR HIB AT RRR(E -

HE-_T-_=F+-_A=+—HLHF
B - AEEFHERT —MHBE QA
UEEREFENTEHREESE ©®
18 & TE 3R % (B /&5 18 % [0 436,000/%8 7T
(ZZE-Z4:18,000/87T) °

Hit o & E

BB ERAH RO R BEAEDR

BTSH SRHERS TR
RI1% R KR BEE R0 B E A

AR 2 PR 1S B

RE BT AR R M

1.5t 5 Aty © B & 2 4038 1k 5 A

1R 1 B B A A BB 3B -

RZE_=FR_FE-_—_F+=H
=+—HB -AEEREI12E A EFE
BA A GEREEBEERY TEKR-
Eiy WEERIZEEN AT ENE
themEERNBBRE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE T - =F+_A=+—HItFE

48.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Credit risk exposure (Continued)

Financial guarantee issued

At 31 December 2023, the total maximum amount
of financial guarantee issued was HK$502,961,000
(2022: HK$1,135,245,000). After considering the
deposits received from guarantee customers of
amount HK$6,056,000 (2022: HK$8,604,000), the
maximum exposure to credit risk in respect of the
financial guarantees issued and outstanding amounted
to HK$496,905,000 as at 31 December 2023 (2022:
HK$1,126,641,000).

Market risk

(i) _Currency risk

The Group is not exposed to significant foreign
currency risk as most of its monetary assets
and monetary liabilities are denominated in the
functional currency of the individual group entity.
The management is of the opinion that the Group’s
exposure to foreign currency risk is minimal.
Accordingly, no foreign exchange risk sensitivity
analysis is presented. The significant balance carried
in the translation reserve account is occasioned by
the translation of the financial statements of the
Group’s subsidiaries into the presentation currency of
the consolidated financial statements of the Group at
each reporting date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E B RRMTE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZE T - =F+_-_A=+—HILFE
48.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 48. 2R T B ()
(b) cREKREEBEREE (&)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued) g E R (&)

(i) _Interest rate risk e

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk
in relation to borrowings, lease liabilities, convertible
notes and loans receivables. The Group is also
exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation
to receivables from variable-rate cash and margin
clients, restricted bank deposits and bank balances.

The Group currently does not use any derivative
contracts to hedge its exposure to fair value interest
rate risk and cash flow interest rate risk. However,
the management will consider hedging significant
interest rate exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for non-
derivative financial instruments at the end of the
reporting period. The analysis is prepared assuming
that the financial instruments outstanding at the
end of the reporting period were outstanding for
the whole year. A 100 basis points (2022: 100 basis
points) increase or decrease is used when reporting

AEEREE HEAE TERRK
F&f%% X A A S EF
o AKBNABAENEKIRS
&&%@%ﬁmﬁwﬂ X PR
THERKRBITA %W%Tﬁi
= EE g o

Zli'i BB AL EERTRAITET
AEQMEmEAENRFEMNE
ﬂﬁ/\/\&fﬁlil/lbgiﬁJrﬂﬁﬁAO%ﬁﬁ ’
EEERNUEREREFEKR
JESE

BREDW

TXHBRESTIIERIENTE
ERMTENREHRAENF X

[2\ B T B 7€ o 9 W7 JH R AR AR ¥ 5 HA
meﬁfm BMTAREESF
ErREEMRE MEEEEE
A B A B RE F 2 @ e B 58 100
HE (T _F 10088 £
AR TR HAEBEEHIERES

interest rate risk internally to key management B M MA X EH
personnel and represents management'’s assessment TPRE100EE (ZTEZZF: 100&

of the reasonably possible changes in interest rates.
If interest rates had been 100 basis points (2022:
100 basis points) higher/lower and all other variables
were held constant, the net effect of Group’s post
tax loss for the year ended 31 December 2023
would decrease/increase by HK$1,705,000 (2022:
HK$1,934,000).

) MATAEM e s e,
BIAEBREE T -_=F1+=
A=+ BILEENKRBEZEIR
B F 28R 43 51,705,000
BT (ZZT = —4:1,934,000/8
JL) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE T - =F+_A=+—HItFE

48.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(iif)_Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through
its investments in listed equity securities which are
classified as financial assets at FVTOCI. The fair value
of these financial instruments will be affected either
positively or negatively, amongst others, by the
changes in the closing market prices of the relevant
listed equity securities. The Group’s listed investments
are listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong.
Listed investments held in the portfolio have been
chosen based on their longer term growth potential
and are monitored regularly for performance against
expectations. The management manages this risk
exposure by maintaining a portfolio of investments
with different risk and return profiles and will
consider hedging the risk exposure should the need
arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis has been determined based on
the exposure to equity price risks at the end of the
reporting period. If the prices of the respective equity
instruments had been 10% (2022: 10%) higher/
lower, and held other variables constant, the other
component of equity of the Group would increase/
decrease by HK$43,000 (2022: HK$412,000), as a
result of changes in the fair value of listed equity
securities.

The sensitivity analysis has been determined by
assuming that the price change had occurred at the
reporting date and has been applied to the Group's
investments at that date. In the management’s
opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of
the inherent price risk as the exposure at the end of
the reporting period does not reflect the exposure
during the year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZEZE-ZT-_=F+-A=+—HIEFE

48.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)
Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management, including
the raising of loans to cover expected cash demands, and
to ensure compliance with SF(FR)R. In the management
of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains
a level of cash and cash equivalents and credit facilities
deemed adequate by the management to finance
the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of
fluctuations in cash flows.

The Group's policy is to regularly monitors the current
and expected liquidity requirements and its compliance
with lending covenants regularly to ensure sufficient
working capital are maintained and adequate committed
lines of funding from reputable financial institutions meet
its liquidity requirement.

The table below analyses the Group’s non-derivative
financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based
on the remaining period at the reporting date to the
contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the
table below are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

Liquidity table
As at 31 December 2023

48. %
(b)

BT B (@)
tREAREEEERKE (&)
RBE AR
AEENENCLAEEEESEAYE
SEE DESEERUENBESRE
SEE UREGABLERDE (MK

BR)RA-REERBDE 2 R
AEBERNERFREMNASFEY
AREEREBEENREEERRTR
K UBENAEBENEEEE R
BRERSRERDNTE

=

AEBZBRREHRERRE LIEH

MBELFTRMEEEETHRE
MBRE EMBRER T CEEER
TEREBRFZEREBESTR
ZEeXR NENERBESZFEK-

TRERBEAMESHIHMBENE
HHRSARENETESRAER
BRERABMARETI TRH

1173

BENEBEASANARTRARERE

AN

325 & 2
L K72

R-E-_=%+=-A=+—H

Weighted
average  Ondemand More Total
effective  or less than 1-3 3 months 1 year to than undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 month months to 1 year 2 years 2 years cash flows amount
MEFH RERY AFRRE
BBRRE  SR-fE8 -2 =BAE-& -EEmMF BEAWF MEARE BREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TR TR TR TER TER TERT
Non-derivative financial ~ £ 2 BMEE
liabilities
Trade and other payables  FE{TBR TR R E M fEfT
and deposits received HEREYERS - 54,535 2,084 7,533 - = 64,152 64,152
Borrowings - fixed rate BE-EL 7.90% 40,283 17,162 89,015 129,133 40,117 315,710 287,702
Lease liabilities HEAR 6.30% 263 528 137 - - 928 918
Amount due to R 3EERER
non-controlling interests - 11,167 - - - - 11,167 11,167
Convertible notes THRERE 8.22% - - - 234,000 - 234,000 205,938
106,248 19,774 96,685 363,133 40,117 625,957 569,877
Guarantees issued BHEENER
Maximum amount RRERRE
guaranteed - 434,259 2,092 52,419 14,191 - 502,961 502,961
RPESHERERAA | —T_=FFK
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Rk i

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE-ZT-_=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

. AN T =
48.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 48. Rt T H (\)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) cREKREEBEEREE (&)
(Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) BB R (8)
Liquidity table (Continued) B EZFx ()
As at 31 December 2022 RZFEZZF+H=+—H
Weighted
average On demand More Total
effective or less than 1-3 3 months 1 year to than  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 month months to 1 year 2 years 2 years cash flows amount
IEFS rESE ARRSE
ERA=E SRR -2l ZEAZE-F —FEMF BAMF mELE HEHE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT TER FTER FET THER FHEL FHEL

Non-derivative financial {74 2RMEE

liabilities
Trade and other payables  FET BRI R E M FEf

and deposits received RERBKES - 53,820 2,240 15,267 - - 71,327 71,327
Borrowings - fixed rate BE-TE 7.24% 1,652 3,132 95,514 183,365 17,321 300,984 279,085
Lease liabilities HEAR 6.59% 649 1,174 5,606 2,355 2,845 12,629 11,553
Amount due to ERFEERER

non-controlling interests - 9,497 - - - - 9,497 9,497
Convertible notes BE:3 &3 8.22% - - - - 234,000 234,000 189,992

65,618 6,546 116,387 185,720 254,166 628,437 561,454

Guarantees issued BEHNER
Maximum amount BRERRE

guaranteed - 352,774 51,762 729,744 811 154 1,135,245 1,135,245
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E B RRMTE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZEZE-ZT-_=F+-A=+—HIEFE

49.FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT 49. N {EET=

(i) Fair values of financial assets that are measured at (i) AREMHEERATEFENESHME
fair value on a recurring basis ENAFEE

REBIHDEMEER S RE YRR
RFEFE- TREHRUMNEEXF
TREEZATFENEHN (LHERRK
A ERM R EARE) -

Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period. The following
table gives information about how the fair values of
these financial assets are determined (in particular, the
valuation technique(s) and inputs used).

Fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2023 RZBZ=ZHF+ZA=+—-HWA¥
BEER
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
B8R et} BE=R st
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TERT TERT

Financial assets THMEE
Financial assets at FVTOCI: BAFEFAEMEE
Wz emEE:
— Listed equity securities (note a) — E MR AZEH (fizFa) 516 - - 516
Financial assets at FVTPL: BRATEFAERZZ
EREE:
— Profit guarantee and incentive  — i FI{R 7%}
payment (note b) HME® (FHEEb) - - 189,924 189,924
— Early redemption optionon  — iR RIE L AR Z i
convertible notes (note c) EERE (M) - - 3,378 3,378
Total HBET 516 - 193,302 193,818
Fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2022 R-ZE__F+A=+—HHRF
BHER
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£ FR EF=/ st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
Financial assets cHEE
Financial assets at FVTOCI: BATEFAEMEE
Wz eMEE:
— Listed equity securities (note a) — E MR AEH (MizFa) 4,938 - - 4,938
Financial assets at FVTPL: BATEFAERZZ
EREE:
— Profit guarantee and incentive  — i FI{R 7%}
payment (note b) HMEE (PHEEb) - = 188,021 188,021
— Early redemption optionon  — iR RIE LI A2 R Z &
convertible notes (note ) BB (MIsEc) - = 6,905 6,905
Total HBET 4,938 - 194,926 199,864
APELBMERERAAF | —T=FFK
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Rk i

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE-ZT-_=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

49.FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continued)

(i) Fair values of financial assets that are measured at
fair value on a recurring basis (Continued)

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022,
there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or
transfers into or out of Level 3.

The Group's policy is to recognise transfers between
levels of fair value hierarchy as at the end of the reporting
period in which they occur.

Notes:

(a)

The valuation techniques and key inputs used of the listed
equity securities, classified as the financial assets at FVTOCI,
for Level 1 fair value measurement are quoted bid prices in
an active market.

The fair value of the profit guarantee and incentive
payment relating to the acquisition of Xin Yunlian Group
is based on the valuations performed by an independent
professional valuer, using a Monte Carlo simulation, which
are reviewed by and approved by the directors of the
Company.

As the guaranteed profits covers a period of more than
one year, there are more interactions to be assessed for the
results. Monte Carlo simulation is therefore adopted as the
simulation that produces distribution of possible outcome
values. By assuming probability distributions, variables can
have different probabilities of different outcomes occurring.
Probability distributions are a much more realistic way of
describing uncertainty in variables of the result.

A decrease in the probability of fulfilment of guaranteed
profits would result in an increase in the fair value
measurement of profit guarantee and incentive payment
and a decrease in discount rate would result in an increase
in the fair value measurement of profit guarantee and
incentive payment, and vice versa.

The variables and assumptions used in computing the fair
value of the profit guarantee and incentive payment are
based on the management’s best estimates. The value of
the profit guarantee and incentive payment varies with
different variables of certain subjective assumptions.

49. N FEETE ()

() AREMEERAFEFAENSHME
ENQFE(E)

B ZE- =K -_Z- "+ A
Tt HItFE TERE—RESF
“HREER NEEASENE =

AREBZBRBNEMBELE 2 HREH
RERAFESRE2ES -

GEE

(a)
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B BB RE 3T B 5 18 A )i B R 7B KoK
BN R FEDREBIEXGER
RARKRERBAETHEBENE
WA RREEERHN ML -

MM ERERER —FHE 8A
HAEEERGUERER-ZERE
BHROZERRERIEFSHBEZ DM
B ER 4 o 3B BB R 0 4 - HE B
HBRELETRGERZBMER - ED M
RERER D ERAEREHZ THE
EME

$Z BUE ) OR 38 1 7T BE 1 BE 1K 8 BUR
MERZBLRABEO X FEFEEZME
PR KRR KB BRFRER BB
MR EERM R2TFR-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZE T - =F+_-_A=+—HILFE

49.FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continued)

(i) Fair values of financial assets that are measured at
fair value on a recurring basis (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b) (Continued)

The key inputs used of financial assets at FVTPL — profit
guarantee and incentive payment in relation to the
acquisition of the Xin Yunlian Group for the Level 3 fair
value measurement at the end of reporting period are as
follows:

Significant unobservable inputs

49. N FEETE (1)

() AREMEERAFEFAENSEME
ENATE(E)
BisE: (48)
(b) (%)
RBEAR RE=ZRIFEFTEM
SHEBNBEHEREENR O FER

ABRZEREE—SHNRBRID
AT ZHASENT:

2023 Range 2022 Range

FERTEHERAZE —E_-FEHE T __—FHE
Volatility V] 80.74% 59.42%
Discount rate PR =X 13.23% 14.80%

Due to the variety of basis of determination used in the
profit forecast of Xin Yunlian Group, it is not practicable to
provide any meaningful sensitivity in relation to the critical
assumptions concerning future profitability of the acquired
business and the potential impact on the fair value changes
on financial assets at FVTPL — profit guarantee and incentive
payments at the end of the reporting period.

The fair value of redemption option on convertible notes
of HK$3,378,000 (2022: HK$6,905,000) is based on the
valuation performed by an independent professional valuer,
using Crank-Nicolson finite-difference method, which are
reviewed and approved by the directors of the Company.

An increase in risk-free rate would result in decrease in
fair value measurement of early redemption option on
convertible notes, vice versa. An increase in volatility
would result in increase in fair value measurement of early
redemption option on convertible notes, vice versa.

An increase in discount rate would result in a decrease
in fair value measurement of early redemption option on
convertible notes, and vice versa.

HRARHFEMEERNBANET
EMEBATR BAKAER RS H
i%ﬁﬁa%%%ﬁZ*X”ﬂA
REAFEFABRZEREE-
NRBLABERAFERESH 2EEY
EMEﬁﬁmﬁﬁﬁEHﬂf%%ﬂ
REM -

(¢ HE B A] # MR = % & %%%E’J I
f£3,378 ooo/%yz( T _F:
6,905,000/ 7T ) o 1R #5 %8 ﬁ%ﬁfﬁ
B {& B Crank- N|co|son7ﬁﬁﬁﬁ Dok i
T WEARARESEZH R ENE
BET-

ERBMNE LA HEHRREFED A
BEBEEENAFEAERS K
ZMARREIEMGEHRIRFED A
BIREREEEO QN FEEEM
RZ IR
FRXEEFAFEBIRFEQ AT BRAR

BEEENQFEAERD R2TF

RAESHMERBRIF | — T _=FF%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE-ZT-_=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

49.FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continued)

(i) Fair values of financial assets that are measured at
fair value on a recurring basis (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)
(c) (Continued)

The significant unobservable input in relation to early
redemption option on convertible notes for the level 3 fair
value measurement at the end of reporting period are as

49. N FEETE ()

() AREMEERAFEFAENSHME
ENQFE(E)

BisE: (48)
© (&
RBEAR RE=ZRIFEFTEM

FERREBREAAKRERERED
TEFABEGABEBOT

follows:

Significant unobservable inputs 2023 Range 2022 Range
FEFTERRARE “EC=FEHE —T-__FHE
Volatility V] 47.90% 34.29%
Risk-free rate IR 4.48% 4.31%

(ii) Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements

(i) E=MLFEFTEZHEK

Financial assets at FVTPL

BOFEFA
BRvEeMEE
- Profit - Early
guarantee  redemption
and option on
incentive  convertible
payment notes Total
-RERO
-HARE TRRER
kBB BER st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TR FET
At 1 January 2022 R-ZE-_—F—HA—H 144,513 16,025 160,538
Change in fair value RiEEBEANATE
recognised in profit or loss 2% 43,508 (9,120) 34,388
At 31 December 2022 R-ZBE-_—_F+-A=+—H 188,021 6,905 194,926
Change in fair value RNEEERNAFE
recognised in profit or loss BE) 1,903 (3,527) (1,624)
At 31 December 2023 R_EB_=%F+_A=+—H 189,924 3,378 193,302
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZEZE-ZT-_=F+-A=+—HIEFE

49.FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continued)

(iii) Fair value of financial assets and liabilities carried at
other than fair value

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities
recorded at amortised cost are not materially different
from their fair value as at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

50.CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group and the
Company did not have any significant capital commitments.

51.GUARANTEE ISSUED

At 31 December 2023, the total maximum amount
of financial guarantees issued was RMB457,113,000
(approximately HK$502,961,000) (2022: RMB1,004,020,000
(approximately HK$1,135,245,000)). The total maximum
amount of financial guarantees issued represents the
maximum potential loss amount that would be recognised if
counterparties failed completely to perform as contracted.

52.CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The Group had no significant contingent assets or liabilities as
at 31 December 2023 and 2022 other than those described
in note 51 to the consolidated financial statements.

53.EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There is no significant event affecting the Company that have
occurred since the end of the reporting period.

54.COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform
to the current period presentation.

RPESRMERERAF

49. N FEETE (1)

(i) ELH LA A FEIIEN S MEER S M®
> AVE

KAREERE HEHEKNATEZ
cREEMeHBENRERAEBEHEE
RZE_=ZFR-_ZE-__F+=H
—t+—HBNAFETEERER-

B A

R _=FR_F-_—_F+_A=+—
B AEB KARQ R E T[] EKE AR
e

£ LR

RZEZ_=F+-A=+—HB 2% Ha
BEREEBE A AR®A57,113,0007T
(#9502,961,000%8 L) (ZETEZ—_F: A
X #1,004,020,0007T (491,135,245,0007%
T0) ) BEEBMEERESLBAMYEF
FREABOBTHRRNERNELEES

50.

51.

IABEENEBE

BRARA VM EHRERM AT EIIN R 2F
TEERZIFEZFFTZA=F—H'RK
SEYESEANREEXAE-
WE R EIE

BREHERARL BELEERPZERR
AINEARERE-

52.

53.

54. LB E
2 FUBRTEE RSB GA ABHE
250

“ECFFR
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

B IS

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZE—-Z —

=F+A=+—HIEFE

Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended
31.12.2023 31.12.2022 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 31.12.2019
—E-=% —E-—F —E-— bk e = T-NEF
+=f=+-B +-A=+-B +=-A=+-B +=-A=+-B +-A=t+-H
LEE HEE HEE HFE EFE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TR TR THIT THIT
RESULTS £
Revenue N 49,410 201,951 284,867 392,320 151,005
Cost of sales HEKA (12,465) (107,680) (122,441) (279,008) (62,402)
Gross profit EH 36,945 94,271 162,426 113,312 88,603
Other income, gains and losses Hip A s RIE#E 63,984 75,491 163,848 37,544 (39,028)
Administrative and other THREMEERY
operating expenses (69,187) (86,979) (109,561) (126,060) (141,642)
Share-based payment expenses AR 3 (S BRAY (603) (1,787) (4,599) (13) =
Provision for financial guarantees ~ BE & ER B (50,177) (70,516) (120,977) (122,544) (84,120)
Finance costs R A (37,234) (35,816) (29,244) (14,226) (8,232)
Impairment loss, net of reversal AEERE (MEREE) (406,222) (239,236) (176,049) (147,323) (18,384)
Impairment loss on goodwil HEZREER (110,070) (117,963) (98,549) (32,722) (111,257)
Impairment loss on intangible asset & & E 2 REEE - = = (1,618) (5,722)
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets f F £ & & 2 i EE#E - (426) (12,981) (7,607) =
Loss before tax BT A B8 (572,564) (382,961) (225,686) (301,257) (217,278)
Income tax (expenses) credit FEH (R ER (42,661) (14,961) 23,925 (21,021) 10,883
Loss for the year from continuing R BB ELL EHH
operations FREE (615,225) (397,925) (201,761) (322,278) (20,395)
Attributable to; AT AT
Owners of the Company ARREBA (472,487) (326,213) (202,592) (335,628) (206,395)
Non-continuing operations BB ER (142,738) (71,712) 831 13,350 =
(615,225) (397,925) (201,761) (322,278) (206,395)
31.12.2023 31.12.2022 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 31.12.2019
—E-=& —E-CfF —E--F B S 33 T-NE
+=A=+-B +z=ZA=+-HB +z=ZA=+-B +=ZA=+-B +=ZA=1+-H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FiET FEL THL THL
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERAR
Total assets BEE 47,127 975,248 1,300,600 1,286,657 786,027
Total liabilities BERE (1,068,894) (1,010,759) (933,457) (724,233) (334,290)
Non-controlling interests R ER 17,143 (130,838) (218,943) (213,747) =
(Deficit) equity attributable to owners KA R B A A
of the Company e (B4 = (634,624) (166,349) 148,200 348,677 451,737
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